
Principal Scrutiny Advisor: 
Rebecca Atherton 

0113 37 88642 
 

 

Public Document Pack 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING & COMMUNITIES) 
CONSULTATIVE MEETING 

 

 
Consultative Meeting to be held remotely* on 

Thursday 17 June at 10.30am 
 

There will be a pre-meet for all Board members at 10.00am. 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

Cllr J Akhtar     – Little London and Woodhouse 
Cllr B Anderson (Chair)  – Adel and Wharfedale 
Cllr A Blackburn    – Farnley and Wortley 
Cllr K Brooks    – Little London and Woodhouse 
Cllr R Charlwood     – Moortown 
Cllr D Collins    – Horsforth 
Cllr M Dobson    – Garforth and Swillington 
Cllr R Finnigan    – Morley North 
Cllr A Gabriel    – Beeston and Holbeck 
Cllr P Grahame    – Cross Gates and Whinmoor 
Cllr C Howley    – Weetwood 
Cllr M Midgley    – Kippax and Methley 
Cllr D Ragan    – Burnmantofts and Richmond Hill 
Cllr K Ritchie    – Bramley and Stanningley 
Cllr T Smith     – Pudsey 

 
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the ‘To View 
Meeting’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of the meeting. 
The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting. 
 

210617 Consultative Meeting: Environment, Housing & Communities Scrutiny Board 

 
 
*This is being held as a remote ‘consultative’ meeting. While the meeting will be webcast live to enable public access, it 

is not being held as a public meeting in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1184&MId=11550


 
B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary or other interests for the purposes of 
Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 and 
paragraphs 13-16 of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 
 

 

2   
 

  MINUTES - 25 MARCH 2021 
 
To note for information the draft minutes of the 
Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny 
Board meeting held on 31 March 2021.  
 

5 - 10 

3   
 

  SCRUTINY BOARDS TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To consider a report from the Head of Democratic 
Services presenting the Scrutiny Board’s Terms of 
Reference. 
 

11 - 
30 

4   
 

  PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
 
To consider the report of the Director of Resources 
and Housing and the Director of Communities and 
Environment, which presents a summary of 
2020/21 performance data and provides an update 
on progress in delivering the relevant priorities in 
the Best Council Plan. 
 

31 - 
72 

5   
 

  LEEDS ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR TEAM 
REVIEW: IMPLEMENTATION UPDATE 
 
To consider an update on the implementation of 
recommendations that emerged from the 2019 
review of Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Team.  
 

73 - 
88 

6   
 

  PARKING STRATEGY AND MANAGEMENT 
UPDATE 
 
To consider an update from the Chief Officer 
(Highways and Transportation) in relation to Leeds 
City Council’s Parking Strategy and Management.    
 

89 - 
96 



 
C 

7   
 

  SOURCES OF WORK 
 
To receive a report from the Head of Democratic 
Services on potential sources of work for the 
Scrutiny Board. 
 

97 - 
164 

8   
 

  WORK PROGRAMME 
 
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for 
the 2021/22 municipal year. 
 

165 - 
208 

9   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The next meeting of the Environment, Housing and 
Communities Scrutiny Board will be held at 
10.30am on Thursday 15 July. There will be a 
pre-meeting for all Board members at 10am.  
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES) 
 

THURSDAY, 25TH MARCH, 2021 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor B Anderson in the Chair 

 Councillors J Akhtar, J Bentley, D Collins, 
A Gabriel, P Grahame, A Khan, P Gruen, 
N Sharpe, K Brooks, T Smith and 
L Mulherin 

 
 

91 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents  
 

There were no appeals. 
 

92 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 

There was no exempt information. 
 

93 Late Items  
 

There were no formal late items. 
 

94 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
 

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests. 
 

95 Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes  
 

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors A Blackburn 
and M Dobson. 
 

96 Minutes - 25 February 2021  
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held 25th February 2021, be 
approved as an accurate record. 
 
Matters Arising 
 
Minute No. 87 – Private Sector Housing Update. It was noted that information 
regarding empty homes had been circulated. However, it was requested that 
additional information be provided based on new ward structures, and a 
breakdown of voids in each ward. 
 

97 Update on Fuel Poverty in Leeds  
 

Agenda Items 7 – Fuel Poverty in Leeds, 8 – Energy Efficiency in Council 
Housing Stock and 9 – Carbon Reduction in the Private Rented Sector, were 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

considered together by the Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and 
Communities). 
 
The reports of the Sustainable Energy and Air Quality Team and the Director 
of Resources and Housing, provided the Scrutiny Board with an update on 
fuel poverty within Leeds, and an overview of recent government policy 
announcements and their impact on the council’s work to tackle fuel poverty in 
the city. Progress to support the decarbonisation of council housing stock 
since February 2021 and information on current and pipeline energy projects, 
and future investment needs and carbon reduction in the private rented 
sector, and the Council approach to addressing carbon reduction as part of 
the Climate Emergency, in order to achieve the targets set by the Government 
to meet the 2050 target. 
 
The following were in attendance for this item: 

 Councillor Coupar, Executive Member for Communities 

 Councillor Hayden, Executive Member for Climate Change, Transport 
and Sustainable Development 

 Councillor Scopes, Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Chair 

 Neil Evans, Director of Resources and Housing 

 George Munson, Senior Project Manager 

 Robert Curtis, Programme Officer 

 Nahim Rudi-Khan, Head of Strategy and Investment 

 Gerard Tinsdale, Chief Officer Housing 

 Mark Ireland, Head of Private Rented Sector 
 
Officers in attendance, provided a PowerPoint presentation to the Scrutiny 
Board, covering the following matters: 
Fuel Poverty 

 Statistics in Leeds against the national average, showing a positive 
trend over the last 4 years. Significant impacts as a result of COVID-19 
are yet to be identified; 

 An overview of the new UK Government Fuel Poverty Strategy, 
Sustainable Warmth: Protecting Vulnerable Households in England; 

 Estimated retrofit costs seeking to achieve net zero and make homes 
affordable (EPC ‘C’ or better); 

 The various funding opportunities available, such as the Green Homes 
Grant, Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund and the potential follow 
up to GHG over the next 2 years; 

 The roles, requirements and implications, as a result of the new 
technical standard PAS2035. 

 
Council Housing Stock 

 133m planned investment over 5 years to support decarbonisation of 
council housing stock and there is currently 31m on-site activity and the 
intention to maximise future funding opportunities to support the HRA; 

 The focus of renewable investment with replacing electric storage 
heating, with renewable energy in high rise blocks; 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

 Case studies from residents highlighting the benefits of renewable 
installation; 

 Total carbon savings per annum per project; 

 Next steps in terms of the current unfunded need. It was reported that 
32.5m was required to improve the lowest performing homes to a SAP 
C, and this can only be achieved based on affordability, practicality 
and/availability of current efficiency measures.  

 
Private Rented Sector 

 Challenges and implications with over 50% of the PRS being in the 
pre-1919 stock, with most of the tenure being in inner city areas and 
owner/occupation; 

 The challenges facing the PRS with the move for minimum energy 
standards EPC C by 2030; 

 Financial implications of works for owners to meet standards and 
energy efficient homes not being a selling point/ market advantage; 

 The options available to address issues, including: 
- Education; 
- Finance available; 
- Enforcement; 
- Public policy; 
- Increasing awareness; and 
- Behaviour change. 

 
Members discussed a number of matters, including: 

 Funding considerations around how the Council are able to make long-
term investments; 

 Delivering employment and apprenticeship opportunities; 

 Expanding renewable investment across additional high rise blocks 
and on an individual home basis; 

 Clarity on reducing the value of properties, as part of ensuring homes 
meet energy efficiency standards; 

 Clarity on activity and the consultation process regarding local 
organisations who have been awarded funding from The National 
Lottery’s Climate Action Fund; 

 Clarity on where residents can seek advice as to which private 
schemes are genuine, and whether the Council provide a service to 
assist with this; 

 The cost of fuel and considerations around measures the Council and 
PRS can take to remove pre-paid metres. 

 
In response to questions, the following had been confirmed: 

 Timescale implications with engaging with the local community and 
liaising with the supply chain / contractors, from when grants are 
awarded. It was noted that longer timescales would enable job creation 
and to plan over a longer period of time to provide assurances to 
builders. Additionally, Members were provided with an update on the 
scheme carried out in Holbeck to provide additional homes with energy 
efficiency works/ improvements and take-up from residents. 

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

 Investment will transform the Council’s multi storey stock and deliver 
new council housing at a good standard in terms of energy efficiency. 
Members were informed of the financial implications and the risks 
associated with having multiple schemes open. Whilst the Council 
sought to provide every high rise block with an electric storage system, 
individual tenant repairs would be looked at on a case by case basis to 
seek the best solution. 

 The Council are taking every opportunity to connect to the ‘District 
Heating Network Leeds Pipe’ scheme. 

 The Leeds Climate Emergency Action Project is carried out by Third 
Sector organisations aiming to explore local mobilisation on climate 
issues. The Council supported National Lottery Funding for the 
organisation to look at projects across the city to help involve people in 
climate change activities. The Executive Member for Climate Change, 
Transport and Sustainable Development confirmed that she would 
liaise with those groups to encourage them to work with the Council 
and Elected Members on those projects. 

 Private sector companies accessing eco energy funding on a private 
basis, are encouraged to look at companies carrying out work in 
accordance with Trustmark standards. It was confirmed that the 
Council do not have a specific service to provide assurances to 
residents seeking advice on a specific company. The Chair requested 
that this be considered as a matter for the successor Scrutiny Board. 

 Whilst the Government introduced caps on tariffs that alleviated some 
issues, self-disconnection remains an issue with residents budgeting 
by turning off their heating. The Council commission the Home Plus 
(Leeds) service that includes organisations such as Care and Repair 
and Ground Repair Leeds to provide assistance to residents 
experiencing issues with their bills. It was confirmed that the new 
generation of smart metres aim to alleviate issues. 

 
The Executive Member for Communities thanked all officers and Elected 
Members involved with the schemes carried out to tackle climate change and 
fuel poverty. Challenges remained in the city, particularly with pre 1919 stock 
and the retrofitting implications associated with bringing those houses up to 
an energy efficient standard. 
 
The Chair thanked those officers in attendance. 
 

 
RESOLVED – The Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities): 

a) Noted the contents of the report, along with Member’s comments; 
b) Requested that the successor Scrutiny Board schedule a space on 

their work programme in the 2021/22 municipal year, and that an 
update on progress be received; 

c) Requested that the successor Scrutiny Board be minded to look at 
issues in relation to where residents can seek/ receive advice on 
specific private sector companies; 

d) Requested that a joint letter from the Chair of the successor Scrutiny 
Board and the Executive Member for Communities, be sent to the 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

Government on behalf of the Scrutiny Board, to relay challenges with 
alleviating fuel poverty, funding implications with Council housing stock 
and carbon reduction in the private rented sector. It was agreed the 
letter would highlight the challenges for the sector of delivering fuel 
poverty interventions in very restricted timeframes to meet the 
constraints of short term grant funding opportunities. Members wished 
to highlight to ministers and civil servants the potential for more 
sustainable arrangements to help deliver green jobs and 
apprenticeships.  

 
98 Energy Efficiency in Council Housing Stock  
 

This item was considered alongside Agenda Item 7 – Fuel Poverty in Leeds 
and Agenda Item 9 – Carbon Reduction in the Private Rented Sector. Minute 
No. 97 refers. 
 

99 Carbon Reduction in the Private Rented Sector  
 

This item was considered alongside Agenda Item 7 – Fuel Poverty in Leeds 
and Agenda Item 8 – Energy Efficiency in Council Housing Stock. 
 

100 Work Schedule  
 

The report of the Head of Democratic Services set out the Scrutiny Board’s 
work schedule for the remainder of the current municipal year. A draft work 
programme for the 2021/22 successor board, as well as the final River 
Cleanliness Report had also been appended to the submitted report, for the 
Board’s consideration. 
 
Discussion focused on the final River Cleanliness Inquiry Report. Members 
were in agreement with the publication of the report and the Chair in 
particular, commended Helen Grey (Senior Scrutiny and Governance Support 
Officer) for all of her work and research on the report. 
 
RESOLVED –  

a) To consider the matters outlined in the submitted report and agreed the 
overall work schedule for the Board’s work for the remainder of the 
2020/21 municipal year. 

b) To consider and agree the draft 2021/22 work schedule for the 
successor board as set out in Appendix 2. 

c) To consider the final River Cleanliness inquiry report and recommend 
its publication. 

 
CHAIRS CLOSING COMMENTS 
 
The Chair thanked Members and Officers of the Scrutiny Board (Environment, 
Housing and Communities) for their support and work over the past year, with 
specific mention to Becky Atherton and Helen Grey. The Chair also thanked 
the Director of Resources and Housing for his contributions to the service, as 
well as Executive Members Councillor Coupar and Rafique. 

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

 
The Char acknowledged this would be the last meeting Councillor P Gruen 
will attend before moving on to new endeavours, and wished him well in the 
future. It was also noted that it would be Councillor A Khan’s final Scrutiny 
Board meeting before becoming the Lord Mayor in the 2021/22 municipal 
year, and thanked him for his diligence and hard work on the Scrutiny Board. 
Both Councillors Gruen and Khan thanked the Board for their words, and the 
Chair for his support and success of the work carried out by the Scrutiny 
Board in recent years. 
 

101 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

RESOLVED – To note the date and time of the next meeting as 17th June 
2021, at 10.30 am (there will be a pre-meet for members at 10 am) 
 
(The meeting concluded at 12:00 pm) 
 
 

Page 10



 
 

 

 

What is this report about?  
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 This report presents the terms of reference for the Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing & 
Communities). 

 General Terms of Reference are applied to all Scrutiny Boards. However, the variations in 
the Scrutiny Boards’ remits, together with their special responsibilities, are captured within 
Article 6 of the constitution. 

 

 Further information is presented within this report to show how each of the five individual 
Scrutiny Boards have been aligned to Officer Delegated Functions and Executive Portfolios 
for the municipal year 2021/22. 
 

 In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, the Scrutiny Boards will also continue to 
ensure through service review that equality and diversity/cohesion and integration issues are 
considered in decision making and policy formulation. 
 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to consider the Scrutiny Board’s Terms of Reference. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference 

Date: 17 June 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing & Communities) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Rebecca Atherton 

Tel: 0113 3788642 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1. This report presents the terms of reference for the Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing 

and Communities). 
 

2. The general Terms of Reference applied to all Scrutiny Boards are set out in Appendix 1. 
 

3. The variations in the Scrutiny Boards’ remits, together with their special responsibilities, 
are captured within Article 6 of the constitution (Appendix 2). 

 

4. However, more detailed information has also been provided to show how each of the five 
individual Scrutiny Boards this year have been aligned to Officer Delegated Functions and 
Executive Portfolios (Appendix 3).  

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

5. This report seeks to provide clarity surrounding the terms of reference for the Scrutiny 
Board (Environment, Housing & Communities). 
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

6. These terms of reference were formally considered and approved by Council on 20 May 

2021. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

7. This report has no specific resource implications. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

8. This report has no specific legal implications. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

9. This report has no risk management implications. 

  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 

10. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards will continue to promote a strategic and 

outward looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the Best Council Plan. 
   

Appendices 

11. Appendix 1 - General Terms of Reference applied to all Scrutiny Boards. 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☒ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 12



12. Appendix 2 - Article 6 of the constitution showing the variations in the Scrutiny Boards’ 

remits, together with their special responsibilities.  

13. Appendix 3 – Details of how individual Scrutiny Boards have been aligned to Officer 

Delegated Functions and Executive Portfolios during 2021/22. 

 

Background papers 

14. None. 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Committees’ Terms of Reference  Appendix 1 

Part 3 Section 2B(b) 
Page 1 of 1 

Issue 1 – 2021/22 
 

Scrutiny Board 
 
The Scrutiny Board is authorised to discharge the following overview and scrutiny 
functions1: 
 

1. to review or scrutinise decisions made or other action taken in connection with 
any council or executive function or any matter which affects the authority’s 
area or the inhabitants of that area;2 

 
2. to receive and consider requests for Scrutiny from any source; 

 
3. to review or scrutinise the performance of such Trust / Partnership Boards as 

fall within its remit;  
 

4. to act as the appropriate Scrutiny Board in relation to the Executive’s initial 
proposals for a relevant plan or strategy within the Budget and Policy 
Framework which falls within its remit;3 

 
5. to review or scrutinise executive decisions that have been Called In; 

 
6. to exercise such special functions as are allocated in Annex 3 to Article 6 – 

Scrutiny Boards; and 
 

7. to make such reports and recommendations as it considers appropriate and to 
receive and monitor formal responses to any reports or recommendations 
made. 

 

                                            
1 In relation to functions set out in Annex 2 to Article 6 – Scrutiny Boards, whether or not those 
functions are concurrently delegated to any other committee or officer. 
2 Including matters pertaining to outside bodies and partnerships to which the authority has made 
appointments. 
3 In accordance with Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 1 of 6 

Issue 3 – 2020/21 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

ARTICLE 6 – SCRUTINY BOARDS 

6.1 ROLE 

The Council will appoint Scrutiny Boards as set out in Annex 2 to this Article to 
exercise functions conferred by section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000 and in 
accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006, in accordance with their terms 
of reference1.  

6.2 VISION FOR SCRUTINY 

The Council has adopted a Vision for Scrutiny, which is attached at Annex 1. 

6.3 ROLE OF SCRUTINY 

Policy development and review 

Within their Terms of Reference all Scrutiny Boards may: 

 assist the Council and the Executive in the development of the Budget and Policy
Framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;

 conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy
issues and possible options;

 consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community
participation in the development of policy options;

 question Members of the Executive and Directors about their views on issues
and proposals affecting the area; and

 liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national,
regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by
collaborative working.

Scrutiny 

Within their terms of reference all Scrutiny Boards may: 

 make recommendations to the Executive and/or appropriate committees and/or
Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process;

 review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and
invite reports from them by requesting them to address the Scrutiny Board and
local people about their activities and performance; and

 question and gather evidence.

1 As set out at Part 3 Section 2A of the Constitution 

Appendix 2

Page 17



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards   

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 2 of 6 

Issue 3 – 2020/21 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

6.4 SCRUTINY OFFICER 
 

The Council has designated the post of Head of Democratic Services, as Scrutiny 
Officer2. 
 
The functions of the Scrutiny Officer are: 
(a) to promote the role of the Scrutiny Boards; 
(b) to provide support to the Scrutiny Boards and their members3; 
(c) to provide support and guidance to Members (including Executive Members), 
and officers4, in relation to the Scrutiny Boards’ functions; 
(d) to report to Council5 annually about how the authority has carried out its 
overview and scrutiny functions. 
 

6.5 PROCEEDINGS  
 

Scrutiny Boards will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the Scrutiny 
Board Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
6.6  MEMBERSHIP 
 
 Members shall be appointed in accordance with the Scrutiny Board Procedure 

Rules. 
 
 Scrutiny Boards shall co-opt members in accordance with the Scrutiny Board 

Procedure Rules. 
 
6.7 SCRUTINY BOARD CHAIRS 
 

The Chair of each of the Scrutiny Boards shall be appointed in accordance with the 
Council Procedure Rules. 
 
Group spokespersons shall not be appointed to Chair a Scrutiny Board which 
corresponds to the same portfolio.6 
 

 The Scrutiny Board with responsibility for health shall nominate Members to any 
joint overview and scrutiny committee appointed by the authority.7  
 

 

                                            
2 Under Section 9FB Local Government Act 2000.   
3 The Scrutiny Officer shall exercise overall responsibility for the finances made available to Scrutiny Boards. 
4 The Scrutiny Officer shall exercise overall responsibility for the work programme of the officers employed to 
support the work of the Scrutiny Boards. 
5 After consultation with the relevant Scrutiny Chairs 
6 This does not apply to those groups who have less than 10% of the membership of the Council 
7 such nominations to reflect the political balance of the Board. 

Page 18



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards   

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 3 of 6 

Issue 3 – 2020/21 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

ANNEX 1 
Vision for Scrutiny at Leeds 

 
“To promote democratic engagement through the provision of an influential 
scrutiny function which is held in high regard by its many stakeholders and  
which achieves measurable service improvements which add value for the 
people of Leeds through a member led process of examination and review"  
 
To achieve this Scrutiny will follow the nationally agreed ‘Four Principles of Good Scrutiny’; 

1. Provide ‘critical friend’ challenge to decision makers, through holding them to 
account for decisions made, engaging in policy review and policy development;  

2. Promote Scrutiny as a means by which the voice and concerns of the public can be 
heard;  

3. Ensure Scrutiny is carried out by ‘independent minded’  Board members;  

4. Improve public services by ensuring reviews of policy and service performance are 
focused. 

 
To succeed Council recognises that the following conditions need to be present; 

 Parity of esteem between the Executive and Scrutiny  

 Co-operation with statutory partners 

 Member leadership and engagement 

 Genuine non-partisan working 

 Evidence based conclusions and recommendations 

 Effective dedicated officer support 

 Supportive Directors and senior officer culture 

 
Council agrees that it is incumbent upon Scrutiny Boards to recognise that 
resources to support the Scrutiny function are, (like all other Council functions), 
under considerable pressure and that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always 
be met.  Therefore Council agrees that constructive consultation should take place 
between the Executive and Scrutiny about the availability of resources prior to any 
work being undertaken.   
Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should 
 

 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive 
Member about available resources 
 

 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already 
having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue (e.g. Plans Panel, 
Housing Advisory Board, established member working groups, other Scrutiny 
Boards)  
 

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add 
value and can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 

Page 19



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards   

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 4 of 6 

Issue 3 – 2020/21 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

ANNEX 2 

Scrutiny Board  External oversight  Officer oversight (by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme) 

Council Functions Executive Functions 

Strategy and 
Resources  

 Chief Executive 
Director of Resources  
Chief Officer (Financial Services) 
City Solicitor 
Director of Communities, Housing and 

Environment 

Chief Executive (1-3)  
Director of Resources (1-7) 
City Solicitor (1-3) 
Chief Officer (Financial Services)(1-5) 
Director of Communities, Housing and Environment (2, 15 – 17) 
Director of City Development (8, 11) 

 

Infrastructure, 
Investment and 
Inclusive Growth 

Risk management authorities 
(defined by S6 Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010) 

Director of City Development  
Chief Planning Officer 

Chief Executive (4) 
Director of City Development (1, 3-5a&b, 6 & 7, 9-10, 14) 
Chief Planning Officer (1-4) 
Director of Children and Families (2(e)) 

 

Environment, 
Housing and 
Communities 

Responsible authorities 
(defined by S5 Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998) 

None Director of Communities, Housing and Environment (1, 3-14, 
18-20) 
Director of Resources (8-12) 
Director of City Development ( 2) 

 

Children and Families  Director of Children and Families Director of Children and Families (1, 2(a-d & f), 3) 
Programme Director Strengthening Families, Protecting 
Children (1 – 3) 

 

Adults, Health and 
Active Lifestyles 

Relevant NHS bodies or health 
service providers including:-
NHS England 
NHS Leeds Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
Local NHS Trusts and other 
NHS service providers 
Healthwatch Leeds 

None Director of Adults and Health (1 - 8) 
Director of Public Health (1-6) 
Director of City Development (12&13) 

 

P
age 20



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards   

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 5 of 6 

Issue 3 – 2020/21 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

ANNEX 3 
 

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF SCRUTINY BOARDS 
 

1 – Flood risk Management 
 
The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth) is allocated 
special responsibility for flood risk management namely:- 
 

 To review and scrutinise the exercise by risk management authorities8 of flood risk 
management functions9 which may affect the Leeds City Council area10. 

 
2 – Crime and Disorder 
 
The Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) is allocated special 
responsibility for crime and disorder namely:- 
 

 To exercise the functions of a crime and disorder committee11, including the 
following: 

a) To review or scrutinise the exercise of crime and disorder functions12 by 
responsible authorities13; and 

b) To review or scrutinise any local crime or disorder matter14 raised by a 
Member. 

 
3 – Health 
 
The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) is allocated special 
responsibility for health namely:- 
 

 to review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation 
of the health service in its area and to make reports and recommendations on any 
such matter it has reviewed or scrutinised; 

 

 to comment on, make recommendations about, or report to the Secretary of State in 
writing about such proposals as are referred to the authority by a relevant NHS 
body or a relevant health service provider;  
 

 to respond to consultation by any relevant NHS body or health service provider; and 
 

                                            
8 As defined by Section 6 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
9 As defined by Section 4 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
10 In accordance with Section 9FH Local Government Act 2000 
11 In accordance with Section 19 Police and Justic Act 2006 
12 As defined by Section 6 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (formulating and implementing crime and disorder 
strategies) 
13 These are the authorities responsible for crime and disorder strategies set out in Section 5 Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998. 
14 Any matter concerning –  

a) crime and disorder (including in particular forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social 
behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment); or 

b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in that area 

Page 21



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards   

Part 2 Article 6 
Page 6 of 6 

Issue 3 – 2020/21 
Last amended on 13th May 2021 

 
Matters which fall within the terms of reference of this Scrutiny Board include: 

 

 arrangements made by local NHS bodies to secure hospital and community 
health services to the inhabitants of the authority’s area and the quality and 
safety of such services; 

 

 the provision of family health services, personal medical services, personal 
dental services, pharmacy and NHS ophthalmic services; 

 

 arrangements made by the authority for public health, health promotion, health 
improvement and for addressing health inequalities; 

 

 the planning of health services by NHS bodies, including plans made in co-
operation with local authority’s Health and Wellbeing Board for improving both 
the health of the local population and the provision of health care to that 
population;  

 

 any matter referred by Healthwatch Leeds; and 
 

 the arrangements made by relevant NHS bodies and health service providers for 
consulting and involving patients and the public.    

 
The Scrutiny Board may make recommendations to the authority, relevant NHS bodies, or 
relevant health service providers arising from the scrutiny process. 

 
 
4– Residual Responsibility 
 
The Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) is allocated residual responsibility for 
any function not otherwise allocated to a Scrutiny Board. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 22



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

 

Scrutiny Board: Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles 
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Director of Adults & Health 
1. Promotion of well-being 
2. Information, advice and advocacy 
3. Prevention and Recovery 
4. Safeguarding 
5. Assessment and eligibility 
6. Diverse and high-quality services 
7. Charging and financial assessment 
 

ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND HELATH 
PARTNERSHIPS 
Cllr F Venner 

Director of City Development 
13. Active Travel (relating to the promotion and championing of active travel – with 
responsibilities for infrastructure remaining within the highways and transport and 
planning functions) 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE & CLIMATE 
Cllr Hayden 

Director of City Development 
12. Sport and Active Leeds 
 
Director of Adults & Health 
8. Public Health 
 
Director of Public Health 
1. Health Improvement Function  
2. Health Protection Functions 
3. Functions relating to the commissioning of Public Health 
4. Provision of statutory and mandated functions 
5. Functions of Responsible Authority 
6. Production and Publication of the annual report on the health of the local 
population.  

PUBLIC HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES 
Cllr Arif 

P
age 23



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

 

Scrutiny Board: Children and Families  
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Director of Children and Families 
 
1. Children’s Social Work including:- 

a) Preventative Services;  
b) Safeguarding and Child Protection;  
c) Assessment and Care Management;  
d) Residential and Respite Care;  
e) Support For Carers; and  
f) Youth Offending Services.  

 
2. Learning including:- 

a) Early Years Provision; and 
f) Development of active citizens. 

 
3. Child friendly City including:- 

a) Child Poverty; and 
b) Voice and Influence 
c) Influencing Climate Change And Sustainability 

  
Functions delegated to the Director of Children & Families as Lead Officer of One 
Adoption Agency for West Yorkshire 
1. Adoption Services 

 

ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND HELATH 
PARTNERSHIPS 
Cllr F Venner 

Director of Children & Families 
4. Youth Services 

COMMUNITIES 
Cllr Harland  

Director of Children & Families 
2b. Sustainable Access to Education 

ECONOMY, CULTURE & EDUCATION 
Cllr Pryor  

  

P
age 24



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Scrutiny Board: Environment, Housing and Communities 
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
1.  Integrated locality working and its associated city-wide functions 
3. The Council’s community hubs 
4. Library and Information Service 
18. Welfare and benefits services 
 

COMMUNITIES 
Cllr Harland 

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
6. Public Health Protection and Control of Statutory Nuisance 
7. Environmental Health and Consumer Protection 
8. Environmental management 
9. Car parking 
10. Waste 
19. Landlord Functions (funded by the Housing Revenue Account) 
20. Other Housing Functions 

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING 
Cllr Rafique 

Director of Resources 
10. Climate Change 
11. Sustainable Energy and Carbon Reduction 
12. Clean Air 

INFRASTRUCTURE & CLIMATE 
Cllr Hayden 

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
11. Cemeteries, Crematoria, Burial grounds and mortuaries 
12. Parks and Countryside 
13. Countryside management 
14.  Ecological sustainability  

PUBLIC HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES 
Cllr Arif 

Director of Resources 
8. Civic Enterprise Leeds 
9. Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
 
 

RESOURCES 
Cllr Coupar  

P
age 25



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
5. Community Safety including: 
a) CCTV 
b) Reduction of crime and disorder 
c) Drugs and alcohol treatment and offender management 
d) Tackling antisocial behaviour 
e) Tackling domestic violence  
 
Director of City Development:  
3. Functions relating to the Council’s Register of Assets of Community Value 

  

P
age 26



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Scrutiny Board: Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth 
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Chief Executive 
4a. City Region Functions 

LEADER’S PORTFOLIO 
Cllr Lewis 

Director of City Development 
1. Asset Management 

RESOURCES 
Cllr Coupar 

Director of City Development 
3. Inclusive Growth 
6. Sustainable Economic Development 
7. Employment and Skills 
 
Director of Children & Families 
2e. 14 – 16 Skills Development 

ECONOMY, CULTURE & EDUCATION 
Cllr Pryor  

Director of City Development 
4. Sustainable Development  
5. Sustainable Housing Growth  
9. Highways and Transportation  
10. Flood and water management  
14. Planning Services 
 
Chief Planning Officer 
1.  Development Plan functions 
2. Planning Policy and Guidance functions 
3. Neighbourhood Planning functions 
4a. Conservation Area functions 

INFRASTRUCTURE & CLIMATE 
Cllr Hayden 

  

P
age 27



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Scrutiny Board: Strategy and Resources 

Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Chief Executive 
1. Functions in relation to elections 
 
Director of resources 
1. Setting supporting and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures [note 1e & 1g 
fall within the Leader’s Portfolio as detailed below] 
2. Digital and Information Services 
3. Customer Relations 
4. Corporate communication services 
6. The Council’s city-wide resilience planning and policy development services including 
co-ordination of the Best Council Plan  
7. Shared Services 
 
Chief Officer Financial Services  
2. Ensuring effective financial management and controls 
3. Setting, supporting and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures for budgets 
4. Administering effective financial management and controls 
5. Corporate Governance 
 
City solicitor 
1. Legal Services 
2. Democratic Services including support to elected members in their responsibilities 
3. Standards and Conduct 
 
Director of Communities, Housing & Environment  
15. Registrars functions 
16. Licensing functions 
17. Land and property search functions 
 

RESOURCES 
Cllr Coupar 

P
age 28



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Chief Executive 
2. Civic and Ceremonial functions 
3. Devolution and local freedoms 
 
Director of Resources 
1e. Joint Strategic Needs Analysis 
1g. risk and business continuity  
5. The Council’s corporate planning and policy development services, including co-

ordination of the Best Council Plan 
 
Chief Officer Financial Services 
1. Setting, supporting and monitoring the Council’s financial strategy. 

LEADER’S PORTFOLIO 
Cllr Lewis  

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment  
2. Equalities 

COMMUNITIES 
Cllr Harland 

Director of City Development 
8.  International and domestic inward economic investment 
11. Culture 

ECONOMY, CULTURE & EDUCATION 
Cllr Pryor  

 

Version: 210526 

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 This report provides a summary of performance against the strategic priorities for the council 

and city and other performance areas relevant to the Environment, Housing and 

Communities Scrutiny Board. 

 

 This report provides an update on progress in delivering the council priorities in line with the 

Best Council Plan. 

 

 This report covers quarter 4 (Year-End) Performance information (or latest available where 

Quarter 4 data is not yet available). 

 

Recommendations 

a) Members are recommended to note the Quarter 4 performance information contained in the 

Appendices to this report and the issues which have been highlighted and consider if they 

wish to undertake further scrutiny work to support improvement over the coming year in any 

of these areas. 

b) Members will note that the Best Council Plan (BCP) sets out the council’s key objectives and 

priorities. This report provides an overview of the relevant Environment, Housing and 

Communities performance relating to this plan, enabling the Scrutiny Board to consider and 

challenge the council’s performance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Insert report title / subject here 

Date: 17th June 2021 

Report of: Directors of Resources and Communities, Housing & Environment 

Report to: Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Report author: Emma Kamillo-Price 

Tel: 86946 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1 That members can consider the Quarter 4 performance information contained in the 

Appendices to this report and the issues which have been highlighted and consider if they 

wish to undertake further scrutiny work to support improvement over the coming year in any 

of these areas. 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

2 The performance information contained in the Appendices to this report and the issues 

which have been highlighted are provided for the Board’s information. 

3 This is an information report and not a decision so it is not necessary to conduct an equality 

impact assessment.  However, some of the data provided will link to wider issues of 

equality and diversity, and cohesion and integration, and there may be occasions when 

Scrutiny Board members will want to look more closely at these issues, and may request 

further information to inform their investigations. 

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

4 This is an information report and as such does not need to be consulted on with the public. 

However all performance information is published on the council’s website and is available 

to the public. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

5 There are no specific resource implications from this report, although some performance 

indicators relate to financial and other value for money aspects. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

6 All performance information is publicly available and is published on the council website.  

This report is an information update providing Scrutiny with a summary of performance for 

the strategic priorities within its remit and as such is not subject to call in. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

7 There is a comprehensive risk management process in the council to monitor and manage 

key risks. The council’s most significant risks are available and can be accessed via the 

council’s website. 

  

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars? 

☒Inclusive Growth  ☒Health and Wellbeing  ☒Climate Emergency 

8 This report supports the Council’s 3 pillars by providing performance information for 

Environment, Housing and Communities that relates to the economic growth of a healthy 

city with high quality services. It demonstrates what action is being taken to affect 

Wards Affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☐Yes    ☒No 

 

Page 32



performance (where relevant) and to allow the board to challenge the same and consider 

whether any further focus should be given to any particular area in supporting these pillars. 

9 Climate Emergency – The council declared a climate emergency in March 2019 with the 

stated ambition of working to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2030 for the city. Parts 

of the above performance information are linked to actions taking place to address climate 

emergency and will feed into an assessment of how on track the council is in achieving the 

target. Services will provide updates to the Board on specific work they are carrying out 

with regard to this priority. 

  

Options, timescales and measuring success  

a) What other options were considered? 

10 N/A 

 

b) How will success be measured? 

11 N/A 

 

c) What is the timetable for implementation? 

12 N/A 

  

Appendices 

13 The following appendices are attached to this report: 

 Appendix 1 – Performance Report (Summary of Key Issues) 

 Appendix 2 – Housing Dashboard 

 Appendix 3 – Community Safety Data 

 Appendix 4 – Waste Data 

 

 

Background papers 

14 Best Council Plan 2020 to 2025 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

 

 Main issues 

1 Appendix 2 shows the Quarter 4 performance data relating to Housing priorities.  
Members will see that some of the indicators are designed to track trends rather than 
report against specific targets, and for these reasons the trend indicators have not 
been rated. Appendix 3 relates to Community Safety and Appendix 4 relates to Waste 
priorities. Members will note that there is no appendix in relation to Communities 
priorities and all information relating to these priorities is contained within this 
Appendix 1. The main performance issues arising from these progress reports are 
given below: 

  

 Housing (Appendix 2) 

2 Housing’s performance is monitored against three areas: 

 HRA Business Plan Indicators – measuring the health of the HRA Business Plan 

 Housing Strategy Indicators – measuring progress in delivering Housing Strategy 
priorities 

 Regulator of Social Housing - Regulatory Framework Indicators – measuring 
performance of Council Housing in meeting the 4 HCA Consumer Standards 

Members’ attention is drawn to the following performance areas: 

HRA Business Plan PIs: 

3 Rent Collection  

Throughout the year the service has continued to undertake a range of actions to 
support tenants to pay their rent during the pandemic. In March 2020, in response to 
the Covid-19 pandemic, the Government announced a complete ban on eviction and 
new possession cases during the coronavirus. In response, enforcement of rent 
collection was suspended, and throughout the year regular contact was made with 
tenants who are in rent arrears, focussing on a supportive approach, using phone calls 
and e-mails to support tenants to maximise income and make affordable payments. 
Up to the end of March 2021 over 145,000 calls were made to tenants to discuss rent 
payments / arrears, and over 64,000 emails were sent. Limited mobilisation of the 
formal arrears process has taken place. No LCC arrears cases have been progressed 
through the courts and no evictions of LCC tenants for arrears have taken place during 
the pandemic. 

There has been a slight fall in the number of people paying by Direct Debit from 
41.86% (16,407) in March 2020 to 41.33% (16,357) in March 2021.  

The service has continued to support tenants claiming Universal Credit, and those 
affected by the benefit cap and the under occupancy charge.  

 The number of tenants claiming Universal Credit has increased to 15,075 at the end 
of March 2021, up from 10,920 in March 2020.  

 145 council tenants on Housing Benefit have been affected by the benefit cap. 

Page 35



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

 There have been 2,643 tenants on Housing Benefit affected by under occupation as 
recorded by the benefit service. The decrease in the numbers affected by the 
benefit cap and under occupation is mainly the result of tenants moving to Universal 
Credit.  

4 Former Tenancy Arrears 

Former Tenancy Arrears (FTA) were 1.97% at the end of March 2021 compared to 
2.19% at the end of March 2020. The service has collected £628k in former tenancy 
arrears compared with £652k at the end of March 2020. The FTA enforcement 
process was suspended in March and the FTA cases were actively managed using a 
supportive phone call approach to mitigate the impact on arrears. Mobilisation of the 
FTA arrears process took place in July. 

5 Void Properties 

Both lettings and works in void properties are now remobilised, although timescales 
are still significantly impacted due to the need for maintaining Covid-safe practices. 
The number of voids has now stabilised and reduced from a peak of 892 to 730 at the 
end of March 2021, remaining behind target. There continue to be a number of factors 
impacting on reducing the number of voids: 

 Social distancing measures put in place as part of contractor / Leeds Building 
Services (“LBS”) risk assessments limit the number of operatives who are able to 
work on each void, increasing the amount of time taken to complete void works. 

 The number of repairs operatives available continues to be impacted due to self-
isolation measures where an operative has tested positive, or come into contact 
with someone who has. 

 Supply chains remain impacted by both Covid and Brexit, meaning some materials 
are either at a shortage or taking longer to procure, particularly fire doors.  

 The lettings process was amended as part of the Covid-19 risk assessment, which 
meant that a viewing could not take place until the property was fully ready to let. 
This has recently been reviewed and viewing while in repair is to resume where 
possible.  

Voids and Lettings teams continue to work closely to address the backlog and 
maximise collective outputs to reduce the number of void properties. 

6 Right to Buy Sales 

As previously indicated would likely be the case, RTB sales at year end are lower than 
in previous years as some tenants solicitors have been working at reduced capacity.  

7 Disrepair 

New disrepair cases continued to increase in Quarter 4, peaking with 100 new cases 
in March 2021. Equally, this period also saw record numbers of disrepair cases closed 
/ resolved. Additional capacity to deliver the works associated with disrepair has been 
sourced and the Fast Track process continues to be met in 100% of cases.  

Quarter 4 also saw a significant increase in the proportion of claims rejected and a 
reduction in legal costs / damages paid as a result of a disrepair claim.  

Page 36



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

The Disrepair Prevention Board continues to provide a multi-service approach in order 
to develop, implement and monitor the delivery of a 5 year disrepair prevention 
strategy.  

Housing Strategy PIs:  

8 Council Housing Growth – New Build Programme 

Since the last report the Programme has continued to make good progress. There is 
currently (as at May 2021) one scheme on-site, but by the end of the summer, it is 
hoped to have around 268 units in construction.  

The current programme includes 1,072 new homes, the position is shown in the table 
below: 

 

May-21 

Homes handed over to tenants 59 

Homes in construction 12 

Homes with recent planning approval 80 

Homes awaiting planning 
determination  

204 

Homes in Design stage  111 

Homes in Feasibility stage 351 

Homes in procurement/ pre-
procurement  

255 

TOTAL 1072 

This represents significant progress towards the target of 1,500 new homes by March 
2025, and the service is continuing to proactively seek additional sites to bring into the 
programme.  All Leeds City Council new build homes will be offered at rents that are 
genuinely affordable for its tenants, and well below market rates. 

Property Acquisitions 

The Council Housing Growth Programme also includes a property acquisitions work 
stream, which is currently focusing on re-acquiring former council houses bought by 
tenants under the right to buy regime, as well as “off the shelf” purchases from Strata 
Homes: 

 

May-21 

Homes handed over to tenants 83 

Homes acquired and being 
refurbished 

30 

Homes being acquired 38 

TOTAL 151 

The total acquisitions programme has now grown to 151 homes, with 85 more 
potential acquisitions in the pipeline. 

9 Empty Homes – all sectors 

Returning empty homes to occupation remains a priority and continues to be linked to 
the Core Planning Strategy. Since April 2017 the target has been to maintain the 

Page 37



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

number of long term empty homes below 3,777 at the end of March each year. Over 
the last year the numbers of empty homes have been consistently higher that in recent 
years. However despite the Covid-19 pandemic, it was possible to reduce the number 
to 3,810 which is 34 above target. Work is ongoing to reduce this figure further and 
ensure we remain below the 3,777 target for the end of March 2022. 

10 Private Sector Inspections 

Due to Covid-19 restrictions, wherever possible, issues have been dealt with remotely 
in line with Government guidance with inspections being undertaken only when this 
has not been possible. During 2020/21 the service has undertaken a total of 1,425 
inspections, removed 633 hazards and directly benefited 3,177 individuals as a result 
of the service’s involvement. 

Officers have supported homelessness prevention work throughout the pandemic by 
continuing to inspect properties put forward as part of the Landlords Letting Scheme. 
This work with colleagues in Leeds Housing Options has contributed to an additional 
631 new homes during this period.  

Throughout the year officers have continued to work in partnership with others to 
target known rogue landlords. There have been a number of joint operations based on 
intelligence with the Police to target certain landlords in Armley, Beeston and Harehills. 
This has been part of the work to target criminal landlords and activity. 

The Council designated Beeston and Harehills as selective licensing areas as of 5 
January 2020 and have so far received just under 5,500 applications. In March, to 
support the sector, the Council suspended the requests for all licence payments; 
putting the issuing of any licences on hold as payment is an essential part of the 
process. This was resumed in September. Over 95% of all initial payments for 
selective licensing applications received have now been paid, with just over 300 still 
outstanding.  All landlords have been told that any application without payment will 
now be cancelled and that they may be operating without a licence and that 
appropriate legal action may follow. The Council has started to draft licences and final 
licences with the second part of the licence fee being requested. This will allow the 
service (subject to the easing of lockdown) to start proactive visits to ensure 
compliance and when crossing the threshold to address household needs. 

Around 100 properties have been identified as potentially operating without a licence. 
So far 120 cases against such landlords have / are being investigated with 70 civil 
penalties in the process of being issued. The remaining cases are currently in the 
process of being investigated to determine what if any action may be taken. 

11 Homeless Preventions 

The service continues to secure a positive outcome (accommodation secured for at 
least 6 months) for the vast majority of people who approach the service as threatened 
with homelessness. Of all prevention cases closed, over 80% result in a positive 
outcome and some benchmarking for 2020 can be seen below (please note that the 
latest available benchmarking is only up to quarter 3). For the 15-20% of those for 
whom a positive prevention is not achieved, the majority of these are because they 
have lost contact with the service and are assumed to have resolved their housing 
difficulty. The service standard for positive preventions is 80% and this has been 
achieved or exceeded month-on-month since last reported. This achievement has 

Page 38



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

been in the context of an increase in the demand for assessments by around 75% 
over the past two months. 

City 
Jan-Mar 

2020 
Apr-Jun 

2020 
July-Sep 

2020 
Oct-Dec 

2020 

Leeds 88% 90% 89% 87% 

Sheffield 39% 22% 27% 35% 

Birmingham 79% 74% 77% 77% 

Manchester 56% 38% 37% 38% 

ENGLAND 60% 59% 60% 60% 

12 Temporary Accommodation 

Temporary accommodation figures continue to reflect the successful work around 
prevention as well as continued efforts to move people quickly from emergency 
accommodation into longer term accommodation pathways. 

Below is the most recent reported benchmarking data with the current return of 60 in 
Leeds not yet published (reported end of March as a snapshot): 

City Jan-Mar 2020 Apr-Jun 2020 Jul-Sep 2020 Oct-Dec 2020 

Leeds 33 95 45 83 

Sheffield 149 284 246 315 

Birmingham 3,147 3,291 Didn't report Didn't report 

Manchester 2,173 1,313 2,379 2,482 

ENGLAND 93,000 98,300 93,490 95,370 

This data reflects families and single placements into emergency accommodation 
which currently consists of the hotels, St Georges Crypt, Seacole and the 
commissioned family accommodation. Currently only 7 families are in temporary 
accommodation. 

TA staff are working to support move on plans within the hotels and achieving 
reduction at key sites. There are 9 current residents at Britannia which the service is 
due to pull out of within next couple of weeks as the newly commissioned services 
such as Kirkstall Lodge open.  

Kirkstall lodge opened the week commencing 3rd May and initial residents moved in on 
6th. This is a 9 bed accommodation with support from St Georges Crypt on site. The 
service is working with strategy and commissioning on funding proposals and 
implementation of a number of accommodation projects that will help to offset the 
reduction in availability based on the Covid restriction on communal settings. This 
should help to increase the variety on offer for individuals. 

Initial properties through the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme have been 
earmarked to prospective tenants and support packages are being drawn up with 
partners in street support. These initial properties are likely to be online by end of May.   

The Temporary accommodation team continues to work closely alongside Street 
Support partnership. Offers are being made for rough sleepers in a targeted joined up 
way to place an equal emphasis on support available to maintain any accommodation. 
The most recent rough sleeper headcount was 19 across the whole city which shows 
continued lower numbers. The most recent count happened following the restrictions 
on the city centre being lifted and numbers were not seen to rise sharply as a result. 

Page 39



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

(For further detail on the work of the Street Support team, please refer to paragraph 
35) below.) 

13 Unauthorised Encampments 

2020/21 has seen an increase in the number of caravans on the roadside which has 
been noticeable over the autumn/winter months when normally a decrease would be 
expected. There are currently 4 main family groups of approximately 50-60 caravans 
in total. This is a considerable increase over previous years of approximately 35-40 
caravans. During the pandemic there has been no decrease in numbers which may be 
due to certain factors: No traditional events have taken place such as Appleby Fair; 
and no travelling abroad. In terms of encampments by area this breaks down as: North 
(3%), South (37%), East (40%), West (20%). 

14 Adaptations 

Adaptations performance across both tenures has been significantly impacted by 
Covid-19 since April last year. During the first lockdown the team only had one private 
contractor able to take on Urgent cases, therefore the public sector work came to a 
halt. All other priorities were placed on hold until Government guidelines changed 
going into summer.  

Following the restrictions lifting in June / July most contractors came back to work, 
however putting the required measures in place led to a much slower workflow. Since 
then work output has increased but not to the capacity seen in previous years. 

Customers currently still have work placed on hold and this work is slowly getting back 
into the system again as customers start to feel more confident in letting contractors 
into their homes. There is still a lot of work to do with performance and although the 
team individual performance has started to improve, action plans and strategies are 
now needed from the Adaptations contractors to try and raise their performance to that 
we have demonstrated in the past. 

It is anticipated that 2021/22 will still be challenging as the remaining backlog of work 
is dealt with, whilst trying to understand the delays and filter out any remaining Covid-
19 issues. It is envisaged that performance will remain low until further on in the year 
due to the reasons above but the service is aiming to work closely with Social Care 
and Adaptations Contractors to improve this as soon as possible. 

 Regulator of Social Housing - Regulatory Framework Performance Indicators: 

15 Decency 

 The government’s Home Standard does not set out a specific target but refers to a 
requirement to “ensure that tenants’ homes meet the standard set out in section five of 
the Government’s Decent Homes Guidance 1 and continue to maintain their homes to 
at least this standard”. In practice, the service is aiming to keep the level of decent 
homes above 90%, although it is accepted that there will be fluctuations year-on-year.  

 The percentage of homes meeting the standard has increased back above this level in 
quarter 4 and is at 96.29% as of March 2021 (just slightly lower than the same point 
the previous year – 96.92%).  

 

 

Page 40



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

16 Responsive Repairs Completed Within Timescale 

 The backlog generated during the initial phase of the Covid-19 pandemic while the 
‘essential services only’ offer was in place has now been fully cleared. This backlog 
equated to c.20,000 repairs. The repairs service continues to offer a full range of 
repairs with no restrictions on the type of repair being accepted. However, due to the 
need to deliver services in line with the agreed risk assessments, some services 
continue to take longer than pre-Covid. This is also impacted by pressures on supply 
chains and the availability of some specialist trades.  

The figure for March 2021 stands at 68.68%. 

During the period 2020/21 over 150,000 repairs were completed to council homes. 

17 Responsive Repairs Completed Right First Time 

City wide performance against this target has remained strong and above the 90.50% 
target and largely consistent with the same period last year, which, under the current 
circumstances is testament to the continued commitment and hard work of Mears and 
LBS. 

18 Satisfaction with Responsive Repairs Completed 

Performance remains above target and consistent with pre Covid-19 levels. 

19 Capital Works – Satisfaction 

The last reported satisfaction rate was for Quarter 2 2020/21 and this stood at 87.10%. 
No satisfaction surveys have been undertaken for quarters 3 and 4 due to the 
decreased volume of internal works such as kitchens, bathrooms, windows and doors. 

20 Gas Services Completed on time  

During the first 2 quarters of 2020/21 the number of gas services completed on time 
fell significantly. This was primarily a result of access restrictions and was in line with 
the national picture in this area. Since this period, continued improvement has been 
evident and the year-end position (99.78%) is within target and consistent with pre-
Covid levels.  

21 Average Relet Times 

As mentioned at paragraph 5 above (“Void Properties”) timescales are still significantly 
impacted due to the need for maintaining Covid-safe practices.  As anticipated, relet 
times remained higher than 2019/20 but started to show a slight downward trend 
during quarter 4. 

22 Mutual Exchanges 

Mutual Exchanges in Quarter 3 and Quarter 4 have significantly increased following 
the temporary suspension of the service earlier in the year. The service is currently 
working closely with its external partner House Exchange, delivering training to staff 
and promoting the service via the Leeds Homes/LCC websites, social media etc. in 
order to maximise exchanges in an aid to alleviate demand from the housing register. 

 

 

Page 41



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

23 Annual Home Visits 

No annual home visits were undertaken during 2020/21 due to restrictions. Instead 
Housing took a different approach to contacting customers during the year. During 
quarters 1 and 2 the service contacted 12,400 vulnerable and older tenants to 
undertake a wellbeing check and signpost to additional support and 4,000 tenants who 
were shielding to encourage them to register for the national helpline and to signpost 
to additional support where required. 

Late in quarter 2 an Annual Tenancy Contact telephone conversation was introduced, 
including as many questions as possible from the Annual Home Visit. By the end of 
March 2021 there had been 13,397 telephone contacts undertaken. A change of 
approach is planned for 2021/22, with Annual Tenancy Contacts undertaken as a 
mixture of visits, telephone contacts and online. As part of this approach the service 
will be piloting an ‘online check-in’ for some tenants to verify their tenancy details, 
tenancy or property issues and any new support needs. Tenants will be identified for 
one of the 3 contact types based on information held, with tenants with a history of 
tenancy / property / support concerns prioritised for visit and lower risk tenants offered 
an online check in. 

24 Complaints  

During Quarter 3 and Quarter 4 2020/21, the Housing service received 1,205 stage 1 
complaints; responding to 83% within 10 working days and 94% within the corporate 
target of 15 working days. 15% of complaints were escalated to stage 2. The total 
number of stage 1 complaints received during Q3 and Q4 this year is 10% less than 
the same period last year, with numbers of stage 1 complaints having increased by 
87% from Q1 and Q2 with the reintroduction of services.  

During March 2021, the service saw an increase in stage 1 complaints, the highest 
number received in any single month over the last 2 years. There was an increase in 
complaints across the service, with the highest volume increases in property 
management and responsive repairs, which impacted on the services ability to 
respond in timescales. During March a number of operational issues were identified 
within the service and they are putting in place corrective actions in response.  
Analysis shows that some of the increase in complaints is related to Covid-19 and the 
service’s efforts to reduce any repairs delays and a return to normal service 
standards. Whilst the enhanced 10 working day response for March 21 was 65.1%, 
performance within the corporate target of 15 working days was 87%. 

The service published its self-assessment against the Housing Ombudsman 
‘Complaint Handling Code’ in December 2020 and this will be reviewed annually in line 
with the expectations of the code.  

As a result of the self-assessment, a number of actions have been identified that are 
currently being progressed. These include updating guidance and training support for 
investigating officers; implementing quality assurance checks on complaint responses; 
sharing learning from complaints case studies with staff on a regular basis for team 
discussions; and a regular complaints summary identifying wider trends and possible 
recommendations for improvement to be shared with SMT for review. Any resulting 
actions identified will then be included in team/service action plans to progress. 

In addition to this, the Chair of the Tenant Scrutiny Board has been successful in 
becoming a member of the new Housing Ombudsman Resident Panel. The 600 panel 

Page 42



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

members from across the country will have the opportunity to provide input and 
feedback as the Housing Ombudsman service develops and it’s positive that Leeds 
has representation on the Resident Panel as a whole.  

Housing are also working as part of a cross council task group to develop a Customer 
Care e-learning package to embed the Customer Care Standards. Responsive repairs 
are continuing to adopt an early intervention process when dealing with complaints. 
This allows simple complaints to be dealt with quickly in an informal manner leading to 
a positive outcome for the customer, negating the need for them to feel they have to 
access a formal complaints process to resolve problems.  This also allows officers 
time to focus their efforts on more complex complaint cases and focus on developing 
learning outcomes into service improvements. As part of this approach, user research 
is currently being conducted with approximately 800 customers who have submitted a 
complaint over the last 18 months. Findings from this research will be used to develop 
a more accessible service for customers. 

 

Communities 

25 Broad, high level information is included in relation to Customer Access, Council Tax 
and Welfare, and Safer and Stronger Communities. This is supported by further 
detailed observations which can be made available should Members find additional 
information useful.  Members’ attention is drawn to the following performance areas: 

26 Customer Access 

a) Face to Face 

The Covid-19 pandemic saw the majority of the Community Hubs and Libraries 
close during the first lockdown, with the five sites that remained open offering 
support to those citizens impacted by the pandemic.  Staff whose sites were 
closed were asked to provide support for other areas of Customer Access while 
working from home.  This includes taking calls on the COVID line that was set up 
to provide an immediate response to people affected by all aspects of the 
pandemic,   During quarter 2 of 2020/21, following lockdown measure being 
eased, the remaining Hubs began to open to customers in a phased approach.  
Customers were able to access PC’s, use library services and drop off proofs for 
Benefit or Housing enquires.  Appointments for booth enquires were offered on a 
telephone basis, where a member of staff would call the customer back at an 
agreed time.  This approach was to help minimise the number of people in a site 
and maintain social distancing, while providing help and assistance to those in 
need.  In order to open sites in a safe manner staff were placed into pools, which 
meant they would only work at that particular site and not move between sites, 
including the peripatetic team.  During the subsequent lockdowns the Hubs have 
remained open, but with a limited service offering, which included Click and Collect 
book borrowing, public access PC usage and telephone appointments.  Any staff 
not required to work in the Hubs continued to provide support to the Contact 
Centre. 

Helping People into Work – Between April 2020 to March 2021, 821 new people 
were registered with the Jobshop, compared to 5316 in the previous year, with 
1418 gaining successful employment in 2020-21 compared to 2516.  Since 

Page 43



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

January work has begun on the new ESIF contract as funding has been secured 
for three years to provide this service.  

Enquiries – Since the decommissioning of Seibel it had not been possible to 
provide data on the number of visit to Hubs or the number of service requests 
made.  However, due to the introduction of a new recording system (CATS) we are 
now able to provide some of these details.  Data began being recorded in Quarter 
2 of 2019-20 and there were 892,541 visits recorded until end of March 2020.  
From April 2020 to March 2021 308,243 visits have been recorded and 46,834 
service requests (we do not have service request data recorded for the previous 
year. 

In addition, there have been 23,863 Qmatic telephone appointments carried out by 
face to face staff working from home since April 2020.  

Further to this, the number of unique users of self-serve IT stations in Hubs was 
154 in 2020/21 compared with 12413 the previous year. 

Library Usage – There were 5053 visits to Libraries recorded in 2020-21, which is 
a significant reduction from the previous year with 1,828,609 visits, due to the 
closure of sites and the changes to the service offering once reopened due to the 
pandemic. 

270,647 items were borrowed during 2020 - 21, down from 1,224,796 for the 
previous year, and used the library public PCs 37008 times, which represents a 
drop from 424,497 for the same period last year.  These figures include all Library 
usage, not just those in community hubs. 

b) Contact Centre 

During the first lockdown all contact centre staff were asked to work from home 
and within 2 days of the restrictions being in place 98% of staff were all 
operational.  

Staff from the Community Hubs and Libraries were provided to support the work of 
the Contact Centre, however as the Hubs began to open from July, the amount of 
support available decreased.   

Emails - the Contact Centre received 149,971 emails in 2020/2019 which is an 
increase of 46,454 (103,517) from the year before.  This increase is largely due to 
the impact of Covid-19. Support was provided by staff in face to face who were 
unable to work from one of the Community Hubs due to school closures and lack 
of child care, or due them shielding or isolating. 

Telephone Performance - In 2020/21 the Contact Centre answered 91% of calls 
with an average wait time of 4 minutes 42 seconds. This compares to 88% of calls 
answered with an average wait time of 3 minutes 27 seconds for 2019/2020. 
There was a decrease in calls offered (1675) from 920953 calls in 2020/2021 
compared to 922628 calls on 2019/2020.   

During the first lockdown service provision changed, which resulted in reduced 
contact on certain lines, and increases on others 

  Reduced contact for Registrar. 

  Reduced contact for Refuse 

  Large collection line closed. 

Page 44



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

  CBL line closed until 24/06/2020 as letting paused. 

  Reduced contact for Housing Repairs during April and May as only emergency 
repairs were completed, however volumes from June onwards have increased 
as the service retuned to BAU and catches up with any non-urgent repairs. 

  Increased contact on the ASBU line which saw a 65% increase in calls offered 
between April – September 2020 due to the stay at home order. 

  LWSS Covid Crisis line live 09/04/2020 and included weekend working until 
07/06/2020. Staff from across contact centre were utilised taking calls with the 
core LWSS team processing referrals. LWSS assessing time is still higher than 
pre-Covid, due to changes in the process and, although demand for support 
increased initially, the volume of calls received is now decreasing and is closer 
to pre-Covid volumes. 

We also introduced two new phone lines in direct response to the pandemic, CEV 
Eligibility and Local Track and Trace. 

Staff from face to face have been utilised to help provide support to Golden 
Number, Local Welfare Support Scheme, Council Tax and Benefits calls if they 
were not required at site to help manage the additional demand.    

c) Digital - Web/Online Development 

There were 15,492,699 unique web page views in the financial year 2020/21. This 
was a big increase of 37% compared to 2019/20 which had 11,414,157 views in 
comparison. The main contributor to this increase has been the pandemic which 
has seen many more customers coming onto our website to find support 
(businesses for much needed grants, key messages to the clinically extremely 
vulnerable etc.) and seek information on services affected. There has been 
1,475,037 unique views for our dedicated coronavirus section on the website for 
the public and 85,583 unique views for our staff section. 

As you would expect, this increase in web traffic has resulted in more customers 
self-serving. There were over 1.5 million more instances of self-service in 2020/21 
compared to the previous financial year (citizens checking their bin day, submitting 
an eform, making an online payment, logging in to check rent balance, booking a 
slot at a recycling site etc.) 

Our social media team dealt with 29,809 direct messages in 2020/21, almost 
doubling the previous year where 15,781 direct messages were received. On 
average, these enquiries took 7 minutes 30 seconds to respond to.  

Outgoing Facebook posts reached over 10 million users, many of which 
highlighted key coronavirus related information. We now have 42,195 followers on 
Facebook and 26,544 on Twitter and are on average uploading 60 videos a month 
to YouTube (primarily internal and covering staff training), there were 245,000 total 
video views on our YouTube channel in this time. 

d) Welfare Rights 

The number of customers assisted between 1st April 2020 and 31st March 2021 
was 23,416. This compares to 34,594 for the same period last year (1st April 2019 
to 31st March 2020), a decrease of 32%.  Due to Covid 19, DWP shifted the focus 
of work to process Universal Credit applications and this continues to be the case 

Page 45



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

due to the current economic climate.  The Welfare Rights Unit do not assist with 
Universal Credit applications as the contract for this was awarded to CAB. 
Therefore, there has continued to be a significant reduction in other benefit 
applications that the Welfare Rights Unit do assist with.  The migration from DLA 
to PIP and reviews of benefit awards continued to be on hold and decisions on 
benefit applications continue to be delayed.  The total amount of benefit gains for 
the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021 was £14,031,752.18.  This compares 
to £20,354,764.37 for the same period, 01.04.19 to 31.03.20 – decrease of 31%.  
As the focus of DWP is Universal Credit which the unit does not assist with this 
has reduced the other benefit applications clients have needed assistance with. 

Welfare Rights Client Satisfaction - Despite not providing a face to face service at 
present due to Covid19, the number of responses received is 68.  This is reduced 
as the team generally hand out feedback forms at the face to face appointments 
and no face to face appointments have been conducted.  Out of 68 responses 
received, 99% of clients using the Welfare Rights Unit said the service was 
excellent and 1% felt the service was good. 

Welfare Rights Unit stopped all face to face appointments due to Covid19 and are 
yet to resume.  Face to face appointments continue to be replaced with dedicated 
telephone appointments and numbers have increased from a low of around 15 
appointments per week in May up to 65 per week by October.  We were averaging 
around receiving 90 calls a day before lockdown, the numbers dropped to a low of 
about 40 calls a day by the end of April as DWP activity slowed, but have been 
steadily increasing from May reaching 70 calls a day by October, before increasing 
significantly up to around 100 per day following the introduction of the self-isolation 
payment scheme. As the self-isolation payment scheme has levelled out we are 
now averaging around 70 calls per day. 

Whilst the service has been less busy with benefit related enquiries, the Welfare 
Rights Team have assisted with other areas of work to assist citizens of Leeds 
including RUOK , Befriending, Foodbanks, Hub work once opened and now 
assisting with Self Isolation payments and Housing Annual Tenancy checks. 

The Tribunal Service is still operating and we are still receiving a significant 
number of appeal cases, although at a much lower level than the previous year – 
for the period 01.04.20 to 31.03.21 we received 251 tribunal cases, compared to 
698 for the same period the previous year. Of the decisions made so far we have 
achieved a gain of £686,526.53. 

27 Welfare and Benefits  

a) Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support 

Following the introduction of Universal Credit Full Service in Leeds, there 
continues to be an ongoing decline in the Housing Benefit Caseload for Working 
Age claims. This “natural migration” to UC, when an HB customer has a change in 
their circumstances that meets the DWP’s criteria to warrant a move to UC, will 
continue until “Managed Migration” which will see all the remaining Working Age 
HB claim move to UC en-mass.  

This change remains scheduled for somewhere between 2019 and 2023. After this 
has happened, there will remain HB claims in respect of Pension Age customers 
and those Working Age customers who have been exempted from UC.  

Page 46



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

Natural Migration to Universal Credit has continued during the Covid-19 pandemic, 
however the average monthly decrease in 2020/21 was 434 claims compared to 
678 per month over the period since October 2018.  

In October 2018 the HB caseload was 59,259. In March 2021 this had reduced to 
38,959 however, each change generates additional work to process the claim 
across to Universal Credit. Additionally whilst the HB claims ends, the majority of 
claims that have moved to UC have continued to receive Council Tax Support 
(CTS). 

During 2020/21 there was a significant increase in HB claims for homeless people 
being housed in temporary accommodation. This was due to the government 
initiative of “everyone in” during the pandemic, by which people who were rough 
sleeping, or housed in unsuitable dormitory style hostels were moved to more 
Covid safe housing, by which hotels were used in Leeds. 

The effect of Covid-19 on people’s income has meant that many have had to claim 
Universal Credit for the first time, and consequently many of these householders 
have become entitled to CTS as detailed in the figures below. This unprecedented 
increase in such a short timeframe of new claims for CTS only has placed 
significant additional demand on resources. 

The total number of CTS cases has increased from 62,902 in April 2020 to 66,640 
in March 2021.  For the same period the number of CTS Only claims increased 
from 23,848 to 31,232. 

HB Expenditure for 2019/20 was £207.5m and for 2020/21 is £189.6m. This 
decrease being primarily due to the decrease in caseload as people move to 
Universal Credit 

CTS Expenditure for 2019/20 was £50m, and the total amount of CTS credited to 
Council Tax accounts at the end of Quarter 4 2020/21 is £55.5m with this increase 
primarily due to the increase in claims caused by Covid-19. 

CTS Hardship Funding: The Council were awarded £8.9M by government to 
provide additional support to working age Council Tax Support recipients in Leeds 
during 2020/21.  The full allocation of funding has been used to reduce the Council 
Tax bill for over 35,000 residents in Leeds. 

b) Speed of Processing Housing Benefit 

The most recent figures published by the DWP for the speed of processing are for 
the second quarter 2020/21. 

These figures demonstrate that Leeds continues to process New Claims at a 
speed ahead of the average compared to both regional and national figures, and 
at around the average for the processing of Changes: 

 Speed of Processing Quarter 2 2020/21 

 New Claims Changes 

Great Britain 17 6 

England 17 6 

Yorkshire & The 
Humber 

18 7 

West Yorkshire 13 6 

Leeds 12 6 

Page 47



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

c) Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 

DHP can be awarded to customers in receipt of Housing Benefit, but whose HB 
doesn’t cover their rent in full. Awards are primarily made to customers adversely 
affected by Welfare Reform.  DHP can also be awarded to customers who have 
moved on to Universal Credit where the part of their UC Award in respect of 
Housing Costs is less than their rent.  

In 2020/21 the total budget available for DHP, which includes both a central 
government contribution and a contribution from Leeds HRA, was £2,677,251. The 
contribution from the HRA remained at the same level as in 2019/20 whilst the 
Government Contribution increased by £329,636  

At the end of 2020/21 99% of the total budget had been spent 

d) Local Welfare Support Scheme 

LWSS can be awarded to customers in receipt of qualifying benefits who face 
crisis or are in need of essential household items which they cannot afford. 
Awards are primarily made to customers adversely affected by Welfare Reform. 
The 2020/21 budget for the scheme remained unchanged from the previous year 
at £600k. The spend as at year end was £567k 

The effect of the closure of “non-essential” shops during the Covid-19 lockdowns 
meant that many of the suppliers of goods were forced temporarily close. In 
addition, demand for emergency assistance with food and fuel costs changed, as 
customers sought assistance through the provisions that were introduced to assist 
during the pandemic. 

The additional funding due to Covid-19 came by way of the Local Authority 
Emergency Assistance Grant for Food and Essential Supplies from DEFRA. 

This grant funding for Leeds totalled £1,051,565.15 all of which has been 
committed 

e) Covid-19 Self-Isolation Support Payment 

Benefits Assessment are involved in the processing of claims for this scheme, 
introduced by The Government at the end of September 2020, to provide 
qualifying customers with a £500 payment to cover their period of self-isolation, 
and thereby to avoid them suffering a decrease in income during this period.  

As at the end of March 2021 at total of 2,802 payments have been made to 
qualifying customers. 

f) Financial Inclusion 

The Financial Inclusion team’s activities in 2020/21 have been almost exclusively 
focussed on the work needed to mitigate the impact for people living in hardship 
as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. Since the last update (January 2021) the 
team have:  

  Delivered the COVID-19 Winter Grants Scheme alongside cross council 
colleagues. The aim of the scheme was to enable Local Authorities to provide 
help and support to families and individuals with food, fuel and essential items. 
In Leeds the funding allocated to the city totalled £3.5 million, and has been 
used ensure children entitled to free school meals and children in families in 

Page 48



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

need of support, received food parcels or vouchers over the school holidays at 
Christmas, February and Easter. Over 32,000 children have been supported 
over each holiday period. It has also been used to support over 46,000 working 
age households receiving Council Tax Support with additional payments for 
their fuel costs, and fund food aid and Childrens charities to support their 
clients.  

  Leading the city’s Healthy Holidays programmes – delivered in partnership with 
LCF, Children’s services and third Sector. For 2021, the Department for 
Education allocated substantially increased funding of £3.5 million, directly to 
LCC which will be overseen by the Financial Inclusion Team. This significant 
increase will result in an extensive scale up on the current project with more 
children engaging in the activities across the district. 

  Easter 2021 Healthy Holidays provisions were delivered across three settings: 
31 third sector groups, 26 school partnerships (representing 43 schools) and 10 
community hubs providing activities with food. Provisions ranged from some 
face to face activities to activities and food delivered to homes and/or online 
activities. All projects were delivered in line with Covid-19 safety requirements.   

  Continued development of the ongoing emergency food provision work in 
response to COVID-19 pandemic, including regular meetings and partnership 
working with cross council colleagues, FareShare, third sector organisations, 
VAL and Community Care Hubs.  

  Work is now ongoing to resource and develop the 27 Community Care Hubs, 
providing emergency support to residents across all 33 Leeds wards. This work 
includes regular partnership meetings with Community Care Hubs, VAL, cross 
council colleagues and Fareshare in order to adapt and improve processes and 
services to create sustainable support models as the pandemic situation 
evolves and recovery begins.  

  Provided addition funding alongside LCF and Childrens services to Zero Waste 
Leeds to implement Stage 2 of the uniform exchange scheme – stage 2 of the 
initiative includes introduction of a purpose built Uniform Exchange website 
platform and establishment and coordination of ‘The Big Leeds School Uniform 
Giveaway’ events in August 2021 (originally planned for February/Easter but 
delayed due to COVID-19 National Lockdown). ZWL will also continue the 
earlier work to establish new schemes in the city and look to further developed 
the work to include other items in a ‘backpack’ which could include shoes, 
coats, IT equipment and more.   

  Worked alongside colleagues in Adults Social Care, to assist with the 
development of ‘Shielding flexible support’ in the city - a financial support 
package for people on low income who need to shield.  

  Review of www.leedsmic.org.uk to ensure an up to date picture of the support 
offered by each FI partner is displayed. In addition, the team have continued to 
provide up to date leaflets detailing emergency support available, for use by 
partners and in food parcels delivered across the city. This has included 5000 
leaflets distributed via Easter Healthy Holidays food parcels alone.  

  Development to offer a financial inclusion training package to internal and 
external partners. This has included delivering digital webinars alongside 

Page 49



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

partner organisations to over 60 attendees from Early Help Hubs and Childrens 
Social Services in 2020/21. 

  Worked with colleagues across the Council and external partners including 
Public Health and debt advice providers to monitor and respond to the 
implementation of national Breathing Space regulations.  

  Continued to support Leeds Credit Union (LCU) to aid their membership 
rates/numbers and ensure 4 sites have remained open and delivering services 
to members throughout the pandemic. 

  Continued collaboration with partners across the city via monthly ‘bronze’ 
financial inclusion and food meetings.  

  Worked alongside Children’s Services, Public Health, Leeds Community 
Gambling Service and the Young Gamblers and Gamers Trust to develop a 
communications campaign and a training programme to raise awareness of 
Child Gambling and related harm.  

  Continued work in relation to the funeral poverty agenda – working in 
partnership with Leeds Credit Union and advice partners including Welfare 
Rights to offer residents impacted by funeral poverty access to accessible, 
affordable funeral loans, as well as one to one information and advice. The work 
has also included creating advice leaflets and signposting contact cards which 
are provided (where appropriate) by Leeds Registrars directly to residents in 
need. 

28 Communities Team 

a) Priority Neighbourhoods Programme 

A comprehensive report on the work in priority neighbourhoods throughout 2019 
and 2020 – including Covid-19 related activity - was provided to the Executive 
Board meeting in October 2020 and the EHC Scrutiny Board for its meeting in 
November 2020. The hard work to embed locality working over the years, made a 
real difference throughout the pandemic in the way the whole council and external 
partners were able to respond in our communities. A Locality Working Covid-19 
Recovery and Resilience Plan, for the next twelve months, was submitted and 
approved for implementation at the March 2020 Neighbourhood Improvement 
Board meeting. 

 

b) Migration and Strengthening Communities 

  The Covid-19 Community Champions Project is led by the council, delivered in 
partnership with Voluntary Action Leeds, Forum Central and Hamara, and 
works closely with Public Health and Leeds CCG. Funded by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government until July 2021, the project aims 
to build upon the work that is already taking place in Leeds, and responds to 
local feedback that people need more information about Covid-19, and in 
particular vaccinations, to be able to share accurate information with 
communities. Recruitment of 75 people who live and work in Leeds to support 
their friends, family, neighbours and community to have the information about 
Covid-19 and the vaccine which will help them feel supported, make informed 

Page 50



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

choices and stay safe. Champions will be provided with training, regular Q&A’s 
with health professionals, ongoing support, and opportunities to feedback local 
issues and concerns, to ensure champions have access to up to date 
information and feel confident having conversations about Covid-19 and the 
vaccine and signposting people toward support. The Covid-19 community 
champions micro grants of up to £1,000 aims to support the capacity of 
grassroots level groups and organisations to create materials and/or spaces for 
sharing key health messages around Covid-19, vaccinations, government 
guidance and restrictions in ways that are accessible and appropriate for their 
communities. The community champions project increases outreach, 
engagement and communication with all communities living in Leeds, and 
identified priority groups who have been disproportionately impacted by Covid-
19, including but not limited to; older people, younger people, disabled people 
and Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities. Working with trusted local 
voices we want to build confidence in Covid-19 messaging, testing and the 
vaccine programme and better understand how to address the barriers faced to 
accessing accurate health information.    

  The Prevent Team continues to engage with communities to raise awareness of 
the threat from extremism and radicalisation. As part of these efforts, a virtual 
Prevent Community Roundtable was organised in partnership with colleagues 
at the Home Office which brought together third sector organisations, faith 
establishments and other partners to discuss and consider issues related to 
Prevent. The event attracted 50 people from a variety of backgrounds and 
sectors to hear some really useful presentations on topics including conspiracy 
theories, Right Wing Terrorism, and anti-Semitism.  In addition, and in response 
to a request from the local Syrian community, the Prevent Team developed and 
delivered an online safety training package focusing on radicalisation to parents 
who have expressed concern about the emerging risks that are appearing 
online.  

  The Migrant Access Programme mobilised a virtual service for vulnerable EU 
nationals struggling to register to the EU Settlement Scheme. This service 
proved vital to engage with vulnerable people during the pandemic where many 
services had halted provision, and which created added anxiety. Through 
partnership with EU Consulates, Kirklees Citizen’s Advice and Law Centre, St 
Vincent’s, Seraphus Solicitors, the council’s Customer Access and Welfare 
Rights, over 850 EU nationals have so far been reached to raise awareness; 
supported to apply to the scheme through a number of different stages, such as 
applying for ID documentation which is a first step to applying to the scheme; 
language support; legal support and information. 

  The Communities Team have been active in supporting both the recent 
enhanced testing in Harehills (and surrounding areas of LS8 & LS9) as well as 
supporting the launch of the roving vaccine bus that started its journey around 
the city in Beeston. This support can be split into three main categories. Firstly, 
leading local communication and engagement with key stakeholders (including 
third & faith sector partners, residents & Elected Members) in advance of both 
the enhanced testing in Harehills and the deployment of the vaccine bus in 
Beeston. Secondly, operational support at both the enhanced testing venue and 
at the vaccine bus, which has involved aiding site management and co-
ordination of volunteers. Lastly, the Communities Team have helped with door 

Page 51



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

knocking to deliver targeted communications in order to galvanise local 
residents to action as well as increase understanding of both initiatives. With the 
enhanced testing, approximately 1500 PCR tests were delivered across 10 
LSOAs by numerous volunteers over the course of the 7 days with a return rate 
of around 75%. The launch of the vaccination bus in Beeston saw 171 local 
residents receiving their first dose of the vaccination. Door knocking took place 
in the surrounding 4 LSOAs where volunteers provided information on the 
vaccination bus and encouraging uptake. A total of 18 volunteers took part, 
including support from 6 Migrant Community Networkers with language support 
and community knowledge.   

 

Community Safety (More detail is provided at Appendix 3) 

29 Members’ attention is drawn to the following performance areas: 

30 People in Leeds are safe and feel safe in their homes, in the streets, and the places 
they go   

Safer Leeds strategic focuses is on: Keeping people safe from harm (Victim); 
Preventing & reducing offending (Offender); and Creating Safer, stronger communities 
(Location). 

The West Yorkshire Police & Crime Commissioner ‘Your View’ survey responses to 
March 2020 reported that 84% of Leeds respondents felt 'safe' or 'very safe' in their 
local area, (5,618 Leeds respondents). Leeds feedback was the second most positive 
within West Yorkshire Police force (West Yorkshire Police district level responses 
ranged from 77% to 86%). 

Recent / Emerging Activity: 

 Work during this period has primarily focussed on operational response to the 

pandemic. At a strategic level a group has been established to both co-ordinate the 

response to drivers of serious violence and youth violence, to influence positive 

change across the city and at a neighbourhood level. 

 The Safer Leeds: City Centre Partnership Board has worked collectively during this 

period on managing the local response to changing local and national restrictions. 

 Infrastructure supporting the delivery of the paper based Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (OPCC) ‘Your View’ survey was impacted by the Covid-19 
pandemic. The OPCC Executive team has approved a proposal to run a trial online 
only ‘Your View’ survey. There is an aspiration that an online ‘Your View’ survey will 
increase participation from historically underrepresented groups. 

31 Domestic Violence and Abuse 

 The response to Domestic Violence and Abuse is a priority for the city, focusing upon: 
Supporting victims (adult, children and families); Changing attitudes and perceptions 
(individuals and communities), Challenging behaviours (working with perpetrators), 
and Enabling effective change (workforce and organisational responses). 

The victim self-reporting rate is a Safer Leeds indication of victim confidence to report 
Domestic Violence and Abuse. 29% of 21,789 domestic incidents were victim self-
reported; this is stable as a proportion of all domestic incidents.  

Page 52



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

Domestic Violence and Abuse has been significantly affected by Covid-19. Leeds 
moved quickly to mobilise business continuity plans for Domestic Violence and Abuse 
Services and the arrangements have continued. 

Recent / Emerging Activity: 

 Safer Leeds has worked with the commissioned service Leeds Domestic Violence 
Service (LDVS) to ensure business continuity during the Covid-19 period. The 
services includes – additional helpline capacity, web-chat facilities, as well as the 
normal emailing arrangements, and continued refuge accommodation. 
Arrangements are in place for individuals to be directed/supported towards the 
current housing options arrangements for temporary and emergency 
accommodation when refuge space is not available. LDVS has seen the number of 
calls to the helpline significantly increase. Safer Leeds have worked with Women 
Aid to access Government funding to provide 7 additional units into the city until 
January 2021. All units are currently full. 

 The Council moved its daily DVA MARAC arrangements to a virtual meeting the first 
week of lockdown. Numbers fluctuate between 55-81 cases per week.  

 All refuge places are in the Third Sector with a proportion commissioned by the 
Council. Already demand for refuge outstrips supply. Safer Leeds, Housing Leeds 
and LDVS are working closely to support victims and to explore alternative 
Sanctuary arrangements and ensure safety plans are in place.  

 Strategically, Safer Leeds is introducing a Domestic Violence and Abuse Local 
Partnership Board in line with the Domestic Abuse Bill legislation going through 
parliament. This new statutory Board will run in shadow arrangements until the 
legislation comes into place in April 2021. The new multi-agency Board had its first 
meeting in October 2020. The focus of the Board will be to deliver a needs analysis 
in relation accommodation DVA support requirements, develop a strategy for DVA 
and commission DVA accommodation support services. The Government is 
currently working with local authorities to confirm a funding formula for the new 
statutory duties. 

32 Anti-social Behaviour 

The Leeds Anti-social Behaviour team (LASBT) delivers a multi-tenure service 
operating across Leeds in partnership with a much broader range of agencies and 
support services. LASBT will typically deal with behaviour that cannot be reasonably 
resolved through tenancy management, or mediation. The Leeds ASB Strategy 
redefines the way in which LASBT operates, complements the Council’s inclusive 
growth strategy, and works with children’s services, and adult social care, to support 
vulnerable families. 

19,177 incidents of ASB were recorded by Police in Leeds; this has increased by 20%. 
Youth nuisance continued to represent a high proportion of incidents, (5,951 youth 
nuisance incidents reported, increasing by 9%). 

Recent / Emerging Activity: 

 In 2020/21 the volume of anti-social behaviour service demand connected to the 
student population was unprecedented. LASBT rapidly implemented the North West 
Leeds Public Space Protection Order (PSPO), and established an operational group 
focusing upon community cohesion and communication. Membership includes the 

Page 53



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

universities, the Student Union, West Yorkshire Police, Leeds City Council, and 
elected ward members.  

 In October 2020, as a result of external funding pledges from Universities in Leeds, 
LASBT implemented an “Enhanced Service” of multi-agency patrols. Targeted 
patrols of inner North West Leeds prevent and deter anti-social behaviour, with 
capability to utilise enforcement powers.  Since January 2021, the Enhanced 
Service has also been flexibly deployed to engage with security staff at a number of 
Leeds halls of residence.  

 In March/April 2021, a number of noise abatement notice breaches resulted in 8 
warrants at properties in inner North West Leeds. A number of items including DJ 
decks and high powered speakers have been seized. 

33 Hate Crime 

 Hate crimes and incidents can have devastating consequences for victims and their 
families, and can frighten and divide communities. The priorities and response in 
Leeds reflect national guidance in focusing upon: Preventing hate crime; responding to 
hate crime; increasing the reporting of hate crime; improving support to victims; and 
building an understanding of hate crime. 

There has been an overall reduction in Police reported Hate incidents. The majority of 
reported Hate Incidents refer to harassment, verbal or written abuse. 

Recent / Emerging Activity: 

 Targeted work has taken place with Safer Leeds to raise awareness for Asylum 
Seekers currently living in hotel accommodation due to the restrictions imposed by 
Covid-19. Joint working with Migration Access Project and West Yorkshire Police 
has helped inform people what a hate crime is and how they can report it.  

34 Street Support 

Since the government issued all local authorities with the ‘Everyone In’ directive in 
March 2020, Leeds moved at pace and offered all people on the streets and those at 
risk, safe temporary emergency accommodation.  Over the last year, this includes 
c944 people going through temporary accommodation, of which c200 of those have 
been known to rough sleep in the past. At its peak several commercial hotels were 
being used, with wrap around support being given at each site. There are now only 
two main hotels, one of which is female only provision and the service is working 
towards a full exit plan. Currently there are 48 people in emergency accommodation 
(34 people in the hotels and 14 at the Crypt, commissioned service) and all 48 have a 
housing/ move-on plan.  

Every month a city wide rough sleeping count is carried out. Figures as follows: 
November 2020 = 35 (national return, previous year Nov 2019 =40), Dec 2020=26, 
Jan 2021=18, Feb 2021=25, March 2021=16 and April 2021=19. The trajectory is 
downwards. 

During the last 12 months the service has also worked on increasing the 
accommodation offer, a blended approach to meet the needs of people and at the 
same time ensuring where needed, people are assigned a named navigator as part of 
a planned wrap around support package, to aid move-on and reduce attrition rates.  
This strategy has included both the Council’s provision and new offers through 
external funding. 

Page 54



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

Recent / Emerging Activity: 

 Funding from the MHCLG Next Steps Accommodation Programme has enabled the 
service to pursue the purchase of up to 20 x 1 bed properties, off the open market. 

 As part of the Rough Sleepers Initiative, the Somewhere Safe to Stay Hub 
(previously at St Anne’s Resource Centre) has been remodelled. This is a female 
only emergency accommodation provision and the new premise at Ladybeck Lane 
is on track for an end of June completion. 

 For the cohort of people with No Recourse to Public Funds, the service has been 
able to flexibly utilise funding as part of the Tier 3 allocation to Leeds City Council, 
via Public Health.  

 Funding from the MHCLG has enabled the remodelling of Kirkstall Lodge – a large 
property of 9 x 1 bedroom flats owned by Homegroup in Kirkstall. This will be 
recommissioned and be managed by the Crypt for 1 year. This will re house 8 
people from the cohort in the hotels as part of the exit planning. 

 Recruitment for the Drug and Alcohol Street Based Lifestyle Team is underway.  
The team will provide specialist drug and alcohol support to those rough sleeping or 
former rough sleepers accommodated through E/A. 

 Moving forward, the service is now exploring options to bid for funding to the 
MHCLG as part of the second round of Rough Sleepers Accommodation 
Programme. Currently this includes ongoing conversations around ‘Leeds Asks’ 
including the potential for: 
- Collaborating with a known housing developer to establish between 6/9 modular 

accommodation units. 
- Working with Registered Providers to develop a number of Move-On 

accommodations for people with substance use issues and will include 
appropriate support and move-on plans. 

 In addition, a ‘City Conversation on Rough Sleeping’ is being planned (end of May) 
with a focus on 2 of the big ‘Leeds Asks’: Additional Accommodation Provision; and 
Health and Wellbeing Provision. This will aid and shape the local improvement plan 
‘Move-On: Transition and Recovery Framework’. 

 

Waste and Environment (More detail is provided at Appendix 4) 

35 Members’ attention is drawn to the following performance areas: 

36 Bin Collection Rate  

Despite the unprecedented pressures on service and increase in waste presented 
since the Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown, Leeds City Council continued to 
successfully pick up 99.9% of all planned collections (cumulatively) by period 13 of 
2020/21. The service also introduced all new collection routes and collections days on 
the restart of the garden waste collections in May (end of period 2).  

In excess of 99.9% of all planned collections have been successful from period 1 to 9 
(the exception to this is period 3, which included the resumption of the garden 
collections which shows a 99.86% collection rate compared to 99.91% last year). 
Periods 10 and 11 included the end of the garden waste collection season, Christmas, 
and the severe winter weather that forced services to be disrupted in the latter half of 
period 11. Periods 12 and 13 showed marginally higher missed collections than the 

Page 55



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

same periods in 19/20, this period included lockdown 3 and further severe winter 
weather that disrupted collections.  

(Please refer to the table in Appendix 4 for a breakdown of type of missed bin per 
period.)  

37 Recycling and Landfill 

Recycling rates (Year to Date) have reduced substantially due to the effects of Covid-
19 on service provision and the large and sustained increase in residents’ residual 
waste since the pandemic began. Consequently, Leeds City Council was c.8% lower 
in its overall recycling rate at the end of Q1 compared to last year, which improved to 
c.5% lower at the end of Q2 compared to last year, and further improved at the end of 
Q3, to just over 3% lower compared to last year.  The main factors are the enforced 
HWRC closures from end of March to mid-May and their reduced usage as safe 
distancing is managed on sites, the operational need to suspend garden waste 
kerbside collections from end of March to end of May and a disproportionally large and 
sustained increase in residual (black bin) waste since the first lockdown in March 
2020, which negatively affects the overall recycling calculation.   

Landfill continues to reduce and is well below target, as well as a reduction when 
compared to landfill tonnages in 19/20.  Although the usage of landfill continues to 
reduce, the reduction is higher than usual due to Covid-19 and the enforced HWRC 
closures from end of March to mid-May. As at the end of January 2021, there has 
been approximately 850 tonnes less to landfill than the same time last year. 

38 Street Cleanliness 

It is only recently that the remainder of staff within the service that were affected by 
Covid (i.e. those that were categorised CEV,) have returned to work. The service is 
therefore still very much in a catch up phase. As mentioned in the last update, 
throughout the Pandemic the service has been operating with significantly reduced 
resources and has had to prioritise service delivery. The areas of work that suffered 
the most were mechanical sweeping and manual litter picking. As such some areas 
have had a reduced offer for nearly a year and these areas will take some time to 
recover. 

To aid this recovery, team leaders and charge hands have been asked to identify the 
worst affected areas in their zones and to target resources to bring them up to 
standard as soon as possible. There are still risk assessments and safe systems of 
work in place to safeguard staff against Covid which can sometimes impact on 
productivity and this is likely to continue for a while longer. For example, there are still 
limits on the number of staff that can be transported in a vehicle at any one time. 

An area that has grown significantly during the Pandemic is community litter picking. 
There has been a surge in demand for litter picking equipment including bags, gloves 
and tongs as well as requests for assistance from the service to remove filled bags. 
Litter Free Leeds have been a key part of this helping to co-ordinate the activities of 
these groups. Unfortunately such initiatives aren’t evenly spread across Leeds so 
some outlying areas of Leeds have large numbers of active groups whilst inner City 
areas are less represented. This is something the service is keen to address. 

 

 

Page 56



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

Elections and Regulatory 

39 Members’ attention is drawn to the following performance area: 

40 Parking Functions 

The service has 3 main areas of responsibility:  

 Parking administration including permit schemes;  

 Enforcement of parking and bus lane restrictions; and  

 Managing the council’s on and off street parking operation. 
 

41 Parking administration including Permit schemes  

 In Leeds there are currently 133 Resident Permit areas. Each resident in a zone is 
entitled to a permit for each vehicle registered to the address plus a transferable 
permit for visitors. Residents’ permits are free. They are issued for 3 years and 
renewed on a cycle so the administration work is evened out throughout the year.  

 The Council runs a permit scheme for ULEV (ultra-low emission vehicles) which 
gives free parking in all our spaces. There are currently 1321 permits. There are 
also 12 charging points at Woodhouse Lane Car Park which are free to use.  

 The service also runs chargeable permit schemes for businesses who need to 
access residents’ zones and for essential workers such as health visitors. These are 
£80 a year reduced to £60 for charities. There are 3723 of these permits.  

 The service has been offering free parking for front line staff dealing with COVID in 
partnership with the local NHS. At present 530 permits have been supplied, mainly 
for use at Woodhouse Lane Car Park .The face value of these permits is £130 
each, £68,900 per month.     

 The volume of telephone calls and correspondence is closely related to the issue of 
penalties. Due to lockdown the numbers have reduced significantly as below :   

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
20/21 
Total 

19/20 
Total 

Telephone 4,494 7,017 7,982 8,696 28,189 47,130 

Correspondence 1,620 5,926 6,414 5,576 19,536 34,880 

 
42 Enforcement of parking and bus lane restrictions  

 Parking enforcement was stopped altogether on 22 March. Following complaints 
regarding unsafe parking patrols were resumed in the City centre from 1st May. Bus 
Lane enforcement did not restart until 24 June. The number of offences has 
dropped significantly as a result.  

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
2020/21 
Total 

2019/20 
Total 

Difference 

Parking  1,670 14,288 14,233 10,154 40,345 96,240 58% 

Bus 
Lane  

403 6,599 3,460 1,514 11,976 41,893 72% 

 The number of operational bus lanes was reduced significantly throughout the year 
due to the extensive remodelling of the bus lane network under the Leeds 
Passenger Transport Improvement Project.  When the works are complete the bus 

Page 57



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

routes and the camera network will be different and the effect on the number of bus 
lane offences is not known.  

 The first red route in Leeds has been introduced outside Leeds Bradford Airport and 
is being enforced with fixed cameras.  A red route is a “no stopping” offence 
meaning that drop off, loading etc. is not allowed. Enforcement began in September 
2019. The number of offences was 2029 which compares with 3427 in the six 
months that the cameras were operational in 2019/20.    

 The team has had an unprecedented rise in the number of complaints regarding 
parking at schools since pupils returned. More pupils are being driven to school, 
perhaps due to parental concerns about Covid, and there are more people at home 
during the day than previously, meaning that their cars are still in situ and therefore 
there is less capacity for parking. Additional resources have been allocated and 
several officers are deployed every school day but we do not have the capacity to 
cover the number of requests.    

 
43 Managing the council’s on and off street parking operation 

 The Council controls 2407 on street pay parking spaces and 2373 spaces in car 
parks with budgeted revenue of £8.8m. This is split between cash payment in 
parking machines and card payment through the mobile phone payment system. 
The phone system is increasingly popular and now accounts for 62% of revenue, up 
from 51% in 2018/19.  

 During lockdown parking was completely free up to 4 July. From 4 July – 1 
September a reduced rate was offered on the cashless parking system whilst the 
machines continued to charge the standard price. A review of the reduced rates 
showed that many customers preferred to continue using the machine even when it 
was much more expensive, £2.90 per hour rather than £1. Therefore we decided to 
end the promotional rate from 1 September.  Free weekend parking was offered for 
the first 3 weekends of the re-opening of retail in April 2021. 

 There has been a temporary loss of capacity in the City Centre due to extensive 
roadworks which have affected pay and display spaces. There will also be a 
permanent loss of capacity due to the sale of car parks for building development 
and the changes required for the City Centre park.  

 The cumulative effect is a very significant shortfall in revenue: 

 Budget Actual Shortfall Shortfall 

Woodhouse Lane   £2,438,270 £500,920 £1,937,350 79% 

Other Car parks £1,849,580 £813,570 £1,036,010 56% 

On Street  £4,762,100 £1,568,050 £3,194,050 67% 

Total £9,049,950 £2,882,540 £6,167,410 68% 

 Together with the revenue from parking and bus lane penalties the overall position 
for parking services is a shortfall of £8,143,000.  This has been partly mitigated by 
cost savings to give a total of £7.466,000. As these losses are Covid related a claim 
will be made to the Government compensation scheme which should reduce the 
sum to £2,156,000.  

 It is expected that the Government compensation scheme will end on 21st June to 
coincide with the end of lockdown restrictions. This means that the service is likely 
to continue to face very significant budget pressures into 2021/22. 

Page 58



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

 

Parks and Countryside 

44 Members’ attention is drawn to the following performance areas: 

45 Parks and Green Spaces  

During the pandemic period there has been a significant increase in the usage of 
parks and open spaces as people were restricted to taking exercise and recreation 
locally. This led to an increase in maintenance pressures, particularly around litter 
management at the same time as resource pressures were experienced. A campaign 
is underway to encourage visitors to take home any waste they have to support the 
provision of a cleaner parks estate across the city. As government restrictions are 
eased or amended, phased reopening of facilities is underway although some impacts 
remain. Given the increased numbers of visitors in parks and staffing pressures as a 
result of Covid-19, Parks and Countryside are having to continue to prioritise services. 
The service will continue to honour any commitments for floral decorations where they 
are purchased by community committees, ward members or community groups, which 
will include maintenance as applicable. However, the service will not be supplying and 
maintaining floral decorations to the city centre and surrounding areas this 
spring/summer.  

46 Woodland Creation 

The woodland planting over winter has been very successful with around 200,000 
trees planted, as part of the plan to plant 50 hectares each year on council land.  This 
will help mitigate the effects of climate change, as well as benefit pollinators, wildlife 
and enable people to connect with nature with enhanced recreation value.  The Arium 
continues with a sapling growing programme using seeds collected by volunteers and 
members of the public last autumn with a total of over a million germinated seedlings 
planned to grow on this year for future planting.   All ward members are being 
contacted to update them on trees planted in their area over winter and to discuss 
proposals and ideas for woodland creation so that suitable sites can be identified to 
begin planting in winter later this year.  

47 Street scene Grounds Maintenance 

In common with the whole council workforce, there have been reduced resources due 
to staff being required to isolate, shield or restrict mixing, which has impacted on 
operations. Priority will remain focussed on larger areas of grass situated within 
residential areas in order that these areas can be used for exercise and recreation 
thereby reducing pressure on formal parks and open spaces. 

Strimming work suspended during 2020 has been picked up during the mowing 
closedown period to restore sites to expected standards.  For the mowing season 
2021 changes to arrangements for the cutting of grass adjacent to the highway have 
been introduced.  The largest element is to the mowing frequency of primary network 
roads which typically have a speed limit above 40mph and therefore by law require 
extensive traffic management each time operatives work adjacent to the carriageway.   
Grass cutting will become an annual visit in late summer timed to reflect seasonal 
growth patterns aiming to encourage the formation of native wildflower species seed 
stock within the verge. In addition the service will cease the mowing of rough grass 

Page 59



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE SUMMARY FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY BOARD 

(QUARTER 4 2020/21 OR LATEST AVAILABLE DATA) 
 

 

areas adjacent to country roads whilst ensuring that safety sight lines are sustained.  
Finally the service will be reducing mowing on a small number of severe slopes and 
banked areas that may support the planting of trees as part of the council’s approach 
to meeting the climate emergency and improving air quality.  All of these measures will 
improve the sustainability of the mowing operation, moving closer to alignment with the 
national Plantlife campaign whilst providing improved habitats for urban pollinator 
insects and small mammals. 

 

Page 60



APPENDIX 2 - HOUSING DASHBOARD (QUARTER 4 2020/21)

Target references target set for service or contractor. Baseline references same position in previous financial year. 

Measurement: Cumulative, Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 96.43% Measurement: In month, Polarity: Lower 19-20 YE: 2.19%

Target Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating Baseline Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating

97.25 96.28 96.64 96.70 2 2.19% 2.06% 2.05% 1.97% 3

Measurement: In month, Polarity: Lower 19-20 YE: 540 Measurement: In quarter (table) and cumulative (chart), Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 612

Baseline Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating 20-21 Q2 20-21 Q3 20-21 Q4 20-21 YTD

540 708 718 730 1 116 93 105 411

Measurement: In month, Polarity: Lower

Baseline Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating 19-20 YE

Live 630 851 850 878 1 630

New 51 82 72 100 1 51

Closed 50 86 73 72 50

Claims for disrepair

HRA BUSINESS PLAN

Rent collection Former tenancy arrears

Void properties Right to buy sales

91.00

92.00

93.00

94.00

95.00

96.00

97.00

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of rent collected on rent account

2020-21 2019-20

1.80%

1.90%

2.00%

2.10%

2.20%

2.30%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of former tenancy arrears on rent account

2020-21 2019-20

0

200

400

600

800

1000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of void properties

2020-21 2019-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of new disrepair cases

2020-21 2019-20

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Number of right to buy sales

Total

Page 61



APPENDIX 2 - HOUSING DASHBOARD (QUARTER 4 2020/21)

Target references target set for service or contractor. Baseline references same position in previous financial year. 

Measurement: In month, Polarity: Lower 19-20 YE: 3545 Measurement: In quarter (table) and cumulative (chart), Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 81.4%

Target Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating Baseline 19-20 Q4 20-21 Q1 20-21 Q2 Rating

3777 4085 3983 3810 2 80.0% 80.0% 92.0% 80.0% 3

Reported two month in arrears. Figures subject to adjustment at year end.

Measurement: In month, Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 91% Measurement: In month, Polarity: Lower 19-20 YE: 23

Baseline Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating Baseline Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating

91% 86% 87% 92% 3 23 33 37 34 1

Measurement: In month, Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 75.00%

Target Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating

95.00% 45.00% 42.00% 36.00% 1

95.00% 63.00% 77.00% 70.00% 1

Measurement: In month, Polarity: Lower 19-20 YE: 7

Baseline Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating

6 3 6 11 1

1 1 0 1 3

7 4 6 12 1

Unauthorised encampments

Council Owned Land

Privately Owned Land

Total

Private

HOUSING STRATEGY

Long term (6+ months) empty properties all sectors Housing Association nominations

Homeless preventions Temporary accommodation

Adaptations completed within timescales

Public

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of long term (6+ months) empty properties all sectors

2020-21 2019-20

0

5

10

15

20

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of total unauthorised encampments

2020-21 2019-20

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Adaptations completed within timescales

2019-20 - Sum of MAJOR 	ADAPTATIONS COMPLETED IN TARGET TIMESCALES - PUBLIC

2019-20 - Sum of MAJOR 	ADAPTATIONS COMPLETED IN TARGET TIMESCALES - PRIVATE

2020-21 - Sum of MAJOR 	ADAPTATIONS COMPLETED IN TARGET TIMESCALES - PUBLIC

2020-21 - Sum of MAJOR 	ADAPTATIONS COMPLETED IN TARGET TIMESCALES - PRIVATE

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of homeless preventions

2020-21 2019-20

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of temporary accommodation reliefs

2020-21 2019-20

72%

74%

76%

78%

80%

82%

84%

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

% of successful Housing Association Nominations

% of successful Housing Association Nominations

Page 62



APPENDIX 2 - HOUSING DASHBOARD (QUARTER 4 2020/21)

Target references target set for service or contractor. Baseline references same position in previous financial year. 

Measurement: In month, Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 96.92% Measurement: In month, Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 92.84%

Baseline Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating Target Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating

96.92% 88.50% 96.18% 96.29% 2 99.00% 71.37% 71.21% 68.68% 1

13317 15299 17210

9505 10895 11820

Excludes adaptations

Measurement: In month, Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 94.44% Measurement: In month, Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 90.91%

Target Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating Target Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating

90.50% 93.52% 93.52% 93.20% 3 90.00% 96.67% 94.49% 97.48% 3

6851 8870 9861 120 127 119

6407 8295 9190 116 120 116

Excludes adaptations Excludes BITMO and adaptations

Measurement: In quarter, Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 92.12% Measurement: In month Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 99.77%

Target 20-21 Q2 20-21 Q3 20-21 Q4 Rating Target Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating

90.00% 87.10% 0.00% 0.00% 99.78% 99.59% 99.59% 99.78% 3

186 0 0 43950 43971 43977

162 0 0 43772 43789 43881
*Currently unavailable due to COVID-19

Satisfaction with advice and guidance whilst moving home indicator is being developed and will be reported under the tenancy standard

Measurement: In month Polarity: Lower 19-20 YE: 29.6 Measurement: In quarter and cumulative, Polarity: Higher 20-21 YE: 240

Target Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating 20-21 Q2 20-21 Q3 20-21 Q4 19-20 YTD

30.00 81.32 80.27 79.26 1 15 123 99 346

Average relet times Mutual exchanges

Jobs competed Positive responses

Satisfaction with capital works completed Gas services completed on time

Percentage Percentage

Total surveys Dwellings with gas

Positive responses Dw. with valid cert.

TENANCY STANDARD

Responsive repairs completed right first time Satisfaction with responsive repairs completed

Percentage Percentage

Total jobs Total surveys

Jobs competed

HOUSING CONSUMER STANDARDS

HOME STANDARD

Properties meeting the Decency Standard Responsive repairs completed within timescales

Percentage

Total jobs

80.00

85.00

90.00

95.00

100.00

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of properties meeting decency standard

2020-21 2019-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Average days taken to relet empty properties

2020-21 2019-20

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of responsive repairs completed within timescales

2020-21 2019-20

89.00%

90.00%

91.00%

92.00%

93.00%

94.00%

95.00%

96.00%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of responsive repairs completed right first time

2020-21 2019-20

80.00%

85.00%

90.00%

95.00%

100.00%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage satisfied responses for responsive repairs completed

2020-21 2019-20

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Percentage satisfied responses for capital works completed

2020-21 2019-20

97.00%

97.50%

98.00%

98.50%

99.00%

99.50%

100.00%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of gas services completed on time 

2020-21 2019-20

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

Number of mutual exchanges (latest month reported in current year)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Page 63



APPENDIX 2 - HOUSING DASHBOARD (QUARTER 4 2020/21)

Measurement: In month, Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 74.85% Measurement: In month, Polarity: Higher 19-20 YE: 94.00%

Target Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating Target Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Rating

196 232 261 5272 5391 5864

175 209 170 4373 4629 4917

95.00% 89.30% 90.10% 65.10% 1 90.00% 83.00% 86.00% 84.00% 1
*Reported a month behind due to timescales 19-20 YE: 79.49% 19-20 YE: 96.00%

35 33 38 14226 14081 14079

28 25 33 12543 12762 12370

95.00% 80.00% 75.80% 86.80% 1 90.00% 88.00% 91.00% 88.00% 1

Excludes BITMO

Stage 2 Repairs Line

Stage 1 Housing Line

Complaints received Calls received

Responded to on time Calls answered

Responded to on time Calls answered

TENANT INVOLVEMENT AND EMPOWERMENT STANDARD

Complaints responded to within timescale Calls answered at the contact centre

Complaints received Calls received

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of stage 1 complaints responded to within timescale

2020-21 2019-20

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of calls answered on the housing line

2020-21 2019-20

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of stage 2 complaints responded to within timescale

2020-21 2019-20

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of calls answered on the repairs line

2020-21 2019-20

Page 64



APPENDIX 3 – SAFER LEEDS PERFORMANCE INFORMATION (latest available 2021) 
 

Performance 
area 

Performance 
Reports / 
Data 

BCP 
Priority? 

Summary comments drawing out performance issues for noting/discussion 

Community 
Safety  

Safer Leeds 
Executive 
Board 
Indicator. 
Police & 
Crime 
Commissioner 
Reporting. 

BCP 57 
Percentage of 
Leeds 
residents who 
say they feel 
safe in their 
local area 

 

People in Leeds are safe and feel safe in their homes, in the 
streets, and the places they go (Safer Leeds strategic outcome). 

Apr-19 to 
Mar-20 

Change 

↔ Respondents ‘feel safe’ in the local area 84% 3% 

↔ Respondents agree the CSP does a fair/good/excellent job 80% 1% 

 
Key Issues: 
 

 Infrastructure supporting the delivery of the paper based Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (OPCC) ‘Your View’ survey was impacted by the Covid-19 
pandemic. The OPCC Executive team has approved a proposal to run a trial online 
only ‘Your View’ survey. There is an aspiration that an online ‘Your View’ survey will 
increase participation from historically underrepresented groups. 

 

 Leeds City Council and Safer Leeds actively promoted the online ‘Your View’ survey 
through social media networks. Results of the online ‘Your View’ survey are 
anticipated in May 2021. 
 

 
 

  

P
age 65



APPENDIX 3 – SAFER LEEDS PERFORMANCE INFORMATION (latest available 2021) 
 

 
Performance 
area 

Performance 
Reports / 
Data 

BCP 
Priority? 

Summary comments drawing out performance issues for noting/discussion 

Domestic 
Violence and 
Abuse 

Safer Leeds 
Executive 
Board 
Indicator. 
DVA Board 
Accountability 
Indicator. 
DVA 
Breakthrough 
Project 
 

BCP 54 
Increased 
self-reporting 
of domestic 
violence and 
abuse 
incidents 

 

Focus upon Safeguarding  
(Safer Leeds Key Performance Indicator) 

Apr-20 to 
Mar-21 

Change 

↔ Domestic incidents  21,789 1% 

↓ Domestic incidents which are victim self-reported (count) 6,337 -5% 

↔ Domestic incidents which are victim self-reported (rate) 29% -2% 

↔ High risk domestic incidents (DASH) with repeat victims 1,502 2% 

 
Key Issues: 
 

 21,789 domestic incidents were reported to the Police in 12 months, 12 month 
volume was stable.  
 

 The victim self-reporting rate is a Safer Leeds indication of victim confidence to 
report Domestic Violence and Abuse. 28% of 21,789 domestic incidents were self-
reported to end of March 2021.  
 

 1,502 domestic incidents were reported with a high risk DASH assessment, and a 
repeat victim flag. 12 month volume has increased by 2%. 

 
 

  

P
age 66



APPENDIX 3 – SAFER LEEDS PERFORMANCE INFORMATION (latest available 2021) 
 

Performance 
area 

Performance 
Reports / 
Data 

BCP 
Priority? 

Summary comments drawing out performance issues for noting/discussion 

Anti-social 
Behaviour 

Safer Leeds 
Executive 
Board 
Indicator. 
Police & 
Crime 
Commissione
r Reporting. 

BCP 58 
Number of 
reported anti-
social 
behaviour / 
nuisance 
incidents 

 

Focus upon Anti-social Behaviour  
(Safer Leeds Key Performance Indicator) 

Apr-20 to 
Mar-21 

Change 

↑ Police reported ASB incidents (count) 19,177 20% 

↑ Youth related 5,951 9% 

↑ Nuisance motorcycle / quad 3,714 58% 

↑ Adult nuisance – non alcohol 3,275 24% 

↑ Neighbour related 3,089 28% 

↔ Leeds Anti-social Behaviour team closed caseload  2,817 1% 

↔ Noise 627 4% 

↑ Threats / Actual Violence 294 37% 

↓ Rowdy Behaviour 142 -33% 

↔ Verbal abuse 118 -2% 

 
Key Issues: 
 

 19,177 incidents of ASB were recorded by Police in Leeds; this has increased by 
20%. There is a suggestion that legislation introduced in response to the pandemic 
has heightened an awareness of / willingness to report anti-social behaviour issues 
in communities. 
 

 The Safer Leeds partnership has successfully implemented enforcement powers as 
part of the wider response to nuisance motorcycles.  

 

 Leeds City Council works with partners in Leeds, including West Yorkshire Police, to 
resolve anti-social behaviour at the earliest opportunity. 2,817 ASB cases were 
closed (resolved) by the multi-agency Leeds Anti-social Behaviour team. 

  

 

P
age 67



APPENDIX 3 – SAFER LEEDS PERFORMANCE INFORMATION (latest available 2021) 
 

Performance 
area 

Performance 
Reports / 
Data 

BCP 
Priority? 

Summary comments drawing out performance issues for noting/discussion 

Hate Crime Safer Leeds 
Executive 
Board 
Indicator. 
Strategic 
Hate Crime 
Board 
Indicator.  

BCP 59 
Number of 
reported hate 
incidents 

 

Focus upon Hate Crime  
(Safer Leeds Key Performance Indicator) 

Apr-20 to 
Mar-21 

Change 

↔ Police reported Hate incidents 2,784 -4% 

↔ Race Hate Incidents* 2,198 0% 

↑ Sexual Orientation Hate Incidents* 406 6% 

↔ Disability Hate Incidents* 332 -3% 

↓ Faith Hate Incidents* 154 -12% 

↓ Transphobic Hate Incidents* 88 -19% 

↓ Racially / Religiously aggravated offences (count)** 1,634* -13% 

*Dec-20 
**Feb-21 

Key Issues: 
 

 The volume of Police reported hate incidents was broadly stable (-4% reduction in 
12 months). The majority of reported hate incidents refer to harassment, verbal or 
written abuse. Reduced city centre footfall has impacted city centre hate incident 
volume. There is suggestion of an increase in Hate Incidents that are neighbour 
related.  

 

 1,634 Racially or Religiously aggravated offences were recorded in Leeds within 12 
months, reflecting a commitment to robustly challenge hate in Leeds. 

 
 

 

P
age 68



APPENDIX 4 – WASTE PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 
(Latest available 2020-21)     

 

 

Performance 
area 

Performance 
Reports / 
Data 

 Summary comments drawing out performance issues for noting/discussion 

Missed bins 
per 100,000 

Monthly trend 
report 

 
MISSED BINS PER 100,000 AND % MISSED 20/21 YTD 

4 week period 
commencing 

23/3/ 
2020 

20/4/ 
2020 

18/5/ 
2020 

15/6/ 
2020 

13/7/ 
2020 

10/8/ 
2020 

7/9/ 
2020 

5/10/ 
2020 

2/11/ 
2020 

30/11/ 
2020 

28/12/ 
2020 

25/1/ 
2021 

22/2/ 
2021 

Period number 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 

Residual - Black 73.1 72.6 84.6 62.0 60.2 58.5 57.2 42.5 72.5 116.8 227.6 229.7 135.8 

SORT - Green 0.0 50.3 69.8 52.4 48.0 42.1 54.4 34.9 57.4 88.0 219.3 194.0 113.0 

Garden - Brown 4.2 0.2 506.9 212.5 126.6 97.6 98.3 62.6 106.0 20.2 0.0 0.0 6.3 

Overall 64.4 62.9 168.3 90.4 70.1 61.0 64.9 44.1 74.3 109.6 224.0 214.2 127.6 

Missed Collection 
% 

0.06% 0.06% 0.15% 0.09% 0.07% 0.06% 0.06% 0.04% 0.07% 0.11% 0.22% 0.21% 0.13% 

Collections Made 
% 

99.94% 99.94% 99.85% 99.91% 99.93% 99.94% 99.94% 99.96% 99.93% 99.89% 99.78% 99.79% 99.87% 

Collections Made 
cumulative % 

99.94% 99.94% 99.90% 99.91% 99.91% 99.92% 99.92% 99.92% 99.92% 99.92% 99.91% 99.90% 99.90% 

Equivalent 4 
week period 19/20 

Missed 
Collections % 

0.07% 0.07% 0.09% 0.09% 0.07% 0.10% 0.08% 0.06% 0.06% 0.06% 0.07% 0.07% 0.07% 

Equivalent 4 
week period 19/20 
Collections Made 

% 

99.93% 99.93% 99.91% 99.91% 99.93% 99.90% 99.92% 99.94% 99.94% 99.94% 99.93% 99.93% 99.93% 

 

  

 

P
age 69



Performance 
area 

Performance 
Reports / 
Data 

 Summary comments drawing out performance issues for noting/discussion 

Recycling Monthly trend 
report 

  

Household 
Recycling 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
20/21 
Total 

2020/21 YTD 
Target 

(cumulative) 

47.47
% 

48.62
% 

48.96
% 

48.09
% 

47.78
% 

47.52
% 

47.33
% 

47.03
% 

46.18
% 

45.46
% 

44.96
% 

44.99
% 

45.00
% 

2020/21 Monthly 
Achieved 

20.60
% 

33.96
% 

45.67
% 

41.59
% 

41.68
% 

40.66
% 

36.07
% 

36.90
% 

29.83
% 

25.55
% 

- - - 

2020/21 YTD 
Achieved 

(cumulative) 

20.60
% 

28.00
% 

35.23
% 

37.00
% 

37.94
% 

38.40
% 

38.08
% 

37.94
% 

37.12
% 

36.08
% 

- - - 

2019/20 Monthly 
Achieved  

41.57
% 

43.17
% 

43.81
% 

44.33
% 

44.09
% 

42.44
% 

35.40
% 

35.34
% 

30.20
% 

29.16
% 

28.97
% 

34.36
% 

38.25
% 

2019/20 YTD 
Achieved 

(cumulative) 

41.57
% 

42.39
% 

42.86
% 

43.24
% 

43.41
% 

43.26
% 

42.22
% 

41.44
% 

40.40
% 

39.34
% 

38.58
% 

38.25
% 

38.25
% 

 

 

P
age 70



 

Tonnage to 
Landfill 
(domestic 
waste only) 

Monthly trend 
report 

  

Domestic 
Landfill 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

2020/21 
Monthly 
Target (t) 

741.12 
2,395.6

2 
822.25 919.58 802.83 644.19 691.02 644.11 526.77 678.67 555.57 623.28 

10,045.
00 

2020/21 YTD 
Target 

(cumulative) 
(t) 

741.12 
3,136.7

3 
3,958.9

8 
4,878.5

6 
5,681.3

9 
6,325.5

7 
7,016.5

9 
7,660.7

0 
8,187.4

7 
8,866.1

4 
9,421.7

2 
10,045.

00 
10,045.

00 

2020/21 YTD 
Target 

(cumulative) 
% 

2.71% 5.19% 4.41% 4.19% 3.96% 3.75% 3.58% 3.46% 3.36% 3.30% 3.25% 3.18% 3.18% 

2020/21 
Monthly 

Achieved (t)  
24.61 148.21 256.71 276.44 556.66 275.18 556.42 605.74 602.06 209.42 - - - 

2020/21 YTD 
Achieved 

(cumulative) 
(t)  

24.61 172.81 429.52 705.97 
1,262.6

3 
1,537.8

0 
2,094.2

2 
2,699.9

6 
3,302.0

3 
3,511.4

5 
- - - 

2020/21 YTD 
Achieved 

(cumulative) 
% 

0.12% 0.37% 0.54% 0.64% 0.91% 0.93% 1.09% 1.24% 1.36% 1.32% - - - 

2019/20 
Achieved 

(cumulative) 
540.13 

1,039.2
2 

1,471.1
2 

1,952.4
8 

2,456.0
1 

2,912.4
0 

3,310.3
6 

3,609.4
8 

3,930.1
3 

4,362.6
8 

4,726.6
6 

5,092.5
9 

5,092.5
9 

2019/20 
Achieved 

(cumulative) 
2.03% 1.89% 1.79% 1.76% 1.77% 1.78% 1.75% 1.69% 1.67% 1.68% 1.69% 1.68% 1.68% 

 

 

 

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

The report is to update the Board on the outcome of the LASBT review, which was implemented in 

2019 

The review was completed due to the nature of the issues facing LASBT having evolved, an 

increase in demand for the service and LASBT was also responding to a far greater number of 

complex cases and high-risk incidents. 

The volume of incoming referrals relating to noise nuisance, in particular, was significantly limiting 

the team’s ability to deliver much needed work around prevention, intervention and community 

empowerment. 

The breadth of issues being referred also increased. The interpretation of many people outside of 

the service of what constitutes ‘anti-social behaviour’ expanded, with ASB becoming a ‘catch all’ for 

activity ranging from minor instances of noise nuisance to serious criminal activity. 

The positive impacts of the review included ensuring people will feel safer across the city, 

increasing community cohesion as people feel safer in their neighbourhoods, ensuring there is a 

coordinated response to ASB and clear expectations given to public on what the service can 

provide. 

The work reflects the ambitions set out within the ‘Safe, Strong Communities’ Best City priority 

within the Best Council Plan 2020-2025.  

Recommendations -  

Members are asked to note the contents of the report 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
The Board was updated on the initial implementation of the recommendations that came out of the 

LASBT review during 2020/21 and asked for a further update on progress during 2021/22.  

 

LASBT Review 

Date: 07/05/2021 

Report of: Chief Officer, Safer Leeds 

Report to: Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Report author: Claire Smith 

Tel: 0113 3786428 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5



What impact will this proposal have? 

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

1. Consultation was carried out with all Ward Members and stake holders at the time of 

implementation 

Updates have been previously provided at Scrutiny 

The work around the Triage was reviewed at six months and at twelve months with ward 
members and housing. 

Ward members have been updated regarding the Location of the West Team 

Police referrals process was reviewed by Triage and WYP 

 

What are the resource implications? 

2. Resource is currently in place in line with what was agreed initially, however due to a huge 

increase in the number of enquiries received within the Triage system we have had to 

provide additional support to the service. This additional support has been provided via the 

re-allocation pool and staff that have been asked to carry out reasonable duties due to their 

current circumstances. 
 

What are the legal implications?  

3. The team works in accordance with several legislative frameworks relating to the role they 
carry out. These are enshrined in law to support victims of statutory nuisance and ASB. 
Summary as follows:- 

 The Environmental Protection act 1990.  

 The Anti-social behaviour, crime and policing act 2014 

 The Equality act. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

4. Work is ongoing at a senior leadership level regarding repurposing of roles to seek extra 

resource within the Triage due to the huge surge in enquires 

We have developed the THRIVE risk assessment process to enable us to identify risk within 
the service request. Due to the volume there is also a preliminary assessment done by 
officer on every case so high risk vulnerable cases are processed first. 

  

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars? 

☒Inclusive Growth  ☒Health and Wellbeing  ☐Climate Emergency 

  

Appendices 

1a - LASBT Review Updates 

2a – Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 

 

Background papers 

Wards Affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☒Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 74



Appendix 1a 
 

LASBT Review Update 

 Triage of referrals  
The LASBT Triage Team was created as a direct result of the LASBT review. Over the last 12 
months there has been an active action plan process adopted to ensure the team processes 
are developed to ensure its primary functions are met. This has resulted in many new 
processes being implemented after due consultation with key stake holders both internally 
and within external partners.  

This includes West Yorkshire Police regarding a new Police referral system and Housing 
Leeds regarding various working practices e.g.  relating to risk assessment, noise 
investigation process to name two. 

Elected members have played a key role in agreeing and consulting on the development of a 
LASBT elected members direct email address to triage, ensuring escalating incidents can be 
identified earlier and resolved swiftly. 

Regular liaison meetings established with Team leaders from for the call centre. 

Regular updates and training/awareness with colleagues within Leeds watch process. 

Third sector communications to Register social landlord and register charities has also been 
developed so a good working relationship has been established.  

We now have a Twitter profile and are looking to develop a social media strategy so we can 
update, advise and reassure our customers as well as promoting this unique Team.  

The table below details the service request and the need for developing new working 
practices detailed within an active action plan. 

Month 
 

C360 CATS Emails OOH 
witnessed. 

Total 

February 
2020 

No data  No data No data  

March  493  499 85 1077 

April  486  678 30 1194 

May 769  797 74 1640 

June 766  1023 162 1951 

July 666  1112 295 2073 

August 663  1216 221 2100 

September 518  862 156 1536 

October 423  709 111 1253 

November 373  810 104 1287 

December  341 915 68 1324 

January 2021  435 1260 70 1765 

February  553 990 70 1613 

March Online 
customer 

records began 

1042 715 95 1850 

April 1140 739 130 2009 

Monthly 
Average 

573 
 

702 880 119 1619 

Page 75



Appendix 1a 
 

The above table represents service request recorded by LASBT Triage over the last 14 

months.  

The table represents the main sources of reports. These are covered in more detail below. 

C360  (previous reporting system.) Reports to our call centre from customer’s colleagues 

and elected members were recorded on this system. These cases were always input by a call 

taker (CSO) onto the system, this was the first line of risk assessment, often Colleagues 

would email, IM or call through to the team for advice or to inform on risk. 

We also received emails from LASBT inbox, E&N noise inbox, LASBT Customer care inbox, 

LASBT Domvil and our own LASBT Triage. Emails consisted of further enquiries by 

customers, colleagues and elected members and partnership requests. It was also the only 

route for the online noise nuisance report from to be sent to Triage. 

Emails or the online reports presented the team with an unknown threat, harm, and risk. 

These had to be prioritised on a daily basis to ensure persons, property or locations were 

not left at risk.  

The email inboxes been review, streamlined with some closures to save confusion and 

duplication. 

Active emails inboxes:-  LASBT Triage. LASBT members and LASBT Domvil. 

Triaged developed a daily prioritising system whereby an officers are tasked to review all 

C360 and emails for immediate risk. This also ensured service delivery of serious cases was 

met. 

The pandemic soon became the focus of calls for service. This included noise, neighbour 

disputes etc. and associated ASB. The table clearly shows this is still the case with figure 

double the amount the same month last year. They are not reducing. 

December 2020 saw the introduction of CATS recording system. This was initially an internal 

process. Since March 2021 this has become an external reporting system where noise 

nuisance can be recorded directly onto the CATS system by customer. This is reflected in the 

CATS figures for March and April 2021. 

This has also changed the dynamics of threat, harm, and risk as we now have more reports 

not seen or assessed by call takers as previously identified with C360.  

Initial estimates of service request were based on 2017/2018. The team began operating on 
the 20th Jan 2020. It was still in its infancy with development and learning being cascaded to 
the new officer whilst carrying out the role. By 17th March all Officers were working from 
home isolated from their team and supervision. Calls began to rise as the communities came 
to terms with all being at home and hearing noise they had not previously experienced, 
young children off school, cars parked on streets and drive ways and parties. All of this led 
to a dramatic increase in our calls for service. Noise, neighbour disputes and ASB. Current 
resource levels are five Triage officers and one supervisor. Plans were developed to seek 
assistance from colleagues in LASBT teams, processes developed to increase output, 
ensuring quality didn’t suffer. Over the last 12 months the team have guested seven other 

Page 76



Appendix 1a 
 

officers from various skill sets, mainly from the talent pool, without who the process would 
have collapsed. The numbers have now remained constant for the last six to eight months, 
double the initial estimates.  

 Community MARAC 

Community MARACs have now been renamed ASB MARAC, due to the pandemic there has 

only been a minimal number of referrals and of those received LASBT were able to intervene 

at an early stage and resolve by holding case conferences with the relevant partners.  The 

ASB awareness week is in June and due to the easing of lockdown the ASB MARACs will be 

promoted 

 Mediation 

Due to the pandemic and the cut in budgets this is no longer an area of work that will be 

explored at this time.  However should funding become available this is something we will 

look at addressing. 

As part of a case officer’s role it is to resolve cases at the earliest opportunity and part of 

this is discussing concerns with our customers and looking at resolving by developing an 

action plan that is agreed. 

 Noise 

Noise continues to be one of our largest areas for complaints, we have now created a new 

website with a decision tree around noise.  The website gives advice to customers regarding 

noise complaints.  The website has been a huge success but has seen an increase in the 

number of complaints being made including anonymous complaints. 

We are looking at on a trial basis at The Noise App (TNA), the app utilises smartphone 
technology to enable customers to submit complaints and noise reports. It is used by over 
270 Local Authorities and Housing Associations across the UK  
 
Reliance on the use of traditional diary sheets can be viewed as outdated, as the data 
provided is subjective, often of poor evidential value, open to misinterpretation and difficult 
to verify; the data collection can be for an extended period of time, during which the victim 
continues to be subjected to disturbance.  Although the option of traditional diaries will still 
be available. 
 
TNA captures significantly more information than traditional paper diary sheets, letters, 
online forms and telephone calls. This includes timestamps and geo-tagged reports.  
 
Malicious, vexatious and/or repetitive allegations can be quickly reviewed, filtered and 
closed, avoiding the need for unwarranted and protracted investigation.  
 
The system is cloud-based and accessible 24/7 to complainants and investigators  
 
 

Page 77



Appendix 1a 
 

 Communication 

Our new website has now been created around ASB and Noise nuisance, the website has 

clear information about details such as anticipated response times. Officers are empowered 

to challenge unrealistic expectations and to set out, if necessary, the limitations of tools 

available to them in some circumstances. The consultation process highlighted a gap in 

terms of social media presence, the LASBT teams including Triage are now using Twitter on 

a regular basis and shows instance of successful enforcement, along with advice or 

information. 

 Location of the West team 

The West Team have now been relocated to the Armley Community Hub which is close to 

one of the priority neighbourhoods 

 ASB Strategy 

ASB Strategy has been developed (please see appendix 2a) 

 

Page 78



Ta
sk

in
g 

M
ee

tin
g

A
ct

io
ns

 T
ak

en
C

on
cl

us
io

n

Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy

2019-2022AFT

D
Behaviour Strategyehaviour Strate

22

Page 79



1
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2022

1
Foreword

Welcome to Leeds City Council’s 
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 

2019-22.  This strategy sets out our 
priorities for preventing and tackling 
anti-social behaviour for the next three 
years, with the aim of ensuring that 
residents in Leeds are safe and feel 
safe. 

Partnership working has long been 
at the heart of our city’s approach to 
preventing and tackling anti-social 
behaviour. A multi-agency unit – 
Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Team 

City Council, West Yorkshire Police, 
Housing Leeds, Belle Isle Tenant 
Management Organisation, Youth 
Offending, and Victim Support. 

LASBT delivers a specialist anti-social 
behaviour service through locally 
based teams covering the South and 
City Centre, East North East, and West 
North West areas of Leeds. 

Anti-social behaviour continues 
to be a priority for many of our 
neighbourhoods. It is often a symptom 

of deep rooted issues and we recognise 
that no one agency can resolve the 
problems in isolation. 

Clearly communities are best served 
by not having to experience ASB in 

advocates an approach to ASB based 
on prevention, ideally delivered 
through effective community 
engagement.  The strategy provides 
a framework for our work that 

prevention, intervention, enforcement, 
community empowerment and 
integrated intelligence.  

The Safer Leeds Community Safety 
Strategy 2018-2021 sets out an ambition 
to ensure that people in Leeds are safe 
and feel safe in their homes, in the 
streets and the places they go. We are 
working hard to reduce levels of anti-
social behaviour to contribute towards 
this wider ambition, and this strategy 
will assist us in extending the impact 
of our activity to improve the response 
residents receive from our service.  

Councillor Debra Coupar
Executive Member for Communities

DRAFT
20
prior
anti-so
years, witwit
residents indents in
safe. afe. 

Partnership workinPartnership workin
at the heart of our citat the heart of our ci
preventing and tacklingpreventing and tackl
behaviour. A multi-agencyehaviour. A multi-ag
Leeds Anti-Social Behavioueds Anti-Social Be

City Council, West Yorkshire PoliCity C
Housing Leeds, Belle Isle Tenant Housing Leeds, Belle Isle Tenant 
Management Organisation, Youth Management Organisation, Youth 
Offending, and Victim Support. Offending, and Victim Support. 

SBT delivers a specialist anti-social SBT delivers a specialist anti-
viour service through locally e through loca

eams covering the South and ng the Sou
e, East North East, and West h East

areas of Leeds. Leeds

viour continues iour continues 
many of our many of our 

often a symptom ften a sy

an
streeee
workinworkin
social behsocial beh
this wider amthis wider am
will assist us inist us in
of our activity to vity to 

D
residents receive frresidents receive 

Page 80



2
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2022

2
Introduction

The Safer Leeds Community Safety 
Strategy 2018-21 and Leeds City 

Council’s Best Council Plan 2018/19-
2020/21 both set out a clear ambition to 
make Leeds a place where everyone is 
safe and feels safe.

Safer Leeds has also agreed the 
following shared priorities for the next 
three years:

 Keeping people safe from harm
 Preventing and reducing   

offending
 Creating safer, stronger 

communities

Anti-social behaviour can cause 
considerable distress to individuals, 
their families and communities. It can 
be damaging and can escalate into 
more serious behaviours. 

ASB is often a visible symptom of 
deep-rooted problems linked to risk 
factors borne out of persistent social 
and economic inequalities. Building 

neighbourhoods most at risk has the 
potential to complement wider work 
ongoing across the local authority 
linked to the Inclusive Growth and 
Health and Well-Being Strategies. 

This ASB strategy aims to deliver 
positive outcomes for communities by 
preventing ASB before it occurs and 
intervening early, using insight gained 
from integrated intelligence, in order to 
reduce the risk of negative behaviour 
escalating. 

People who come into contact with 
our services can have multiple and 
complex needs so it is essential that 
we have a person-centred approach 
that embeds the Think Family/Work 
Family ethos endorsed by Safer 
Leeds.  This will be strengthened by 
adopting a collective response to – and 
responsibility for - problem solving. 

Within this context it is important 
that enforcement action can also be 
used to protect individuals, families 
and communities, as well as providing 

appropriate consequences for those 

In recent years we have made real 
progress in preventing and tackling 
anti-social behaviour. We know, 
however, that there is still more we can 
do in order to reduce ASB and improve 
the quality of life for residents across 
Leeds. 

With our partners in Safer Leeds we 
have committed work more closely 
with communities, so that residents 
are empowered to resolve problems 

of the Safer Leeds Community Safety 
Strategy, Leeds City Council’s Inclusive 
Growth Strategy and the Best Council 
Plan. 

Mission Statement

LASBT will seek to tackle anti-social behaviour at the earliest opportunity through a 
tiered approach of prevention, intervention and enforcement. 

It will do so through strengthening community engagement, making best use of inte-
grated intelligence and ensuring people are at the heart of our approach. 

FT

DRAFT
mmunity Safetymmunity Safety

21 and Leeds City 21 and Leeds City 
ouncil Plan 2018/19-ouncil Plan 2018/19-

h set out a clear ambition to h set out a clear ambition to 
eds a place where everyone is eds a place where everyone is 

d feels safe.d feels 

has also agreed the has also agreed the 
red priorities for the next red priorities for the nex

afe from harmrm
ucing    

li
Heal

This ASBSB
positive outtive out
preventing ASpreventing AS
intervening earlintervening earl
from integrated intfrom integrated in
reduce the risk of negreduce the risk of ne
escalating. escala

People who come into contaople who come in
our services can have multipleur services can h
complex needs so it is essential tompl
we have a person-centred approachwe have a person-centred approach
that embeds the Think Family/Work that embeds the Think Family/Work
Family ethos endorsed by Safer Family ethos endorsed by Safer 
Leeds.  This will be strengthened by Leeds.  This will be strengthened b

opting a collective response to – and opting a collective response to
onsibility for - problem solving. - problem sol

s context it is important is imp
ment action can also be tion can also be 

individuals, families ividuals, families 
s, as well as providing , as well as providing 

PlFT

Page 81



3
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2022

3

A wide range of activities, causing 
varying degrees of harm, could be 

interpreted as anti-social behaviour. 
For the purposes of this strategy the 

adopted by Leeds Anti-Social 
Behaviour Team (LASBT) is outlined 
below.   

The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 

of ASB depending upon whether the 
ASB is related to a housing function. 

Where anti-social behaviour has 
occurred in a housing context, LASBT 
will consider whether the conduct 
is capable of causing nuisance or 
annoyance to a person in relation to 

that person’s occupation of residential 
premises or whether the conduct is 
capable of causing housing-related 
nuisance or annoyance to any person. 
LASBT works across all tenures.

Where anti-social behaviour occurs in 
a non-housing related context the test 
will be as to whether the behaviour 
has caused, or is likely to cause, 
harassment, alarm or distress to any 
person. 

LASBT was designed to deal 
with behaviour that cannot be 
reasonably resolved through tenancy 
management or mediation. This 
includes (but is not limited to) 

Harm to individuals 

Harassment, threats of violence 
and/or intimidation, racist 

behaviour or language and verbal 
abuse. 

Harm directed at 
communities 

Drug dealing and misuse, street 
drinking, prostitution, kerb 

crawling, aggressive begging, 
public drunkenness and disorder 

and persistent domestic noise 
nuisance. 

Environmental Harm

public property.

T

public pr

DRAFT
adopt
Behavio
below.     

The Anti-SociaThe Anti-Socia

of ASB depending uof ASB depending u
ASB is related to a houASB is related to a ho

Where anti-social behaviouhere anti-social be
occurred in a housing contexcurred in a housi
will consider whether the condill consider wh
is capable of causing nuisance or s capable of causing nuisance or 
annoyance to a person in relation to annoyance to a person in relation to 

Environmental Harmronmental HarmT

Page 82



4
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2022

4

Victims and witnesses of anti-social 
behaviour should receive a swift 

of Leeds City Council’s Core Values:

 Working as a team for Leeds 
 Being open, honest and   

 trusted 
 Working with all communities 
 Treating people fairly 
 Spending money wisely 

Those reporting anti-social behaviour 
should feel that their case has been 
handled fairly and appropriately, and 
that there is clarity about each stage of 
the complaint process. Where an issue 
falls outside the remit of LASBT, our 
response may include signposting or 
referral to alternative services. 

Anyone contacting LASBT can expect 
the following minimum standards: 

 They will receive a prompt  
 response to their complaint.

 They will be treated fairly with  
 dignity and respect.

 Reports will be taken   
 seriously.

 Information will be kept   

 share it between agencies  
 with permission in order to  
 help with resolving the case.

 They will be kept regularly  
 informed about the progress of  
 the case.

 The victim will know who to  
 contact if they are not happy  
 with the service received.

Leeds City Council will ensure that 
clear information is available to 
residents detailing how to contact 
partner agencies to report anti-social 
behaviour.  

DRAFT
of L

BeBe
trusttrust
WorkinWorkin
Treating pating p
Spending moding m

Those reporting anti-sociahose reporting anti-
should feel that their case hould feel that thei
handled fairly and appropriateandled fairly and
that there is clarity about each sthat th
the complaint process. Where an issthe complaint process. Where an iss
falls outside the remit of LASBT, our falls outside the remit of LASBT, our 
response may include signposting or response may include signposting 
referral to alternative services. referral to alternative services. 

ne contacting LASBT can expect ng LASBT can
owing minimum standards: mum stand

y will receive a prompt eceive 
nse to their complaint.to their complaint.

D
b

Page 83



5
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2022

5

The Leeds City Council Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB) Strategy is 

intended to support and strengthen the 
Safer Leeds Partnership approach to 
tackling ASB across the city while also 
contributing to the ambitions set out in 
the Best Council Plan 2018-20/21. 

Safe, strong communities: 

The main objective of the ASB Strategy 
is to co-ordinate the Council’s response 
to tackling ASB, helping to keep 
people safe from harm and protecting 
the most vulnerable. As fear of ASB 
contributes to feelings of vulnerability 
within communities, the strategy will 
also prioritise the reduction in the 
perception of ASB in Leeds.  If we fail 
to tackle ASB effectively our ability 
to create safer, stronger and resilient 
communities will be weakened. 

Promoting community 
resilience: 

By focusing on increasing work with 
communities to strengthen their 
resilience and local leadership, it is 
the intention that it will be possible to 
deliver more locally derived solutions 
to ASB. 

Child friendly city: 

By supporting young people who are 
in danger of becoming involved in 
ASB through prevention and early 
intervention, the ASB Strategy will 
contribute to a number of the priority 
areas in the Children’s and Young 
People’s Plan – for example, helping 
young people to make good choices 
and minimise risk-taking behaviours. 
The Safer Leeds Partnership has 
embedded the ‘Think Family/Work 
Family’ approach for practitioner 
responses to ASB, which provides 
increased opportunities to support 
local families, identify safeguarding 
issues and give children the best start 
in life. 

Living in clean, well cared for 
places: 

strategy will focus on trying to reduce 
the incidence of these offences and 
increase the use of enforcement action 
against them to improve and protect 
the environment. 

The ASB strategy will aim to deliver 
the objectives presented below: 
Reduce the incidence of ASB.
Tackle inaccurate perceptions about 
the extent of ASB. 
Support individuals to change 
damaging or risky behaviours.
Improve customer satisfaction, and 
support for victims and witnesses.

and shape resolutions for ASB. 

strategic themes have been developed 
which will be presented later in the 
strategy.

tool kit for local authorities, the police and other local bodies to tackle anti-social behaviour. 
The Act aimed to enable communities to play a bigger role in shaping the local response to 

reducing the pre-existing anti-social behaviour tools and powers from nineteen to six.  It also 
introduced the Community Trigger and Community Remedy. 

The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 sets out a wide range of measures to 
tackle ASB. These include legislating against nuisance parking and abandoned cars, extend-

FT

e

DRAFT
y is y is 

strengthenstrengthen
hip approach to hip approach to 

ss the city while also ss the city while also 
o the ambitions set out in o the ambitions set out in 

uncil Plan 2018-20/21. uncil Pla

trong communities:trong 

ective of the ASB Strategy ective of the ASB Strategy
e the Council’s response e the Council’s respo

elping to keep lping to kee
rm and protecting ting 

s fear of ASB ASB 
vulnerability ulnerabilit

rategy will rategy
n the 

e fail 

i
con
areas 
People’s
young peog peo
and minimisnd minimis
The Safer LeedsThe Safer Leeds
embedded the ‘Thembedded the ‘Th
Family’ approach foFamily’ approach fo
responses to ASB, whicresponses to ASB, wh
increased opportunities tncreased opportunit
local families, identify safegcal families, identi
issues and give children the bsues and give chi
in life. n life.

Living in clean, well cared for Living in clean, well cared for
places: pla

y will focus on trying to reduce on trying t
nce of these offences and  offen

use of enforcement action nforcement action 
o improve and protect mprove and protect FT

Page 84



6
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2022

6

Leeds is a growing city with an 
estimated population of 781,700. 

There have been rapid demographic 
changes in the last decade with 
some of our most deprived 
communities growing fastest and 
with the youngest population. Our 
region is one of the youngest in 
the UK.

The city’s population increase 

economy.  Leeds is the main 
economic centre for Leeds City 
Region and a driver of growth 
for the Northern Powerhouse, 
Yorkshire and the national 
economy. 

from this economic success. There 

and deprivation in the city. 160,000 
people in Leeds live in neighbourhoods 
that are amongst the 10% most 
deprived neighbourhoods in England. 

Unemployment has been reducing but 
is still too high in some areas. 

Low pay is an increasing problem, with 
over 80,000 jobs (many of them part-
time and insecure) paying less than 
the Living Wage. People are caught in 
a trap of low pay and low skills and our 
education and skills system does not 
work for everyone. 

A variety of organisations including 
Nacro, Shelter and Centrepoint have 
demonstrated that ASB is often 

prevalent where there are wider 
risk factors such as living in a 
disadvantaged neighbourhood 
and/or poor housing, or in a 

social exclusion or poverty. In 
Leeds we know the effects of ASB 
are felt disproportionately by 
those living in our most deprived 
neighbourhoods.

Our Inclusive Growth and Health 
and Well-Being Strategies aim 
to bring partners together to 
address these challenges, and 
help ensure people and places 

growth to their full potential.  An 
effective ASB strategy will be an 
important tool in complementing 
ongoing work, particularly in those 
neighbourhoods where risk factors are 
heightened. 

DRAFT
ty with an ty with an 

ation of 781,700. ation of 781,700. 
n rapid demographic n rapid demographic 

he last decade with he last de
our most deprived our most d

unities growing fastest and unities g
youngest population. Our younge

ne of the youngest in ne of th

on increase n increas

main 
s City City 

th th 

Low pay is an increasing problem, with Low pay is an increasing problem, w
over 80,000 jobs (many of them part-over 80,000 jobs (many of them pa

me and insecure) paying less than me and insecure) paying less th
Living Wage. People are caught in Living Wage. People are cau

of low pay and low skills and our nd low skill
n and skills system does not ystem

eryone. 

ef
impo
ongoinongoin
neighbouneighbou
heightenedheightened

Page 85



7
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2022

7

The proposed approach to tackling 
anti-social behaviour, and the 

public perception of anti-social 

themes. 

 Prevention
 Intervention
 Enforcement
 Community Empowerment
 Integrated Intelligence 

Prevention

The aim of this theme is to intervene 
early to lower the risk of anti-social 

Prevention of anti-social behaviour 
has a profound impact on the quality 
of community life. By working with 
partners to tackle the root causes 

communities we can ensure we deliver 
more effective and sustainable long-
term solutions. 

In some instances preventative 

housing advice, tenancy management, 
mediation, Acceptable Behaviour 
Contacts, Parenting Contacts, and 
environmental improvements. 

Prevention will also include more 
general activity – for example, 
educating young people about the 
long-term consequences of engaging 
in anti-social behaviour. 

Targeting resources at preventative 
activity can also avoid more costly 
crisis management solutions and 
enforcement action, potentially 

releasing resources to reinvest in 
further preventative work.  

Working in, and with, the community 
will be key to tackling anti-social 
behaviour. In some instances the 
use of a community multi-agency 
risk assessment (MARAC) may be 
appropriate to deal with high-risk anti-
social behaviour cases. Supporting 
a victim centred approach, they can 

risk or safeguarding issues.

We will:

 With partners identify   
 design out crime initiatives  
 within communities

 Work with partners on   
 initiatives such as Operation  
 Champions

 Work with individuals and  
 communities to promote   
 awareness of Hate Crime   
 reporting.

 Support the work of the Safer  

 Triage reports of ASB and Hate  
 Crime effectively to prevent  
 high harm high risk situations. 

 Work with clusters to identify  
 families in needs of support. 

Intervention

Intervention measures are put in place 
when preventative action has failed 
and someone has become involved 
in committing anti-social behaviour.  
The aim is to provide support and / or 
diversion to prevent that individual 
engaging in further ASB. This is 
premised on an understanding that 
delivering support as early as possible 

reduces the potential for behaviour to 
escalate. 

Critical to this process will be 

assessment of risk in the evaluation 
process to ensure that vulnerable 
people with complex needs have 
the opportunity to receive specialist 
support from the right services. Ideally 
early intervention should be arrived at 
through engagement with individuals, 
families and communities to maximise 
the potential for success. 

To do this we will:

 Embed a Triage process to  
 respond effectively to reports  
 of ASB.

 Embed a community Marac  
 for problem solving complex  
 ASB issues. 

 Promote the use of mediation  
 services for early resolution of  
 ASB issues

 Develop the out of hours noise  
 nuisance service to ensure  
 effective deployment of   
 available resource. 

Enforcement

Enforcement is used to protect the 
community, victims and witnesses, as 
well as providing a consequence in the 
case of individuals whose behaviour is 

Enforcement alone will not solve ASB. 
However, it is useful tool when ASB 
continues and/or escalates, and those 
involved refuse support or diversion. 

DRAFT
R

o tacko tack
r, and the r, and the 

anti-social anti-socia

PreventionPrevent
InterventionInterv

nforcementnforcem
mmunity Empowermentmmunity Empowerment

ated Intelligence ated Intelligence 

tervene 
cial 

T
be
use o
risk ass
appropriapria
social behavcial behav
a victim centrea victim centre

risk or safeguarding isrisk or safeguarding 

We will:e will:

With partners identify With pa
design out crime initiativ
within communitiesties
Work with partners on ith partners on     
initiativnitiatives such as Operation es such as Operati
ChampionsChampions
Work with individuals and Work with individuals a
communities tties to promote o prom   
awareness of Hate Crime of Hate C   

porting.
port the work of the Safer e work of the Safer 

ports of ASB and Hate ports of ASB and Hate 
tively to prevent tively to prev

h risk situations. h risk s
rs to identify 

f support. 

FT
DeDe
nuisnuis
effeffectivectiv
availableailable

EnforcementEnforcement

Enforcement is used to protecd to protec
community, victims and witnesms and witnes
well as providing a consequence inding a consequence in
case of individuals whose behaviouividuals whose behaviou

Enforcement alone will not sorcemen
owever, it is useful tool owever,

inues and/or escin
ed refuse su

Page 86



8
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2022

To do this we will:

 Further develop the   
 Neighbourhood Response  
 Teams

 Support the Serious and   
 Organised Crime programme

 Support the Safer Leeds, Road  
 Safety Plan with targeted  
 interventions for vehicle   
 nuisance

 Utilise all available tools and  
 powers to tackle ASB.

 Develop the use of Community  
 Protection Notices. 

Community Empowerment

Working with communities to develop 
strategies to prevent and tackle anti-
social behaviour is critically important. 
Using local intelligence and networks 
to better inform decision making will 
improve outcomes for communities.  
Interventions to prevent ASB are 
most likely to be effective where 
those communities experiencing the 
effects of ASB are closely involved in 
developing the solutions. 

It is important that we listen to our 
communities and develop responses 

some areas this will complement wider 
ongoing work to target resources in 
priority neighbourhoods. 

To do this we will:

 Engage in communities   

 reporting ASB and Hate Crime
 Support the work of the   

 Communities Teams   
 in priority neighbourhoods

 Embed a Communication and  
 Engagement Plan

 Develop a Customer Service  
 Offer outlining the LASBT  
 service standards

Integrated Intelligence

Where intelligence is shared between 
partners there is greater scope to 
identify early interventions that can 
achieve long-term resolutions and 
reductions.  Furthermore, where 
integrated intelligence allows the 

reduced likelihood of those victims or 
perpetrators with complex needs being 
passed between different bodies. 
West Yorkshire Police is a key 
partner in the city’s approach 
to tackling ASB. The fact that 

policing district structures remain 
co-terminus with local authority 
boundaries presents additional 
opportunities to work effectively 
together. Sharing information with a 
clear understanding of each other’s 
responsibility and capability will 

priorities, pooling of resources and the 
potential to deliver timely problem 
solving and early intervention. 

  To do this we will:

 Utilise Police / LCC   
 Intelligence to deploy resource  
 effectively

 Enhance links with   
 Leedswatch

 Improve links with   
 Neighbourhood Policing   
 Teams and co-ordinators to  
 identify repeat callers and  
 priority cases

 Develop effective triage   
 performance framework

DRAFT

DR
Leeds, Leeds, 

h targeted h targeted 
s for vehicle s for vehicle     

e all available tools and e all available tools and 
owers towers to tackle ASB.o t

Develop the use of Community Develop the use of Community 
PrProtection Notices. otec

ity Empowermentity Empowerment

munities to develop elop 
nd tackle anti-e anti-

ally important. y importa
d networks d netw

ing will 
ities.  

DR OO
serservv

Integrated InIntegrated In

Where intelligence is shaWhere intelligence is
partners there is greater scrtners there is grea
identify early interventions thentify early interv
achieve long-term resolutions achieve long-te
reductions.  Furthermore, where educt
integrated intelligence allows the integrated intelligence allows the 

reduced likelihood of those victims or reduced likelihood of those victims
erpetrators with complex needs being erpetrators with complex needs

sed between different bodies. sed between different bodie
Yorkshire Police is a key lice is a key

n the city’s approach approach
ASB. The fact that fact th

Page 87



9
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2022

8

T
tackling anti-social behaviour. 
The actions within each theme will 
be delivered through an annual action 
plan. This plan will be reviewed 
quarterly by ASB Silver Group and 
monitored by Safer Leeds Executive. 
It is intended that this will be a living 
document and as such these actions 
will evolve over time.

The effectiveness of the strategy will 
be measured against the aims and 
milestones detailed in the action 
plan. As well as this, performance 
monitoring of case management will 
allow key objectives and trends to be 
observed.

This strategy will be shared with 
partners and stakeholders along 
with progress made in relation to the 
actions agreed.  

If you experience anti-social behaviour please contact:

Leeds anti-social behaviour team
Email: lasbt@leeds.gov.uk
Phone number: 0113 222 4402
In person: at any One Stop Shop

Noise nuisance team 
Email: noise@leeds.gov.uk
Phone number: 0113 222 4402 (daytime) or 0113 376 0337 (6pm – 3am)

FT
RAFT

pa
with
actionsactions

D
FTFT

Page 88



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 This report is a follow up from a previous report to Scrutiny Board in September 2019 and 

working group discussion in February 2020.  The report responds to a request from the 

Board to discuss the city centre parking strategy and its wider context.  

 The report provides a high level overview of city centre parking strategy.  It goes on to 

outline the general approach to the management of on-street parking in those areas 

surrounding the city centre and outside the main city centre controlled parking management 

area.  The report also reviews issues related to the COVID pandemic and lockdowns, 

including discussion relating to the Council’s Park and Ride Operations at Elland Road and 

Temple Green. 

Policy Overview: 

 The provision of adequate and appropriate levels of car parking within the city centre is an 

important part of the overall provision for travel to the city centre for business, leisure and 

residents.  As well as the transport and planning strategies and policies this is also reflected 

in the role that travel planning plays for existing and new developments in actively managing 

travel choices and parking demand. 

 Parking strategy also relates closely to the choice, demand and use of public transport and 

other non-car travel based travel modes and a part in contributing to the achievement of 

sustainable balance between travel mode, place making and the impacts on health and 

wellbeing and the environment – air quality and climate change. 

 Set against the parking arrangements in the city centre there has been an increasing trend 

for those commuters who aren’t switching away from cars to the alternative for their parking 

to overspill beyond the city centre into the adjacent areas posing questions for traffic 

management and regulation.  In residential areas this parking can cause nuisance, anti-

social behaviour and loss of amenity to residents. 

 Around 60% of parking spaces in the City Centre are defined as private non-residential and 

therefore not under the direct control of Leeds City Council and its policies. 

 

 

PARKING STRATEGY AND MANAGEMENT 

Date: 17th June 2021 

Report of: Director of City Development and Director of Communities, Housing 
and Environment 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Report author: Gillian MacLeod / Mark 

Jefford 

Tel: 0113 3788091 / 3789751 

Page 89

Agenda Item 6



Parking Hierarchy 

 A parking hierarchy defines the prioritisation of different types of parking that on many 
occasions will be competing for the same limited space on or off the highway.  

The hierarchy of parking types are set out below, with the level of consideration being higher 
towards the top of the list. These act as a framework for decisions to be made, however it is 
accepted that local circumstances may require the hierarchy to be adapted to suit.  

 

o Disabled car parking;  
o Local resident car parking;  
o Cycle, motorcycle and car club parking;  
o Local business essential car parking/servicing need;  
o Park and Ride;  
o Short stay shopper/visitor car parking; and  
o Commuter car parking.  

In many situations, it may be possible for two parking types to share the same space 

harmoniously, for example residents parking and short stay visitor parking. This will be 

encouraged where appropriate, in order to make best use of the available road space 

available. 

 

Park and Ride 

 The anticipated growth in demand for travel to Leeds City Centre presents a range of 
challenges. If a proportion of this growth is anticipated to be accommodated by the use of 
private cars then there are issues with both physical access to the City Centre in relation to 
traffic congestion, air quality and CO2 emissions and the availability of parking spaces. 

 An alternative to the provision of additional highway and parking capacity in the City Centre is 
the creation of a range of public park & ride locations around the urban area of Leeds. The 
primary market for such provision is expected to be those travelling to the City Centre from 
locations outside the urban area of Leeds and outside Leeds District. 

 A mix of both rail and bus based public park & ride provision is anticipated in order to 
accommodate future demand and is already a proven success at the Elland Road (1250 
spaces) and Temple Green (1000 spaces) sites.  

 Temple Green is being expanded by 400 spaces at the moment as part of the current public 
transport investment programme and a new site at Stourton (1200 spaces) is under 
construction to open on 6 September 2021. 

 Both Temple Green and Elland Road were operating at or above capacity pre-pandemic and 
a return to office based work, even on a part time flexible basis, will see demand for these 
services return. 

 Rail based park and ride is being supported by enhancements to rail station car parking across 
West Yorkshire and a programme to deliver new rail stations in Leeds with park & ride at 
Leeds Bradford Airport Parkway and Thorpe Park. 

 Proposals for a mass transit system are being developed by the Combined Authority and will 

further the opportunity for increased park & ride options in Leeds. 

 

Car Club and Car Share 

 Currently 80% of cars travelling into Leeds City Centre in the morning peak period contain 
only one occupant. With increased levels of car sharing there is a potential reduction on the 
need for parking spaces as well as a reduction in congestion on the highway network.  The 

Page 90



use of car club vehicles can potentially mean that car ownership in residential locations can 
be reduced, with a commensurate reduction in the need for parking at an employment location. 

Support from Leeds City Council for the further uptake of car sharing and use of car clubs will 
be in the following form: 

 Recommended levels of car share and car club spaces for new developments, marked up 
and allocated for staff that car share; 

 Continued provision of on-street spaces for Leeds City Council Car Club Provider; 
 Promotion of car sharing through provision of High Occupancy Vehicle Lanes where 

applicable; and 
 Continued provision and promotion of the Car Share Website wycarshare.com. 

Leeds’s car club seeks to reduce car ownership especially in the City Centre, by allowing 

member’s access to a car when they want one. Car clubs provide easy and affordable 

access to a vehicle 24/7. Just book, drive and return the car. Cars are located in reserved 

parking spaces throughout the City Centre and with an expanding list in the surrounding 

area.  Community car share is likely to be the bigger growth area in the recovery period and 

beyond as there is more home working and people have less need to own their own vehicle. 

 Electric Vehicle Charging 

 As more electric vehicles of all types are being operated, provision for EV charging is also 

being rolled out across the city.  The network of publically available EV charge points are 

available to view on zap map.  Map of charging points for electric car drivers in UK: Zap-Map 

 The first EV on-street chargepoint to support the LCC Car Club Operator was delivered in 

May 2021 on Portland Street in Leeds City Centre.  Electricity is recharged through the car 

club contract.  Work is ongoing to deliver further on and off street chargepoints to support 

taxi’s, car club and private charging across Leeds. 

City Centre Fringe Parking Matters 

 The Traffic Management (TM) team within Leeds City Council receive a number of 

complaints annually from Ward Councillors and members of the public in relation to 

nuisance parking.  Many of these complaints relate to people parking in unprotected areas 

to access large sites, be that employment sites, hospitals, universities, schools, leisure 

facilities, places of worship, etc.  The TM team have various means of reducing the impact 

of such parking, eg pay and display parking; resident permit parking; disabled bays; double 

yellow lines; or seeking to address the cause, ie by sustainable travel plan measures or 

provision of additional car parking in certain circumstances (not supported for commuter 

parking).  In order to deal with such matters on a fair and equitable basis guidance has been 

established as to when certain measures will be prioritised.  The TM team have a limited 

annual budget for addressing such matters and an annual programme is established to 

prioritise this spend. 

           Parking Enforcement 

 The parking policies outlined above are enforced through the issue of Penalty Charge 

Notices by the Civil Enforcement (CEO) team. Under the legislation most offences can only 

be enforced on the direct observation of a uniformed CEO. There are currently 57 CEOs 

working various shifts between 6am - 3am with the later shifts required on weekend 

evenings.  

 The Council are responsible for enforcing specific parking restrictions marked with lines and 

signs. Responsibility for offences that do not involve specific restrictions such as obstruction, 

parking near to a junction or pavement parking, remains with the Police. Many problems 

referred to the service relate to issues that the Council cannot enforce against.  

Page 91

https://www.zap-map.com/live/


 Parking enforcement is required to be self financing under the legislation as the Council 

retains the revenue from the fines. Patrols are not allocated according to ward as the 

restrictions are not uniformly spread throughout the City, some areas have many more 

enforceable restrictions and therefore a greater need for enforcement. The pattern of patrols 

is not fixed but fluctuates according to the number of offences detected and the service 

endeavours to respond to changes as they occur. Any issues that are referred are included 

on patrols and the number of offences detected is used to inform how patrols are allocated.  

 Enforcement is split between City Centre and districts roughly 50/50 with about 12 CEOs 

assigned to each during the day. The evening and night teams are usually deployed solely 

in the centre although they can cover outer areas if required. District enforcement is carried 

out with a van and CEOs are expected to cover several areas. Before covid about 30% of 

penalties were issued in the districts but currently this is running at 14%.  

 Due to staff vacancies, absence and covid working protocols the service could only cover 

about half of the previous shifts during lockdown restrictions. Although recruitment may be 

required we need to make sure that the offence levels in the post covid economy remain 

high enough to cover the costs.  

 School enforcement is a particular problem with over 100 different schools referred to the 

team for enforcement action. There is a dedicated schools team which allocates patrols and 

we allocate as many CEOs as possible each morning and afternoon. Drop and pick up is 

allowed on both yellow lines and permit areas and as the driver is usually with the vehicle 

they drive off when the CEO comes into view rather than risk a ticket. This means that 

school enforcement is very resource intensive and the penalties issued do not generally 

cover the costs  

 An overview of the parking service and the current issues including COVID impacts is 

included in the Performance report at item 4.  

COVID Impacts 

 Matters relating to parking demand and income are covered in the separate paper on this 

agenda. 

 In relation to general parking demand there remains pressure around the University and LGI 

in relation to car parking provision.  Demand is expected to increase following the June 21st 

date when measures are proposed to be lifted, albeit the increase in home-working for 

Council staff and other businesses is expected to bring about an ongoing reduction in 

demand for office based commuter parking.  Bus services are now running to pre-COVID 

service levels and occupancy rates are at approximately 80% of previous levels with all 

forward facing seat capacity now available. 

LPTIP Impacts 

 The LPTIP City Centre Gateways schemes have removed a number of on-street parking 
spaces to deliver key scheme interventions (wider footways, enhanced bus stops, protected 
cycleways, new public realm areas and improved pedestrian crossings).  The schemes have 
not replaced any pay-and-display spaces, where these have been removed, resulting in a 
net reduction in pay-and-display parking across the city centre. 

 Where blue badge parking spaces have been removed, replacement spaces have been 
provided in a nearby location. The schemes have provided additional areas of blue badge 
parking, such that there has been a net increase in blue badge spaces as a result of the 
schemes. Moreover, some of the new areas of blue badge parking are located in areas 
where there was previously no such provision. 

 Changes to hackney carriage rank provision have been made in order to deliver key scheme 
interventions (wider footways, enhanced bus stops, protected cycleways, new public realm 
areas and improved pedestrian crossings).  Ranks have been retained, or relocated to 
nearby locations, where there is evidence of strong customer demand, or where the rank 

Page 92



plays an important role in the station feeder system. Ranks have been removed and not 
replaced where there is evidence of low customer demand and when it was not possible to 
find an alternative site.  Sufficient hackney carriage rank capacity has been retained to 
support the station feeder system. This system will change significantly when the changes to 
the station rank are delivered by the TCF station scheme. Some temporary ranks may be 
required in the interim period between the completion of the LPTIP schemes in early 2022 
and the delivery of the TCF station scheme in summer 2023.  Hackney carriages will be 
permitted to use bus stop clearways in most of the LPTIP scheme areas between midnight 
and 5am (that is, when the buses are not operating) to meet the needs of the night-time 
economy. 

 The LPTIP City Centre Gateways schemes have made some changes to bus stops to 
deliver key scheme interventions (wider footways, enhanced bus stops, protected 
cycleways, new public realm areas and improved pedestrian crossings).  There has been a 
net increase in bus stops as a result of the scheme. New stops have been created on Vicar 
Lane, Lower Briggate and Duncan Street. Stops have been removed on Westgate, Kirkgate 
and New Briggate. 

 Three motorcycle parking sites have been removed as a result of the LPTIP City Centre 
Gateways schemes to delivery key scheme interventions (wider footways, enhanced bus 
stops, protected cycleways, new public realm areas and improved pedestrian crossings).  
New motorcycle parking sites will be provided nearby to replace all of these sites. 

 
 
 
Park and Ride Impacts 

 

 During the COVID period the park and ride service has continued to operate at Elland Road 

but with significantly reduced demand and patronage and has been closed during lockdown 

periods.  A mass vaccination centre on Lowfields Road made use of part of the Elland Road 

P&R car parking during this time.  The use of Elland Road has increased steadily following 

reopening to over 300 per day in May.  The majority of users pre pandemic were officer 

based commuting trips and therefore once the COVID guidance allows a return to office 

work the demand for the service should increase significantly. 

 Temple Green P&R site has been temporarily closed since April 2020 and it has 

accommodated a COVID testing facility.  It is expected that this P&R site will be reopened at 

least in part in the coming months to cater for the demand from commuters based to the 

east of the city. 

 

 Best Council Plan Implications:  The implementation of parking policies and management of 

parking relates to Sustainable Infrastructure: Improving transport connections, safety, 

reliability and affordability; Sustainable Infrastructure: Improving air quality, reducing 

pollution and noise; and Inclusive Growth: Supporting the city’s economic recovery from 

COVID-19 and building longer-term economic resilience.   

 Parking management strategies support government’s Net Zero carbon targets and as such 

any investment secured will necessarily demonstrate clear fit with the city’s own target to be 

carbon neutral by 2030. 
 

Recommendations 

a) Members of the Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) are requested to 

note and consider the contents of this report.  

Why is the proposal being put forward?  

Page 93



1 The report is brought for Scrutiny at the request of the Environment, Housing and 

Communities Scrutiny Board 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

2 This is an update report with no specific impact on service delivery.  Clearly the exercise of 

parking management on-street and the operation of car parks has cost implications both 

capital in relation to new schemes and revenue for the administration of regulations.  The 

COVID pandemic has also brought about significant implications on revenue. 

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

3 There has been no consultation and engagement directly related to this report.  Individual 

decisions relating to projects referenced within this report have undertaken relevant 

consultation and engagement. 

 

 

What are the resource implications? 

4 There are no resource implications directly related to this report. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

5 There are no legal implications directly related to this report. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

6 Risks relating to general parking revenue are covered in another report on this agenda.  

Risks relating to operation of the park and ride sites are being reviewed with the Combined 

Authority and the Contracted Bus Operators. 

  

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars? 

☒Inclusive Growth  ☒Health and Wellbeing  ☒Climate Emergency 

7 Parking is often an emotive subject area with people holding strong often polarised views 

on the matter.  Adequate access and parking for private vehicles for all purposes is part of 

the access strategy for Leeds City Centre, albeit the Council is seeking to switch and 

decarbonise the vehicle fleet as quickly as is feasible given the National picture.  Parking 

strategy therefore has a role in delivering all 3 of the Council’s key pillars, ie to support 

Inclusive Growth in terms of business need, including expansion of the park and ride sites; 

Supporting Health and Wellbeing by reducing the need for commuter parking in the city 

centre by improving access by other modes, thereby improving air quality and increasing 

promotion of active travel; and by reducing NOx and carbon emissions to aid the climate 

emergency targets. 

  

Options, timescales and measuring success  

a) What other options were considered? 

Wards Affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☐Yes    ☒No 

 

Page 94



8 The parking supplementary planning document and draft Connecting Leeds Transport 

Strategy have provided context to the wider proposals for parking strategy.  The city centre 

commuter parking strategy gave provision for some additional temporary commuter parking 

to fill the gap whilst P&R provision was being increased.  This policy is due to end in 2022 

by which time the P&R sites at Elland Road, Temple Green and Stourton will all be 

operational providing a total of 3,850 spaces to support the city centre.  To meet the 

Climate Emergency declaration of net zero carbon by 2030 it is considered that reductions 

in city centre long stay parking spaces must be supported and promoted. 

 

b) How will success be measured? 

9 Adjustments to parking provision are occurring on a regular basis.  Success of the strategy 

will be monitored in relation to emerging Transport Strategy targets relating to changes in 

mode of travel; return to use of the P&R sites and delivery of the Vision Zero road safety 

strategy. 

 

c) What is the timetable for implementation? 

10 The emerging Transport Strategy is due for adoption in summer 2021 and is being 

delivered in relation to support for sustainable travel options going forwards. 

  

Appendices 

11 None 

 

Background papers 

12 None 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 This report provides information and guidance on potential sources of work and areas of 
priority within the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference.  In consultation with the relevant 
Directors and Executive Board Members, the Scrutiny Board is requested to consider and 
discuss potential areas of work for the Board for the forthcoming municipal year.   

 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to reflect on the information and guidance provided within this report when 

considering potential areas for scrutiny for the forthcoming municipal year.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sources of work for the Scrutiny Board 

Date: 17 June 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing & Communities) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Angela Brogden / Rebecca Atherton 

Tel: 0113 3788642 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
 

1. Scrutiny Boards are responsible for ensuring that their work programme reflects issues 
where the Board is able to add strategic value, challenge service performance and 
respond to issues of significant public interest. Scrutiny is also a valuable sounding board 
for member consultation on new policy initiatives and as such pre-decision scrutiny 
continues to be encouraged. 
 

2. To assist the Scrutiny Board in effectively managing its workload for the forthcoming 
municipal year, this report provides information and guidance on potential sources of work 
and areas of priority within the Board’s terms of reference.   

 
Key sources of information 
 
 Best Council Plan 

 
3. The Best Council Plan is a significant source of information in terms of highlighting the 

Council’s key areas of priority over the coming months and years. 
 

4. An updated Best Council Plan 2020-2025 was launched in September 2020, placing 
emphasis on the role of the Council’s priorities in establishing a ‘new normal’ for life in 
Leeds after COVID-19.  This is attached as Appendix 1 for Members information. 

 
 Performance Data 

 
5. Performance monitoring remains a key element of the Scrutiny Boards’ work and is also a 

valuable source of information to help identify potential areas that may warrant further 
scrutiny.  The most recent performance data is therefore included as a separate agenda 
item for today’s meeting (Agenda Item 4).  This provides the Board with a summary of 
performance against the strategic priorities that are relevant to the Board’s remit. 
 

 Financial Information 
 

6. All Scrutiny Boards are consulted annually on the Council’s initial budget proposals in 
accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework.  This is undertaken in 
conjunction with a review of the in-year financial health of the authority. 

 
7. The 2021/22 budget proposals were agreed by Full Council in February 2021.  The 

Scrutiny Board may wish to consider progress against the delivery of these. With this in 
mind, an exert from the 2021/22 Revenue and Council Tax report, as agreed at the Full 
Council meeting in February 2021, is included at Appendix 3. This summarises the areas 
of the budget where a proportion of the directorate delegations relate to the remit of the 
Environment, Housing & Communities Scrutiny Board. 
 

8. Maintaining an overview of the Council’s financial health is also a key element of the 
Scrutiny Board’s work and therefore the Board may wish to receive further financial health 
updates during the municipal year.  

  
 Other sources of Scrutiny work 
 

9. Other common sources of work include requests for scrutiny, Call In requests and other 
corporate referrals. The Board is also required to be formally consulted during the 
development of key policies which form part of the council’s Budget and Policy Framework. 

Page 98



 
Methods of working 

 
10. Each Scrutiny Board has planned to hold eight formal or ‘consultative’1 meetings 

throughout this municipal year. 
 

11. Whilst the decision to hold any additional meetings is left to the discretion of each Board, 
historically Scrutiny Boards have also adopted other methods of evidence gathering 
outside of the public meeting setting, such as site visits and working group meetings. 

 
12. Working groups comprise of Members of a particular Scrutiny Board who may be 

appointed to carry out specific tasks on behalf of the Board.  Suitable tasks for a working 
group may involve Members meeting on their own (for example for the purposes of 
developing reports and recommendations in connection with an ongoing Inquiry or terms of 
reference for a future Inquiry).  Alternatively, they may entail activities which cannot 
realistically be undertaken within the confines of a formally convened Scrutiny Board 
meeting. 

 
13. In all cases, the primary purpose of a working group is to obtain and/or develop information 

and to report back to a formally convened meeting of the Scrutiny Board.  A working group 
cannot discharge the primary purpose of a Scrutiny Board i.e. it cannot undertake Inquiries 
independently from its parent Scrutiny Board, conduct Inquiries, issue 
reports/recommendations (other than to its parent Scrutiny Board) or in any way  present 
itself to a third party as representing the views of the parent Scrutiny Board. 

 
14. However, as set out within the Vision for Scrutiny, the Board must also remain mindful of 

the resource implications associated with the use of site visits and working group meetings 
when determining its work programme. 

 
 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

15. The information and guidance presented within this report focuses on potential sources of 
work and areas of priority within the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference.  This aims to 
assist Members when considering potential areas of scrutiny work for the forthcoming 
municipal year.   
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  
 

16. In order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic priorities, it is recognised that each 
Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with the Directors and Executive 
Board Members holding the relevant portfolios. The Vision for Scrutiny also states that 
Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and 
Executive Member about available resources prior to agreeing items of work. 
 

                                                           
1 Consultative meetings are held remotely and webcasted live to enable public access.  However, they are not a public meeting 
held in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. 

Wards affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 99



17. The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment and the Director of Resources, 
along with relevant Executive Board Members have therefore been invited to today’s 
meeting to share their views and contribute to the Board’s discussion. 

 
What are the resource implications? 
 

18. Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if 
the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and 
focus its resources on one key issue at a time.    
 

19. The Vision for Scrutiny2, agreed by full Council, also recognises that like all other Council 
functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and 
that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.  Consequently, when 
establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should: 

 

 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member 
about available resources; 
 

 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having 
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue; 
 

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value 
and can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 
What are the legal implications?  
 

20. This report has no specific legal implications. 
 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 
 

21. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report. 
  
 

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 
 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 
22. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking 

Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives and it is widely recognised 
that co-opted members can significantly aid the work of Scrutiny Boards.   

23.  
  

Appendices 
 

24. Appendix 1 -- Best Council Plan 2020-2025. 
 

25. Appendix 2 – Approved 2021/22 budget proposals relevant to the remit of the 
Environment, Housing & Communities Scrutiny Board. 

 

Background papers 
 

26. None. 

                                                           
2 This forms part of Article 6 within the Council Constitution. Page 100



!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

#

!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

OUTCOMES

£9
1.
4m

£2
7.9

m

£23
.0m

£14.4m

£123.8m£1
26
.6m

£57.7m

£31.6m

  

BEST COUNCIL PLAN 
2020 – 2025
Tackling poverty and reducing inequalities

with the city’s Inclusive Growth Strategy, Health & Wellbeing Strategy  
and Climate Emergency declaration as key drivers 

Page 101



 

 
FOREWORD
BEST COUNCIL PLAN 2020 – 2025
Tackling poverty and reducing inequalities

Our ambition is for Leeds to  
be the best city in the UK: 

compassionate and caring with 
a strong economy; which tackles 
poverty and reduces inequalities; 

working towards being a net  
zero carbon city by 2030.  

We want Leeds to be a city  
that is distinctive, sustainable, 

ambitious, fun and creative for all, 
with a council that its residents 

can be proud of as the best 
council in the country.

But most of all, in light of the 
impacts of the coronavirus 
pandemic, we want Leeds  

to be a safe city:

Our ambition will not be easy to achieve. It has 
always been challenging, but now more so than 
ever before. Yet Leeds is a unique city. When we 
harness the determination and compassion of 
its people and communities, great things can be 
achieved, even in the most difficult circumstances.

About Leeds City Council
The council has a central role in the life of the city. 
We provide a wide range of vital public services, 
work with partners across all sectors to strengthen 
our economy and communities, and have an 
increasingly important responsibility to represent 
the city nationally and on the world stage – 
attracting business and investment and promoting 
what Leeds has to offer. The breadth of what we 
do, and our democratic accountability, puts us in 
a unique position to be able to bring people and 
organisations together locally and city-wide to 
respond in times of crisis, as well as to maintain 
our usual efforts to help improve lives. 

Our council workforce is around 15,000 strong 
(in headcount; 13,000 full-time equivalents) and 
embedded into every part of the city.  

2 3

Council staff and our 99 elected 
members work each day to make the 

city a great place to live and work.

We keep children safe; support older and vulnerable 
people; lead emergency responses and build 
resilience; prevent and tackle homelessness; help 
people live in good quality, affordable housing; work 
with the police to prevent and tackle crime and anti-
social behaviour; encourage our residents to live 
healthier, more active lifestyles; provide sport and 
leisure facilities and green spaces; support people 
into jobs, training and apprenticeships and help 
them earn enough to support themselves and their 

families; clean streets and deal with the city’s waste; 
make roads safe and reduce congestion; improve 
air quality; secure investment in the city and 
promote cultural and community events all across 
Leeds.  All of this, and more, is ultimately about how 
we can improve the lives of Leeds residents. Over 
recent years we have done this while working with 
reduced budgets, delivering better value for money 
each year for the Leeds public. 

This Best Council Plan provides a framework 
through which council staff and the people and 
businesses of Leeds can better understand the 
role of our organisation, and the difference we 
make particularly to those  
who need it most.

Produced by R.Haslett, Intelligence & Policy Service © Crown Copyright. Leeds City Council - 100019567 (2019)

ex of Multiple Deprivation 2019

REF : IMD2019 : 001

IMD National Rank
Most Deprived 10%

10% - 20%

20% - 30%

30% - 40%

40% - 50%

50% - 60%

60% - 70%

70% - 80%

80% - 90%

Least Deprived 10%

Pool

Adel

Otley

Burley

Armley

Gipton

Rodley

Pudsey

Morley

Halton

Colton

Oulton

Kippax

Walton

Linton

Rawdon

Yeadon

Tyersal
Wortley

Farnley Holbeck

Beeston
Hunslet

Carlton

Methley

Oakwood

Scholes

Thorner

Bardsey
Bramham

Bramley

Whitkirk

Stourton

Whinmoor

Churwell

Rothwell

Garforth

Roundhay

Shadwell

Seacroft

Aberford

Wetherby

Moortown

Harewood

Weardley

Bramhope

Tinshill

Guiseley

Woodhouse

Middleton

Harehills

Scarcroft

Alwoodley

Calverley

Kirkstall

Holt Park

Cookridge

Horsforth

Belle Isle

Chapeltown

Gildersome

Cottingley

Headingley

Boston SpaCollingham

Arthington

New Farnley

CITY CENTRE Burmantofts

Woodlesford

Swillington

Micklefield

Thorpe Arch

Drighlington

East Ardsley

Osmondthorpe

Potternewton

Lincoln Green

Moor Allerton

Chapel Allerton

Allerton Bywater

Barwick in Elmet

Most Deprived 10%

10% - 20%

20% - 30%

30% - 40%

40% - 50%

50% - 60%

60% - 70%

70% - 80%

80% - 90%

Least Deprived 10%

Please visit the Leeds Observatory  
for key data about the Leeds population and  
Leeds economy, including for more information  
and analysis on the IMD 2019.

LEEDS: INDICES OF MULTIPLE 
DEPRIVATION (IMD 2019) 

Safe travel 
ensuring the safe 
use of highways  

and public transport 
and encouraging 

active travel  
where possible.

Safe public 
spaces  

in communities, 
district centres and 

the city centre.

Safe delivery 
of services 

including health 
and social care, 
and other public 

services. 

Safe education 
as more children 

and young people 
return to schools, 

colleges and 
nurseries.

Safe working,  
with physical distancing 

in workplaces and 
coordination between 
large employers in the 
city to avoid peaks of 

movement. 

P
age 102



 

4

About Leeds

Leeds is a growing city with a population estimated at 
793,000 (ONS Mid-Year Estimates 2019), an increase 
of around 42,000 since the last Census in 2011. The 
shift in the make-up of our population at local levels is 
striking with rapid changes particularly in some of our 
inner-city communities, many of which are the fastest 
growing and have the youngest age profile.  

Leeds continues to be the main driver of economic 
growth for the city-region, and has key strengths 
in financial and business services, advanced 
manufacturing, health and creative and digital 
industries, with a strong knowledge-rich employment 
base. These strengths, linked to the city’s universities 
and teaching hospitals, are major innovation assets for 
Leeds. Leeds also performs well in terms of business 
start-ups, with strong growth in digital and medical 
technologies, telecoms and creative industries.

Almost 470,000 people work in the city (ONS Business 
Register and Employment Survey 2018) with three 
quarters in the private sector, putting Leeds in the top 
five nationally for private sector employment. Over 
recent years Leeds has experienced record levels of 
development and continues to be popular with Foreign 
Direct Investment. Strong private sector growth since 
2010 has maintained the city’s employment rate above 
average for the region, putting us in a strong position 
to manage the effects of an economic downturn as a 
result of COVID-19.

 
While Leeds continues to enjoy 

economic success, we recognise that 
not everyone is benefitting from the 

opportunities this presents. 
 

More than 70,000 adults are facing in-work poverty. 
The latest Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD 2019) 
tell us that around 186,000 people in the city live 
in areas that are ranked in the most deprived 10% 
nationally, many of whom are aged under 15 or over 
65. This is an increase of more than 20,000 people 
since the previous indices in 2015.  

This level of disadvantage and inequality has seen 
the worsening of some social challenges too, with 
crime in Leeds rising by more than 10% between 
2017/18 and 2018/19, and a 21% rise in the number 
of people accessing foodbanks, which supported 
almost 34,000 people in Leeds in 2018/19. For some, 
COVID-19 has compounded these inequalities. We 
will work with partners and communities across the 
city to help minimise the impacts.  

The council has recognised the sharp challenges that 
too many citizens in Leeds face as they try to overcome 
poverty, especially in many of the lower income 
communities which encircle the wealth of the city centre. 
Breakdowns in the city’s transport network and a lack 
of effective connectivity between communities are 
barriers to economic inclusion which we must reduce. 
This includes working beyond the city’s boundaries with 
neighbouring authorities to find a solution for the whole 
region. The transfer of greater powers and funding 
from central government to West Yorkshire will help to 
achieve this, and we are actively participating in regional 
work to implement the devolution deal. We also actively 
engage with the national core cities network. 

The whole city, along with the rest of the world, is 
confronted with the generational challenge of climate 
change which has the potential to drastically affect our 
quality of life. Leeds declared a climate emergency 
in March 2019 and the council has already taken 
decisive action in response: acquiring the largest local 
government electric vehicle fleet in the UK; committing 
to purchasing 100% of our electricity from renewable 

CONTENTS 
sources; improving energy efficiency in council housing; 
establishing an extensive tree planting scheme; 
ceasing plans to invest in a link road to the airport; and 
pushing for an ambitious national aviation strategy that 
integrates aviation into the national carbon roadmap. 
As we establish a ‘new normal’ after the COVID-19 
pandemic, we must ensure tackling climate change 
remains a top priority in shaping the life of the city.

As a Child-Friendly City, Leeds continues to invest 
in the future of our young people which has led to 
improvements in health and educational outcomes.  
However, we are acutely aware of the potentially 
significant immediate and longer-term impacts of 
coronavirus on the health, wellbeing and learning of our 
children and young people and so now, more than ever, 
there is much more to do to ensure everyone is equipped 
with the education and skills they need to succeed in life. 
The council is working with families, schools and others 
to secure a brighter future for every child in Leeds.

While the UK is embarking upon a new 
relationship with European neighbours, Leeds 
remains an open, welcoming, outward-looking city 
ready to build new partnerships with places around 
the world in order to improve the lives of people 
and communities closer to home.

The Best City and Best Council ambitions and 
priorities set out here would not be achievable 
without close partnership working, effective 
community engagement and the dedication 
of councillors and staff: the elected members 
who serve the city, our partners and everyone 
who works for the council all play a vital role in 
delivering the Best Council Plan. 

 We thank you all.

FOREWORD  2

INTRODUCTION  6

THE BEST COUNCIL PLAN 
ON A PAGE  10

BEST CITY PRIORITIES:

INCLUSIVE GROWTH  12

HEALTH & WELLBEING  14

SUSTAINABLE 
INFRASTRUCTURE  16 

CHILD-FRIENDLY CITY  18

AGE-FRIENDLY LEEDS  20

CULTURE  22

HOUSING  24

SAFE, STRONG COMMUNITIES  26

5

Cllr Judith Blake
Leader of  

Leeds City  
Council

Tom Riordan
Chief Executive of 

Leeds City  
Council

P
age 103



6 7

Our Strengths 
Leeds is a thriving, diverse and dynamic city with 
five unique strengths:

• Leeds is the epicentre of the UK and the heart 
of the northern and national economies with strong 
international links. Leeds is the only Northern city 
from which all the other major Northern cities can 
easily be reached; an economic powerhouse 
predicted to grow by 50% over the next 20 
years, outperforming the national economy. 

• Leeds is young and getting younger.  
Our region is one of the youngest in the UK 
providing a talent pool that is digitally skilled and 
enterprising. The city’s dynamic start-up culture 
and vibrant, youthful environment give Leeds 
that crucial competitive edge. Nearly a quarter of 
the city is aged between 18 and 29 years. Our 
working age population is increasing at a higher 
rate than both the EU as a whole and key cities 
such as Berlin, Madrid and Milan. Our citywide 
talent and skills plan brings together employers 
and educators to collectively identify and provide 
new skills for the economy.

• Leeds is a diverse city, a place that closely 
represents the population of the UK as a whole 
– economically and socio-demographically. We 
put people first, and have a proud record of 
working together to deliver for everyone: Leeds

 is a compassionate city, with a tradition of social 
enterprise and with a social model that harnesses 
the energy of our communities and a strong charity 
sector. Leeds understands that tackling poverty 
and inequality drives economic and social growth. 

• People enjoy the best of both worlds in 
Leeds with all the advantages of a compact, 
cultural, green city and Yorkshire on its 
doorstep. Leeds has all the advantages of a big 
city too, with a thriving job market and access 
to culture, sport, food, and retail at the heart of 
a clean and walkable city centre. Our city has 
fantastic green spaces including one of the 
largest city parks in Europe. The costs of living 
and of doing business in Leeds are competitive, 
with housing, offices and workspaces in 
development to meet growing demand.

• Leeds is distinctively ambitious, powered 
by innovators, entrepreneurs and social 
priorities. Leeds is built on a rich tradition of 
social innovation and continues to support and 
celebrate start-up companies who, like us, are 
working to solve society’s biggest, most urgent 
and challenging problems. Our pioneering 
work on healthcare and technology is helping 
more people worldwide live healthier, more 
productive, active and creative lives. We are 
FinTech and HealthTech leaders with the 
only integrated open health data system in 
Britain; home to world-leading research and 
development through our five universities.

Our Best City Ambition
The Best Council Plan 2020 to 2025 maintains 
our long-term ‘Best City’ strategic focus on 
tackling poverty and inequalities through a 
combination of strengthening the economy and 
doing this in a way that is compassionate and 
caring, allowing us to support the people who 
need it most.

Building on the key council and partnership 
strategies in place and in development, this Best 
Council Plan sets out a number of interconnected 
priority areas of work. These flow in particular 
from our two long-standing main strategies –
Inclusive Growth and Health and Wellbeing – as 
well as a third, new for 2020, strategic key pillar 
for the organisation, Climate Emergency. This 
addition recognises the scale of the challenge 
facing the city – and indeed the world – to make 
the changes needed to combat climate change 
effectively. Consideration of the impact of our 
actions on the planet will need to thread through 
every aspect of daily life in the future, and that 
approach to sustainability is reflected throughout 
this Best Council Plan.

Taken together, a focus on eight ‘Best City’ 
priorities will deliver improved outcomes for 
everyone in Leeds:

• Inclusive Growth
• Health and Wellbeing
• Sustainable Infrastructure
• Child-Friendly City
• Age-Friendly Leeds 
• Housing
• Safe, Strong Communities
• Culture

Our emphasis on these priorities is crucial in 
establishing a ‘new normal’ for life in Leeds after the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Our longstanding commitment 
to them is now more important than ever as we 
continue to focus our support on those in most need, 
while enabling everyone to reach their full potential. 

The following pages briefly explain these priorities 
and set out the key performance indicators we use 
to track progress. We have also signposted the most 
significant ‘Best City’ strategies and action plans 
to read for more detail on both the issues and the 
collaborative and innovative work that we and our 
partners are doing in response – and in which the 
whole city is invited to play its part.

 
INTRODUCTION 

 

3,133kt
total estimated carbon  
dioxide emissions 
(2017 figures, published  
Jun 2019 BEIS):

• 36% domestic
• 34% industrial  

and commercial
• 30% transport

793,000
population of Leeds
(ONS MYE 2019)

• 153,600 (19%)  
children and young  
people 0-15 years

• 123,500 (16%)  
older people  
65+ years

• 516,100 (65%)  
working age  
16-64 years

18,900 
21% increase in  

0-10 year olds  
2008 to 2018 

(ONS MYE 2018)

18.9% 

of the population from  
a BME background 
(Census 2011)

 354,950
number of  
households
(VOA 2019)

 114 
neighbourhoods ranked 

in most deprived 10% 
nationally, 24% of Leeds 
neighbourhoods (IMD 2019)

34,000
people supported  
by foodbanks 
(2018/19)

28,385
number of businesses 

(ONS IDBR 2018)

74.6%
of the working  
age population  
in employment 
(ONS APS Dec 2019)

£28,849
average annual wage  

of a Leeds resident 
(ONS ASHE 2019)

About Leeds

P
age 104



  

8 9

Our Best Council Ambition

The Best Council Plan 2020 to 2025 also maintains 
our long-established ‘Best Council’ strategic focus 
on being an efficient, enterprising and healthy 
organisation, all of which are particularly relevant 
in the context of COVID-19. This reflects our wider 
positive outlook for the role of local government 
in working with our communities to shape and 
strengthen the prospects of the city and its 
residents. Underpinning everything we do and how 
we work to achieve our ambitions are our Values: 

• Being open, honest and trusted
• Treating people fairly
• Spending money wisely
• Working as a team for Leeds
• Working with all communities

Despite growing demand and an unprecedented 
period of budget reductions for local government, 
the council has continued to deliver high quality, 
improved public services and value for money for 
the Leeds public. We use our resources, influence 
and convening capacity to drive inclusive economic 
growth and promote health and wellbeing, tackling 
deprivation and other deep-rooted challenges to 
improve the quality of life for our residents.  

We have re-designed many of our 
services to focus on needs-led, 
asset-based early intervention 
and prevention, and have given 

citizens more control over 
decisions that directly affect them. 

This way of working has seen the council 
consistently receive national recognition for 
outcomes in adults' and children’s social work in 
particular. Our locality working and partnership 
approach continues to develop in communities, 
especially the priority neighbourhoods (small areas 
ranked as some of the most disadvantaged in the 
country where the council is targeting resources). 
By adopting the Climate Emergency as the third 
pillar – alongside Inclusive Growth and Health and 
Wellbeing – of our Best City ambition, we seek to 
further embed sustainability into all aspects of the 
authority’s decision-making.

However, if we are to maintain momentum and 
protect vital services, we must renew our efforts 
towards the Best Council ambition. For the 2020 to 
2025 planning period, we are establishing a Best 
Council framework that draws on our core strengths:

• Strong leadership of place: enabling, 
convening, facilitating and stimulating

• Effective partnership working and 
commissioning to make the most  of the 
collective ‘Leeds pound’ and improve outcomes

• Maintaining a clear focus on  
delivering high quality public services

• Using needs-led, asset-based approaches 
based on early intervention and  
prevention, supporting the people  
and places most in need

• Making the best use of  
our resources:

- Our people 
- Our money
- Our digital capabilities
- Our land and buildings
- Our evidence and insights
- Our communications

• Ongoing engagement with communities  
and individuals 

A set of annexes to this Best Council Plan  
explain these resources in more detail:

• Our People Strategy sets out our ambition to 
be the best place to work, through exceptional 
employee experience, talented managers 
and leaders, and a culture underpinned by 
fairness, diversity and collaboration. In line 
with our overall ambition to keep the city safe, 
the Strategy also includes a focus on keeping 
our staff safe whilst building in flexibility across 
the workforce in response to the pandemic. 

• Our Financial Strategy is helping us become 
more financially sustainable and resilient, 
safeguarding public funds while achieving value 
for money. This will ensure we are well placed to 
respond to the significant funding uncertainties 
and pressures we face – exacerbated to 
an unprecedented level as a direct result of 
coronavirus – and to target our money to where 
it can make the most difference.

• Our digital capabilities play a central role in 
maximising the use of tools and technology to 
improve and transform the way the council works, 
provides services and engages with citizens. 

• Our Estate Management Strategy explains our 
vision and approach to managing the council’s 
land and buildings across the city, helping us 
deliver a modern, efficient, sustainable estate and 
workplaces that remain fit for purpose as the world 
adapts to new ways – and places – of working.

• Our evidence and insights, drawn from 
listening to our citizens and effective use of data, 
help us identify and understand the challenges 
and opportunities we face, assess progress in 
delivering our Best City and Best Council  
ambitions and drive improvement.

• Our communications enable us to clearly 
explain the challenges and opportunities to our 
citizens, partners and other key stakeholders, and 
to engage them in being a part of the solutions, 
further strengthening these vital relationships and 
collaborative working.

As we start to understand the longer-term implications 
of COVID-19 on the city and the council, the Best 
Council framework will provide the basis for the 
decisions we make in the coming months and years 
on the services we provide and how best to allocate 
our resources. 

About Leeds City Council

552 km²

the area the local 
authority covers 

99
elected councillors 

representing 33 wards

15,000
council’s workforce, 
13,000 FTEs (end 
November 2019) 

£2bn
gross revenue for 

day-to-day spending 
(2020/21) 

Includes grants 
relating to schools of 

£805m and £249m for 
council housing (HRA), 

£526m – net revenue 
budget from council 

tax and  
business 

rates 

2,900 km 

of roads we maintain 
(December 2019)  

4,000 hectares 
of parks and green spaces  

we look after; that’s the same as  
around 4,000 rugby pitches 

(December 2019) 

2 million
 library book loans 
we issue each year 

(2018/19)

7,000
people aged over 65 our 

social care services provide 
support to (2018/19)

1,300 
children aged 0-17 in 

the local authority’s care 
(Sep 2019) 

55,000 
council homes (January 
2020) with plans to build 
300 each year over the 

next 5 years and beyond 

2 million 

 bins we empty each month 
(December 2019) 

£588m
 capital spend 

for managing our 
assets, including  

schools,  
housing 

 and roads 
(2020/21)

 

 
98,000 

streetlights  
we maintain  

(December 2019)  

P
age 105



 
BEST COUNCIL PLAN 
2020 to 2025 
Tackling poverty and  
reducing inequalities
with the city’s Inclusive Growth Strategy,  
Health & Wellbeing Strategy  
and Climate Emergency  
declaration as key drivers 

    

• Strong place  
leadership

• Effective  
partnership  
working and  
commissioning

• Clear focus on  
delivering high  
quality, locally  
integrated  
public services 

• Asset-based  
approaches,  
supporting the people  
and places most in need

• Ongoing engagement with 
communities and individuals

• Making the best use of  
our resources:
- Our people
- Our money
- Our digital capabilities
- Our land and buildings
- Our evidence and insights
- Our communications

Leeds Best  
Council Ambition
An Efficient,  
Enterprising  
and Healthy  
Organisation

OUTCOMES 
We want everyone in Leeds to…

• Be safe and feel safe
•  Enjoy happy, healthy, active lives  
• Live in good quality, affordable homes  

in clean and well cared for places
• Do well at all levels of learning and  

have the skills they need for life 
• Enjoy greater access to green spaces, 

leisure and the arts
• Earn enough to support themselves 

and their families
• Move easily around a well-planned, 

sustainable city that’s working towards 
being carbon neutral

• Live with dignity and stay independent 
for as long as possible  

What we and  
our partners are 

focusing on to  
improve outcomes 

 

Leeds Best  
City Ambition
A Strong Economy and  
a Compassionate City 

BEST CITY 
PRIORITIES

Inclusive  
Growth

• Supporting the city’s economic  
recovery from COVID-19 and building  
longer-term economic resilience

• Supporting growth and investment,  
helping everyone benefit from the  
economy to their full potential

• Supporting businesses and residents  
to improve skills, helping people into  
work and into better jobs

•  Targeting interventions to tackle  
poverty in priority neighbourhoods

•  Tackling low pay

Safe, Strong  
Communities
•  Keeping people safe from harm,  

protecting the most vulnerable
•  Helping people out of financial hardship
•  Tackling crime and anti-social behaviour
•  Being responsive to local needs,  

building thriving, resilient  
communities

•  Promoting community  
respect and resilience

 Health & Wellbeing  
•  Ensuring support for the health and social care  

sector to respond to and recover from COVID-19
•  Reducing health inequalities and improving  

the health of the poorest the fastest
•  Supporting healthy, physically active lifestyles 

•  Supporting self-care, with more  
people managing their own health  
conditions in the community

•  Working as a system to  
ensure people get the  
right care, from the right  
people in the right place

Sustainable  
Infrastructure
•  Improving transport connections, 

safety, reliability and affordability
•  Improving air quality, reducing  

pollution and noise
•  Improving the resilience of the city’s 

infrastructure and the natural environment, 
reducing flooding and other risks  
from future climate change

•  Promoting a more competitive,  
less wasteful, more resource  
efficient, low carbon economy

•  Strengthening digital and  
data ‘Smart City’  
infrastructure and  
increasing digital  
inclusion

Culture
•  Growing the cultural  

and creative sector
•  Ensuring that culture 

can be created  
and experienced  
by anyone

•  Enhancing the image  
of Leeds through  
major events and 
attractions

   Housing
•  Housing of the right quality,  

type, tenure and affordability  
in the right places

•  Minimising homelessness 
through a greater focus on 
prevention

•  Providing the right housing  
options to support older and 
vulnerable residents to remain 
active and independent

•  Improving energy performance 
in homes, reducing fuel poverty 

  Child- 
Friendly City

•  Supporting families to give 
children the best start in life

•  Improving educational attainment and 
closing achievement gaps for children 
and young people vulnerable to poor 
learning outcomes

•  Improving social, emotional and mental  
health and wellbeing 

•  Helping young people into adulthood, to  
develop life skills and be ready for work

•  Enhancing the city now and  
for future generations

Age-Friendly Leeds
•  Developing accessible and affordable transport 

options which help older people get around
•  Making Leeds’ public spaces and buildings 

accessible, safe, clean and welcoming
•  Promoting opportunities for older people to  

be healthy, active, included and respected
•  Helping older people participate in the  

city through fulfilling employment  
and learning opportunities

B E I N G  O P E N ,  H O N E S T  A N D  T R U S T E D   T R E AT I N G  P E O P L E  FA I R LY     S P E N D I N G  M O N E Y W I S E LY    W O R K I N G  A S  A  T E A M  F O R  L E E D S     W O R K I N G  W I T H  A L L  C O M M U N I T I E S

BEST COUNCIL PLAN 2020 – 2025
Tackling poverty and reducing inequalities

with the city’s Inclusive Growth Strategy, Health & Wellbeing  
Strategy and Climate Emergency declaration as key drivers  

and locality working as a core principle
 

                                                                                                                                      
OUR VALUES

Underpinning everything we  
do and how we work

10 11

P
age 106



   

However, 
improving 
longer term  
economic resilience  
must be a priority.  
Leeds has sizeable sectors of 
the economy which have been 
hardest hit by the COVID-19 
pandemic, such as retail and 
hospitality, and this has had 
a detrimental impact on the 
businesses concerned and the 
people they employ. We will need 
to use our full range of services, in 
particular economic development 
and employment and skills, to 
support those affected in the 
coming months.

Beyond the impacts of the 
pandemic, more stubborn and 
longstanding issues remain 
throughout the economy: people 
living in our disadvantaged areas 
continue to have poorer health 
outcomes, education attainment 
remains a challenge, and the 
hollowing out of the labour 
market drives down productivity. 

This year will see even more 
change to the city as we leave 
the European Union.  The overall 
impact of Brexit very much 
depends on the government’s 
future economic policy but we 
are working closely with partners 
across the region to plan 
responsibly to mitigate impacts 
and harness any opportunities.

Our Leeds Inclusive 
Growth Strategy 

focuses around three 
themes to address 
inequalities and 

deliver growth: People, 
Place and Productivity

 
Investing in people means 
investing in their health and 
wellbeing, improving education 
and skills, putting children at the 
heart of the growth strategy, and 
employers at the centre of the 
skills system. It means tackling 
low pay and securing better 
social and economic outcomes 
from the role and impact of the 
city’s ‘Anchor Institutions’ (the 
organisations with the biggest 
stake and the most influence 
and impact in Leeds).

A focus on place will mean 
developing and regenerating 
places, supporting neighbour-
hoods, communities and 
centres to respond to economic 
change, growing the city centre 
as an economic powerhouse 
for Leeds and the north, and 
growing major economic hubs 
around the city. An increase in 
new homes, improvements to 
existing housing and investment 
in modern infrastructure will 
support the city’s growth.

Improving productivity is 
also necessary. By backing 
innovators and entrepreneurs we 
can build on our strong start-
up and scale-up performance.  
Embracing technological change 
will create opportunities for 
Leeds, but we must continue 
to promote and invest in digital 
inclusion and skills. Promoting 
a modern, dynamic, diverse 
and outward-looking image of 
Leeds – including maximising 
the economic benefits of culture 
- can drive greater inward 
investment, exports and tourism.

As part of our Inclusive Growth 
Strategy, many businesses 
across all sectors have pledged 
to offer support for our city, 
setting out what they will do 
more of or do differently to 
promote inclusive growth.  
Added to this we now have 12 
Inclusive Growth Ambassadors 
in post to help us deliver our 
strategy and a wider delivery 
partnership working with 
communities, business and 
stakeholders.

• Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy
• Leeds Talent and Skills Plan
• Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan

Our ambition is for a 
strong economy within a 
compassionate city. We will 
deliver this through inclusive 
growth which seeks to ensure 
that the benefits of prosperity 
reach all our communities 
and citizens. This means 
tackling inequalities across 
the city, raising skills levels, 
creating more high quality 
jobs, improving health and 
wellbeing, focusing on our 
communities, embracing the 
digital revolution, supporting 
innovators and entrepreneurs 
and harnessing the economic 
benefits of all sectors. Looking 
at the economic aspect of our 
climate change ambitions, 
it is estimated that Leeds 
could save £277m a year 
if it exploited cost-effective 
opportunities for energy 
efficiency and low carbon 
development.

The Leeds economy is 
performing well with key 
strengths in financial and 
business services, advanced 
manufacturing, health, and 
creative and digital industries.  

 
Leeds has a strong knowledge-
rich employment base linked 
to the city’s universities and 
teaching hospitals which 
are major innovation assets.
Leeds also performs well in 
terms of business start-ups, is 
experiencing record levels of 
development and continues to 
attract Foreign Direct Investment. 
Strong private sector growth since 
2010 (prior to the pandemic) has 
maintained the city’s employment 
rate at above average for the 
region. All of this provides Leeds 
with a strong foundation as we 
look to recovery and, along 
with ongoing grants, rate relief 
and other support for business, 
gives the city’s economy and 
labour market the best chance of 
effectively managing an economic 
slowdown in the short-term to 
protect jobs and livelihoods.

•  Supporting the city’s economic 
recovery from COVID-19 and building 
longer-term economic resilience

• Supporting growth and investment, 
helping everyone benefit from the 
economy to their full potential

• Supporting businesses and  
residents to improve skills, helping 
people into work and into better jobs

•  Targeting interventions to tackle 
poverty in priority neighbourhoods

•  Tackling low pay

 
INCLUSIVE 
GROWTH 

743,192 sq.ft.
city centre office take-up in  

2019; 12% higher than 2018; 
280,524 sq.ft. out of town take-up, 

down 30% on 2018  
(Source: LOAF Jan ‘20)

4.3% (17,900 people) 
UNEMPLOYMENT RATE

 below regional, above national; 22.1% 
(114,100 people) economically inactive – 

slightly below regional, slightly above national 
 (Source: ONS APS, Dec ‘19) 

MAJOR REGENERATION
and infrastructure projects  

include HS2 and South Bank

• Employment in Leeds 

• Unemployment in Leeds

• GVA (Gross Value Added) per 
filled workforce job (current 
prices) 

• Number of new business 
start-ups and scale-ups

• Business survival rate  
(after 5 years)

• Change in business rates 
payable since 2017 revaluation

• Visitor economic impact  
for Leeds

• Percentage of working-age 
Leeds residents with at least a 
Level 4 qualification

• Number of people supported 
to improve their skills

• Percentage of Leeds residents 
and Leeds workers earning 
below the Real Living Wage

• Number of people supported 
into work

• Number of adults of working 
age affected by in-work poverty

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

12 13

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

74.6% 

EMPLOYMENT RATE
 higher than regional,  
slightly below national

(Source: ONS APS, Dec ‘19)

6.7% 
of 16-64 yr olds  

in Leeds have no  
qualifications, below regional and national 

(Source: ONS APS, Jan to Dec ’19) 

EXAM

 

gxu

30,000
Leeds residents in full-time work 

earned below the 2019  

REAL LIVING WAGE 
of £9/hr (Estimate based on ONS ASHE, Nov ’19)

P
age 107



   

There remains enduring 
inequality in the city. Some of us 
experience worse physical and/
or mental health and wellbeing 
because of where we live, 
how much we earn, the air we 
breathe or the pressures we 
face every day. As we have 
been acutely experiencing 
throughout 2020 so far, the  
cost is too great to our people,  
our economy and our city.   
With so many factors 
contributing to health and 
wellbeing, our challenge is 
to develop a broad approach 
reflecting the importance 
of housing, employment, 
community and the environment 
whilst being specific about the 
areas we need to focus on to 
make the biggest difference.  

 

 

  

 

Health and wellbeing start with 
people: our connections with 
family, friends and colleagues; 
the behaviour, care and 
compassion we show one 
another; and the environment 
we create to live in together. 
Our ambition is for Leeds 
to be the best city for health 
and wellbeing, underpinned 
by a strong commitment to 
partnership working across 
health and care services to 
the shared vision in the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy: 

Leeds will be a 
healthy and caring 

city for all ages, where 
people who are the 

poorest improve their 
health the fastest.

 

 
HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING 

• Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy
• Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan
• Leeds Better Lives Strategy
• Leeds Health and Care Plan
• West Yorkshire and Harrogate Integrated Care 

System 5 Year Plan
• Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy
• Leeds Mental Health Strategy

  
•  Ensuring support for the health and  

social care sector to respond to and 
recover from COVID-19

•  Reducing health inequalities and improving 
the health of the poorest the fastest

•  Supporting healthy, physically  
active lifestyles 

•  Supporting self-care, with more  
people managing their own health 
conditions in the community

•  Working as a system to ensure people  
get the right care, from the right people  
in the right place  

SUICIDE RATE 
in Leeds at 

10.9 
per 100,000 people,above  
the England average of 9.6 

14 15

          SMOKING LEVELS
                              at 18.2% 

among adults in 2018, 
above the national average of 14.7%

 (Source: ONS APS 2018, published Jul ’19)   

Local GP data puts the figure  
higher at 18.7% (Oct ’19)

51.6%  
of people in receipt  

of adult social care services  
said they have as much social contact 

as they would like, higher than England 
average (45.9%) but reducing social 

isolation remains a focus 
(Source: DoH ASCOF 1I(2) 2018/19, published Oct ’19). 

67.3% 
of adults (428,300 people) are

 PHYSICALLY ACTIVE  
(150+ minutes a week)  

and the number of inactive adults  
(<30 mins a week) continues to fall. 

 (Source: Active Lives Survey  
12 months to May 2019, published Oct ’19)

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

• Infant mortality rate
• Percentage/proportion of 

children maintaining a healthy 
weight at age 11

• Percentage of physically 
active adults

• Percentage of adults who smoke
• Avoidable years of life lost
• Suicide rate
• Percentage of pupils 

achieving a good level of 
development at the end of the 
Early Years Foundation Stage

• Percentage of CQC-registered 
care services in Leeds rated 
as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’

• Number of permanent 
admissions to residential and 
nursing care homes: (a) for 
people aged 18-64 including 
12 week disregards; (b) for 
people aged 65+ including  
12 week disregards

• Proportion of people who use 
social care services who have 
control over their daily life

 The average  
QUALITY OF LIFE

 rating for people receiving adult  
social care services remains 

HIGHER THAN THE 
NATIONAL AVERAGE

 ranking Leeds 16th in the country  
(19.6 in Leeds out of a maximum of 24; 

19.1 in England)
 (Source: DoH ASCOF 1a  

2018/19, published Oct ’19)

After an increase in 2014-16,

 INFANT MORTALITY
 rates fell 2016-18 

4.0 PER 1,000
live births for 2016-18, slightly higher than  

the England average (3.9), same as regional
(Source: PHE Fingertips 2016-18 data)  

We believe we are well placed 
to respond. We are working 
with communities and partners, 
delivering asset-based 
community development 
approaches, to improve local 
support for people with care 
and support needs.  

 85.5% 
of CQC-registered  
care services in  
Leeds rated as 

‘GOOD’ or ‘outstanding’
(Snapshot Dec’19)

63.3% 
of people receiving  
adult social care services

SATISFIED OVERALL 
with their care and support, slightly 
below national average of 64.3% but 
up from the previous year’s 62.94% 
(Source: DoH ASCOF 3a 2018/19,published Oct ’19).

In addition, the network of 
national health leadership, 
health-tech and research 
organisations in the city, along 
with our city’s strong economy 
and exceptional universities, 
create a unique health and 
care infrastructure.
Leeds is a pioneer in the use 
of information and technology. 
We have a thriving third sector 
and inspiring community assets. 
We have established strong 
relationships with health and 
care partners to continue 
to pursue improvement 
and integration aimed at 
making care services 
more person-centred, 
joined-up and 
preventative, whilst 
also responding 
to the financial 
challenges across 
the whole system.

 

 

In Leeds we believe  
that our greatest strength 
and our most important  

asset is our people.

 LIFE  
EXPECTANCY 

at birth in Leeds at   

below England averages
(Source: PHE Fingertips 2015-17 data)  

82.1 
years for women, 

78.2 
years for men,

More closely aligning the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy with the Inclusive 
Growth Strategy and our Climate 
Change ambitions will be crucial to 
these efforts, reflecting the pivotal 
relationship between these three 
agendas for the city.
The Leeds Health and Care Plan 
is key in taking our work forward: 
with its focus on protecting 
the vulnerable and reducing 
inequalities, improving quality 
and consistency, and building a 
sustainable system against the 
backdrop of reducing resources.

    
    

    
    

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

     
     

      
      

        
              

                                                                                                                                                             (Source: Leeds My Health, My School Survey 2018/19
)

After 7  
consistent years,  
2018/19 saw a 2%  
increase to just under

 24% 
of pupils reporting that, on an  

average day, they eat ‘5 or  
more portions of fruit and 

vegetables’ 

During 2020 we will continue our 
work to strengthen the health and 
care system, supporting patients and 
citizens even better than before as 
we move into a period of living with 
COVID-19. This will mean ensuring 
all health and care settings have the 
supplies and equipment they require to 
provide safe care, developing cutting 
edge approaches to testing and tracing 
the disease, and continuing to push for 
a fair settlement which values the vital 
work of social care. Moreover we will 
need to remain vigilant to any lasting 
effects of the lengthy lockdown period 
on the Leeds population. 

P
age 108



   

   

Our ongoing work to reduce 
the risk of flooding is protecting 
homes and businesses, 
increasing employment and 
making tourist attractions more 
accessible. Phase 1 of the 
Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme 
has been completed and Phase 
2 is in development. 

We are working with the 
Environment Agency, partners 
and landowners on the River 
Aire to deliver natural measures 
to slow the flow of water 
upstream so the landscape 
can hold more water in times of 
flood. Along with more traditional 
engineering solutions, we 
are creating new woodland, 
managing land to reduce the flow 
of water during heavy rain and 
restoring river and flood plains.  

We want Leeds to be a healthy 
city and reducing carbon 
emissions will help. We are 
introducing a Clean Air Zone that 

will charge buses, HGVs, taxis 
and private hire vehicles that 
fail to meet the latest emissions 
standards. We are providing 
assistance and advice to help 
local organisations prepare  
and are taking forward  
measures to encourage future 
zero carbon transport.  

The renewed commitment 
to HS2, the Northern 
Powerhouse agenda, the 
agreement of a West Yorkshire 
Devolution Deal and the West 
Yorkshire Transport Strategy 

are the context for a fresh 
strategic approach for the city’s 
transport. The £270m Leeds 
Public Transport Investment 
Programme is marking a new era 
in public transport investment. 
The programme has informed 
proposals to the Transforming 
Cities Fund, which aims to 
improve productivity and spread 
prosperity through investment in 
public and sustainable transport. 
The council is also leading on 
schemes within the £1bn West 
Yorkshire Transport Fund to 
promote housing and employment 
growth. Initiatives include:

• Investing in a new Leeds 
High Frequency Bus Network, 
aiming for 90%+ of core bus 
services running every  
10 minutes  7am– 8pm.

• Reduced bus delays through 
signal technology innovation 
to enhance bus priority, 
provide better pedestrian 
facilities and improve  
stop facilities.

• New buses that meet Euro 
6 air quality standards and 
offer a better passenger 
experience by 2020 and 
support the electrification of 
the bus fleet.

A joined up approach to digital 
technology, data, infrastructure, 
digital literacy and skills across 
the whole city is vital to our 
future success. This is managed 
through the Smart Leeds 
programme. An example of this 
is the accelerated delivery of 
full fibre across the city, helping 
to directly increase Leeds’ 
economic output as well as 
providing the infrastructure for 
more sustainable new models of 
care and other public services. 
The Smart Leeds approach 
builds on assets such as the 
Open Data Institute, Data Mill 
North and Leeds Institute for 
Data Analytics (LIDA) to further 
establish Leeds as a leader in 
the application of data.

  
•  Improving transport connections, 

safety, reliability and affordability
•  Improving air quality, reducing pollution and noise
•  Improving the resilience of the city’s infrastructure  

and the natural environment, reducing flooding  
and other risks from future climate change

•  Promoting a more competitive, less wasteful,  
more resource efficient, low carbon economy

•  Strengthening digital and data ‘Smart City’  
infrastructure and increasing digital inclusion

 
SUSTAINABLE 
INFRASTRUCTURE

• Leeds Transport Strategy
• Leeds Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Strategy 
• Leeds Local Flood Risk Management Strategy
• Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy
• Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy
• West Yorkshire Low Emissions Strategy
• West Yorkshire Transport Strategy
• Transport for the North Strategic Transport Plan

16 17

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

Like other growing cities, Leeds 
faces a number of challenges, 
including adapting to climate 
change, linking people to services 
and employment, enabling 
people to better manage their 
wellbeing and increasing the 
number of people choosing 
active travel and public transport.    

Sustainable and joined up 
infrastructure has a vital role 
to play in responding to these 
challenges. A resource-efficient 
and connected city will be 
a better, healthier place to 
live, more competitive and 
better placed to ride out future 
economic and climate shocks. 
The city’s infrastructure is facing 
significant short- and medium- 
term challenges, however, as 
social distancing requirements 
have become a national priority. 

In this context, sustainability has 
taken on a new emphasis as 
safety – for people and places 
– must be central to how our 
systems operate. The realities 
of this in practice will require 
creativity, innovation and effective 
partnerships to overcome, as 
previous business models come 
under pressure and we try to 
maintain open and accessible 
public spaces while needing to 
restrict person-to-person contact.  

In tackling this, our approach 
needs to go beyond a narrow 
pursuit of growth, ensuring 
Leeds is liveable as well as 
prosperous. More intelligent 
use of public transport will 
be needed to help those who 
need it most to safely go about 
their daily lives. But we must 
recognise our earlier focus on 

rapidly  
expanding  
the use of  
public transport  
has become less  
viable, at least in the  
short term. Instead,  
working with city stakeholders 
to examine how employment, 
education, and travel should 
take place will be needed 
to manage demand. And 
of course we must all be 
mindful of avoiding a surge 
in environmentally damaging 
activity which could have 
disastrous longer term effects.

Our sustainable infrastructure  
priority reflects the council’s 
2019 declaration of a climate 
emergency and our ambition 
to work towards being a net 
zero carbon city by 2030. 
We carried out a Big Leeds 
Climate Conversation to raise 
awareness and explore what 
people thought about some 
bold ideas to cut emissions. 
The 8,000+ responses received 
and Leeds Climate Change 
Commission's and Citizens’ 
Jury's recommendations are 
informing the council’s strategy: 
practical steps we can take now 
and further work required.

• Satisfaction with a range of 
transport services

• Number of passengers 
boarding buses in the  
Leeds district

• Increase in city centre travel 
by sustainable transport (bus, 
train, cycling, walking)

• Percentage of waste recycled
• Carbon emissions across  

the city
• Level of CO2 emissions 

from council buildings and 
operations

• Number of residential and 
commercial properties moved 
to a lower level of flood risk

• Increase in tenants’ digital 
skills/confidence, access to 
equipment and motivation

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

    Connect another

1,000  
homes to  

low carbon  
district heating

That’s why the council
 is going to…

We had a Big
Leeds Climate 
Conversation…

 Switch to

 100%  
green electricity

 
INCREASE 
tree canopy 

Trial tasty,  

REDUCED-
CARBON  
school meals 

 

Enable businesses  
to trial electric vans for  

FREE

P
age 109



   

Our child-friendly city aspiration 
is visible throughout this Best 
Council Plan in the work we are 
doing to make Leeds the best city 
in the UK for children and young 
people to grow up in; to improve 
the homes and places in which 
children live and play; and to 
increase their overall health and 
wellbeing. We want to make a 
difference to the lives of children 
and young people who live in 
Leeds, to have a positive impact on 
improving outcomes for all children, 
while recognising the need for 
outcomes to improve faster for 
children from disadvantaged 
and vulnerable backgrounds. 

The interventions we make 
and the support we provide 
to achieve these aspirations 
are even more important in 
the context of the COVID-19 
pandemic which is likely to 
impact harder upon more 
disadvantaged families.

It is our poorest areas that are 
growing the fastest. As the age 
profile of these areas shows a 
greater proportion of residents 
of childbearing age, combined 
with higher housing densities 
and patterns of migration, it 
is no surprise the city’s most 
deprived communities show 
higher birth rates than the Leeds 
average. Where Leeds most 
notably stands out is for the rate 
of growth in the child population 
living in areas considered in the 
3% most deprived in England 
(Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
2019).  Between 2012 and 
2018 it is estimated the child 
population (ages 0-17) grew by

17% or 3,400 children in these 
areas (based on ONS Mid-Year 
Estimates 2018), the largest 
numerical growth of any local 
authority. 

Realising our child-friend city 
aspiration will require progress 
across all the Best Council 
Plan priorities, with renewed 
action to integrate policy 
initiatives, for example:

• Through the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, we will 
promote healthy, physically 
active lifestyles for our 
young people.

• Our pursuit of safe, strong 
communities will endeavour 
to keep young people safe 
from harm, protecting the 
most vulnerable.

• Our approach to transport 
will aim to address the 
specific requirements of 
young people.

• We will continue to engage 
with children and young 
people to help respond to 
the climate emergency, 
recognising their valuable 
roles as agents of change 
in their families, schools 
and communities.

• Improving the skills and 
education of our young 
people as they enter the 
world of work is central to our 
approach to inclusive growth.

The introduction of the 3As 
Strategy in 2019 (attendance, 
attainment and achievement) 
was driven by our ambition 
to support all children and 
young people to reach their full 
potential. The strategy aims to 
close the gaps between more 
and less advantaged children 
and young people through 
collaborating with internal and 
external partners. Children 
and young people will be 
supported to engage positively 
with education and will be 
offered opportunities that lead 
to positive, lifelong pathways.  
Through this, we will give all 
children and young people 
in Leeds, particularly those 
who are vulnerable and/or 
disadvantaged, an empowering 
start in life and enable them 
to thrive in a vibrant and 
compassionate city.

Our approach places the child 
at the heart of everything we 
do: we give children a voice, 
we give them influence, and 
we work with children, young 
people and their families to 
develop quality connections and 
relationships. This means that 
together, we can make Leeds a 
safer and better place in which 
to live, learn, and grow up.

The Leeds Children and Young 
People’s Plan explains our child-
friendly approach and sets out 
eleven priority areas of work:

1. Help children and parents 
to live in safe, supportive 
and loving families

2. Ensure that the most 
vulnerable are protected

3. Support families to give 
children the best start in life

4. Increase the number of 
children and young people 
participating and engaging 
in learning

5. Improve achievement and 
attainment for all

6. Improve at a faster rate 
educational progress for 
children and young  
people vulnerable to  
poor learning outcomes

7. Improve social, emotional and 
mental health and wellbeing

8. Encourage physical  
activity and healthy eating

9. Support young people 
to make good choices 
and minimise risk-taking 
behaviours

10. Help young people into 
adulthood, to develop life 
skills, and be ready for work

11. Improve access to affordable, 
safe, and reliable connected 
transport for young people

• Number of children who need 
to be looked after

• Number of children and young 
people subject to a child 
protection plan

• Attendance at primary and 
secondary schools

• Percentage of pupils reaching 
the expected standard in reading, 
writing and maths at the end of 
Key Stage 2 (end of year 6)

• Progress 8 score for Leeds at 
the end of Key Stage 4 (end of 
year 11)

• Percentage and number of 
young people who are NEET  
or whose status is ‘not known’

• Average Attainment 8 score 
for pupils with SEND but no 
statement

• Fixed term exclusions  
in all schools

 
CHILD-FRIENDLY 
CITY

1,288  

CHILDREN 
LOOKED AFTER

 (2018/19) down from 
1,450 (March 2011) 
an 11.2% reduction 

compared to a rise of 
19.3% nationally.  

• Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan 
• The 3As Strategy (attendance, attainment and achievement)
• Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds

  
•  Supporting families to give children the best 

start in life
•  Improving educational attainment and closing 

achievement gaps for children and young 
people vulnerable to poor learning outcomes

•  Improving social, emotional and mental 
health and wellbeing 

 •    Helping young people into adulthood, to 
develop life skills and be ready for work

 

Nearly

50,000 
0-15yr olds  
live in 10% MOST  

DEPRIVED AREAS 
in England, a third of all  
0-15 year-olds in Leeds 

(Source: IMD 2019 and ONS MYE 2018)

18 19

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

9.9% 
of 16 and 17 year olds  
(1,573 young people) 

NOT IN EDUCATION, 
EMPLOYMENT OR 
TRAINING (NEET) 

or whose activity is not known 
(2.0% NEET, 7.9% not known),  
 above regional and national.
(DfE average of Dec ’18, Jan ’19 and Feb ’19)

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

Key Stage 2: 

61% 

EXPECTED STANDARD  
in reading, writing and maths, same 
as the year before, below national. 

   

Leeds pupils achieved:
Early Years Foundation Stage: 

66.4%
GOOD LEVEL 

of development, up from 2017/18, 
below regional and national 

 

Key Stage 4 (GCSE): 

41.2%
STRONG  PASS

(grade 9-5) in English and  
Maths, up on 2017/18, below 

national. Progress 8 score +0.02, 
Leeds above all comparator groups.  

(DfE 2018/19 academic year)

P
age 110



   

  
•  Developing accessible and affordable 

transport options which help older people 
get around

•  Making Leeds’ public spaces and buildings 
accessible, safe, clean and welcoming

•  Promoting opportunities for older people to 
be healthy, active, included and respected

•  Helping older people participate in the  
city through fulfilling employment  
and learning opportunities

Leeds wants to be a 
place where people 

age well: where older 
people are valued, 
feel respected and 
appreciated, and  
are seen as the  
assets they are.  

  

The opportunities and challenges 
presented by an ageing 
population are well known. Older 
people contribute in countless 
ways to Leeds’ rich and vibrant 
communities – as volunteers and 
community connectors, through 
intergenerational interactions 
and unpaid caring roles, and as 
business owners and employees. 
But many are more likely to 
have multiple long-term health 
conditions with inequalities 
disproportionately affecting the 
poorest. 

Inequalities in older age are 
cumulative and have a significant 
impact on health, wellbeing and 
independence. Unfortunately 
some of these inequalities have 
deepened over 2020 so far 
as COVID-19 has both had a 
stronger direct impact on the 
health of older people, and the 
measures introduced to control it 
have exacerbated some existing 
challenges, such as around 
social isolation. 

Pension Credit  
is available to 

supplement the UK State 
pension and help lift people out 
of poverty; but not everyone 
entitled to pension credit claims it.   

Our approach to making Leeds 
the best city to grow old is one 
of citizenship. The approach: 
ensures there is a strong focus 
on social networks within 
neighbourhoods and the city; 
promotes social capital and 
participation; age-proofs and 
develops universal services; 
tackles inequalities and reduces 
social exclusion; aims to 
change social structures and 
tackle ageist attitudes; and 
facilitates age-friendly practices 
in local communities.

This approach has shaped a 
culture in Leeds which will help 
the whole population to recover 
well from enforced distancing, 
reconnecting with friends, 
families and communities in a 
safe and fulfilling way.

A lot of good work already 
takes place in Leeds – and in 
the council, we are looking at 
our age-friendly employment 
practices – but to give this a 
clearer strategic context we 
developed an Age-Friendly 
Strategy which cuts across all 
our Best Council Plan priorities. 

 
AGE-FRIENDLY 
LEEDS

20 21

                 This focuses our work         
around six areas adapted for Leeds 
from the WHO’s Age-Friendly City 
domains: Housing; Public and civic 
spaces; Travel and road safety; 
Active, included and respected; 
Healthy, independent ageing; 
and Employment and learning.

CROSS-CUTTING 
THEMES:

Partnership working underpins 
our Age-Friendly approach: 

• The Age-Friendly Board (Making 
Leeds the Best City to Grow Old 
In) provides strategic leadership, 
supported by a broader Age-
Friendly Leeds Partnership, 
co-led by the council and 
Leeds Older People’s Forum. 
It brings together statutory, 
voluntary and private sectors 
to address priorities identified 
by older people to help make 
Leeds more age-friendly.

• The Centre for Ageing Better, 
the council and Leeds Older 
People’s Forum are piloting 
innovative approaches to 
generate new evidence of 
‘what works’ for ageing well. 
The partnership has three 
initial priorities: 

1) Addressing older people’s 
housing information  
and advice needs   

2) Developing innovative 
community transport    
        solutions

3) The motivations, 
barriers and enablers 
that older people face 
in contributing to their 

communities

• At national and 
international levels, 
Leeds is a member 

of: the UK Network 
of Age-Friendly 
Communities which 

collaborate to 

 

bring about change in the 
way we respond to population 
ageing; the Eurocities Urban 
Ageing Forum, raising 
awareness and improving 
strategies for age-friendly 
environments in cities; and 
the World Health Organisation 
(WHO) Age-Friendly Cities, 
fostering the exchange of 
mutual learning worldwide.  

In 2019, Leeds became the 
first local authority to join over 
60 leading public and voluntary 
sector organisations to commit 
to a shared vision for healthy 
ageing in preparation for the 
WHO’s Decade of Healthy 
Ageing 2020-2030. The 
commitments are based around 
five principles for healthy 
ageing: prioritising prevention; 
creating opportunities for people 
to contribute to society as they 
age; narrowing inequalities; 
fostering inclusive homes, 
workplaces and communities; 
and challenging ageist attitudes.

Of the

people estimated  
to be living in  
the 10% most  
deprived areas  
of Leeds...

Most deprived  
areas of Leeds 
 

The 2011 Census indicated that:

232,000
people in Leeds were aged 50+

110,000
people were aged 65+ 

15,000
were aged 85+  

Leeds’ population of  
793,000 grew by 6.6%  
from 2009;those aged  
65+ went up by

13.6%
from 2009 to 2019
(ONS: 2019 Mid-Year Estimates)

  

• Income Deprivation Affecting 
Older People Index (IDAOPI) 
as a percentage compared to 
Core Cities

• Percentage of new 
developments built to accessible 
and adaptable standards

• Healthy life expectancy (years) 
by gender

• Disability-free life expectancy 
(years)

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements 

26%  
(nearly 48,500 people)  

are aged 50+

11%  
(20,500 people)  

 are aged 65+ 

1.5%  
(2,800 people)  
are aged 85+

(Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation 2019)  

190,000

• Age-Friendly Leeds Strategy

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

ACCESS TO DIGITAL 
TECHNOLOGY 

– help and support for  
people who want to use  

digital technology to  
make their lives better. 

EFFECTIVE  
COMMUNICATIONS

 – promoting ageing positively and 
providing information about services and 

activities in a format that older 
people can easily  

access and which  
suits their needs.

ENGAGEMENT  
WITH OLDER PEOPLE 

– involving and consulting with older 
people on the development, delivery, 

management and evaluation of 
those services and projects  

which affect them.

REDUCING 
INEQUALITIES 

 – recognising the barriers faced by 
older people who are, or are at risk of, 

being vulnerable or disadvantaged, and 
putting interventions in place to  

remove or reduce these barriers. 

P
age 111



    

• For Leeds to be at the 
forefront of cultural innovation, 
making the most of new and 
emerging technologies.

• For the culture sector to grow 
and increase its contribution 
to Leeds’ economy, by 
placing culture at the heart of 
the city’s narrative.

• For established cultural 
organisations to be resilient, 
and to create an environment 
where new cultural 
organisations can flourish. 

In the last few years we have 
seen Leeds’ cultural profile 
increase significantly. This has 
been a major factor in boosting 
the economy, attracting new 
businesses and jobs to the city, 
with a major highlight being 
Channel 4’s decision to move 
its national headquarters to City 
Square. We will continue to 
support creative SMEs and 
entrepreneurs and 
the spaces they 
need to develop 
their ideas and 
businesses.  

We will also encourage 
creative and cultural 
education and participation 
among our children and 
young people, understanding 
the role this can play in 
giving them the skills they 
need to thrive in 21st-century 
jobs. Employers tell us that 
with the advance of robotics 
and artificial intelligence, key 
human skills required will 
increasingly include empathy, 
communications, flexibility  
and creativity – a strong 
cultural and creative education 
remains essential.

Our approach is rooted in our 
communities and takes a wide 
definition of culture, aiming to 
embed it across areas such as 
urban regeneration, education 
and health and wellbeing.  

Since the city’s bid to be 
European Capital of Culture 
came to an end, Leeds has 
forged ahead with its plans  
to host an alternative  
year-long celebration  
of culture in 2023. 

The Leeds 2023 festival of 
culture will have a strong 

international focus and will 
celebrate the 
diverse cultures 
from across 
the globe to be 
found here. As 
we reimagine our 
city post-COVID, 

2023 can signify the 
ambition to ‘build 
back better’. Please 
visit the Leeds 2023 
website here for more 
information, including 
how to get involved. 

  
•  Growing the cultural and 

creative sector
•  Ensuring that culture can be 

created and experienced by 
anyone

•  Enhancing the image of 
Leeds through major events 
and attractions

Culture is what we 
do and who we are, 

encompassing a 
broad range of actions 

and activities which 
have the capacity to 
transform, challenge, 
reassure and inspire, 
giving a place and its 
people a unique and 
distinctive identity. 

(Our definition of culture as set out  
in the Leeds Culture Strategy) 

Leeds backs culture in its 
widest sense. We believe 
it has a vital role to play in 
realising our Best City 
ambition, recognising the 
contribution it can make to 
individuals’ physical and 

mental health,  
educational and  
employment options  
and quality of life.  
We also recognise the 
contribution it can make  
to the city’s confidence,  
profile and economy. Our 
culture both defines our rich 
differences, and brings us 
closer together – its purpose 
is the very opposite of social 
distancing.  Sharing the 
diverse cultures of our city 
helps people to get to know 
and respect their neighbours 
and it can help build wider 
community cohesion. Most 
of all, culture can be fun and 
life-affirming. Thousands of 
arts, cultural and community 
organisations, and everyone 
in the city, make Leeds’ culture 
what it is and their exceptional 
contributions will continue to 

be valued.  

Our approach is  
set out in the Leeds  
Culture Strategy which has 
seven objectives:

• For the city to value and 
prioritise cultural activity, 
using it as a means of 
improving the quality of life 
of every person and every 
community in Leeds.

• For culture to build  
respect, cohesion and 
co-existence between and 
within communities and 
individuals.

• For people, whatever their 
background, to be supported 
to be creative through 
school, informal learning, 
training, volunteering and 
employment, ensuring that 
culture can be created and 
experienced by everyone.

• For Leeds to be nationally 
and internationally 
recognised as a liveable city, 
and a thriving, internationally 
connected cultural hub open 
to collaboration.

 
CULTURE 

Cultural events  
across the city attract 

thousands 

OF PEOPLE 

including Leeds Pride, 
Leeds West Indian Carnival, 
Leeds Light Night and  
Leeds International  
Film Festival

• Leeds Culture Strategy

KPIs 
We want everyone in Leeds to…

22 23

• Leeds’ Cultural Vibrancy, 
Creative Economy and 
Enabling Environment (as 
measured through the 
biennial European Cultural 
and Creative Cities Monitor). 

• Number of visitors at a range 
of venues and events

• Number of employees in the 
creative industries in Leeds

 

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

Leeds Museums  
& Galleries is the 

LARGEST 

local authority-run museum 
service in England, welcoming

1.7m visitors
 across its 9 sites in 2018/19 

 

INTERNATIONAL  
CULTURAL 
FESTIVAL 

for everyone, celebrating the  
diverse cultural life of Leeds

Leeds city 
 centre has 

 PURPLE  
FLAG STATUS

recognising excellence in managing  
  the evening and night time economy

Many of Leeds’ parks awarded  

GREEN FLAG STATUS 

 (2019) e.g. Roundhay, Golden Acre,  
Pudsey, Middleton, Kirkstall  

       Abbey & Temple Newsam

P
age 112



   

One of the biggest challenges 
Leeds faces is to provide 
enough quality and accessible 
homes to meet the city’s 
growing population, whilst 
protecting the quality of the 
environment and respecting 
community identity. The need 
for affordable housing and 
affordable warmth are key 
issues in meeting this 
challenge.

 

The Leeds Housing 
Strategy sets out 
our ambitions for 

effectively meeting 
housing need  
to make Leeds 
the best place 

to live.

We continue to deliver six 
priorities within the Leeds 
Housing Strategy:

• affordable housing growth
• improving housing quality 
• promoting independent living 
• creating sustainable 

communities
• improving health through 

housing
• meeting the needs of older 

residents 

Following the council’s 
declaration of a climate 
emergency, we can add 
another to this set of priorities:

• Improving housing energy 
performance

In practice, we are co-ordinating 
activity to meet housing 
needs, improve existing 
housing and regenerate 
neighbourhoods, and to 
secure housing growth of the 
right scale, type (including a 
good mix of housing size and 
tenure) and quality.  

In recent years there has been 
a growth in the private rented 
sector. The council supports 
landlords via the Leeds Rental 
Standard, self-regulation 
for the sector, and forums.  
Poor landlords are targeted 
by proactively addressing 
standards via regulation and 
initiatives such as the Leeds 
Neighbourhood Approach, 
selective licensing and the 
Rogue Landlord Unit. 

Working with developers and 
housing associations, we 
maximise opportunities to 
build new homes – including 
affordable homes – and bring 
empty homes back into use.

• Leeds Housing Strategy
• Leeds Core Strategy
• Leeds Site Allocations Plan
• Leeds Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy

 
HOUSING  
•  Housing of the right quality,  

type, tenure and affordability  
in the right places

•  Minimising homelessness through 
a greater focus on prevention

•  Providing the right housing  
options to support older and 
vulnerable residents to remain 
active and independent

•  Improving energy performance in 
homes and reducing fuel poverty 

 

 

This is above the 

 10.9% 

England and regional 
(10.6%) averages but  
down from 13.1%  
(42,929 households)  
the year before. 

(Source: BEIS Sub-regional fuel  
poverty, England, published Jun ‘19)

11.1% 
(36,926) of Leeds households 

estimated to live in 

FUEL POVERTY
in 2017, meaning their  
energy costs are high  
relative to their 
incomes.

24 25

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

• Growth in new homes  
in Leeds 

• Number of affordable  
homes delivered

• Housing mix in the city 
• Percentage of housing 

adaptations completed  
within target timescale 

• Improved energy and  
thermal efficiency 
performance of houses

• Number of households in  
fuel poverty

• Number of homeless 
preventions 

• Number of rough sleepers  
in Leeds

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

  
The council has committed to 
a significant council housing 
new build programme, including 
specialist Extra Care housing 
schemes, which are being built 
to the Leeds Standard: better 
urban design, meeting space 
standards and using sustainable 
construction. We work closely 
with health agencies to ensure 
that homes meet the health 
needs of residents, carrying 
out adaptations and rehousing 
support to enable disabled 
people to live independently and 
prevent admission to hospital  
or residential care.  

1,160 

adaptations installed in council 
homes to meet tenants’ needs 
(2018/19)

199,401 
repairs carried out on  
council housing across the city
(2018/19) 
Investment in the energy 
efficiency of homes is more 
important than ever before, 
helping us in our work to 
both respond to the climate 
emergency and tackle fuel 
poverty. Following extensive 
investment over the last 
fifteen years in insulation and 
efficient heating systems, 
council housing is at ‘C’ for 
energy efficiency (as at 2019) 

compared to ‘D’ for housing 
as a whole. The authority 
has now secured funding to 
install external wall insulation 
on much of its own back-
to-back stock and to roll 
out domestic solar, with the 
ability to store energy. We are 
building new council homes 
to near Passivhaus standards 
and investing heavily in 
retrofit programmes to bring 
all existing homes to this 
standard. The costs of this 
retrofit are high, in excess of 
£1bn, so the council is lobbying 
for enhanced national funding.

More significant challenges 
lie in the owner occupied and 
private rented sector where local 
authorities have less influence. 
However, Leeds will continue 
to support charities such as 
LATCH and Canopy who bring 
older properties back into use 
after extensive energy efficiency 
works and call for measures at 
a national level to improve the 
energy efficiency of privately 
rented and owned homes.     

All of this work is done through 
the lens of the council’s climate 
emergency declaration through 
which we are committed to 
making Leeds carbon neutral 
by 2030. This will require all 
homes to be well insulated, 
with low or zero carbon heating 
and many with integrated 
renewables by this time.  

We continue to be successful 
at minimising homelessness 
through prevention initiatives, 
ensuring that no person needs 
to sleep rough in Leeds.  
Vulnerable young people, 
adults and families are helped 
further through our Housing 
Related Support Programme.  

Our Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy sets out five 
themes that provide the 
framework for our work:

• Minimise rough sleeping
• Maximise homeless prevention
• Future role of housing related 

support in Leeds
• Youth homelessness
• A focus on  

priority  
groups

51 
households owed a  
housing duty as a homeless 
household in emergency  

TEMPORARY 
ACCOMMODATION
compared to Birmingham (2,477 
placements) and Manchester 
(1,971 placements) (end Sep 2019).

3,521 
newly built and  
converted homes  
delivered, Leeds’  
best result since 2012.  
433 of these affordable 
homes (2018/19)

P
age 113



   

Leeds is a growing and richly 
diverse city, with people of 
different ages, backgrounds, 
cultures and beliefs living and 
working alongside each other. As 
a City of Sanctuary, we celebrate 
this diversity and want Leeds 
to be a welcoming city for all, 
where people get on with each 
other and feel part of their local 
neighbourhood. To achieve this, 
we need strong local leadership, 
to increase community 
conversations to resolve 
problems locally, raise aspirations, 
create better links to social and 
economic opportunities, and 
improve resilience to extremist 
narratives. Increasing community 
engagement and participation 
will reduce dependency on public 
services, building thriving, more 
resilient communities that make 
the best use of their strengths and 
assets to overcome challenges.  

Never more so have we seen 
the strength and perseverance 
of our communities than over 
recent months. The COVID-19 
pandemic has brought real 
emotional and financial 
hardship to too many families, 
but it has also seen Leeds’ 
community spirit come into its 
own – truly the compassionate 
city in action. 

Whether it’s the thousands 
of people who volunteered 
to help those shielding at 
home, the businesses and 
charities which have supported 
the council’s food distribution 
efforts, or the coalition of voices 
responding to an uptick in 
domestic violence and abuse, 
Leeds has ensured that nobody 
is left isolated and forgotten 
throughout the challenge we 
are facing together. 

Central to our ambition is 
a place-based, integrated 
approach to service delivery, 
and a focus on tackling poverty 
and reducing inequality in some 
of our poorest neighbourhoods.
We are working seamlessly 
with partners from all sectors to 
meet the needs and demands 
of communities, regardless of 
responsibility for resources.   

Underpinning all our 
work is our ambition for 
Leeds to be inclusive, 
where all citizens are 

treated fairly. 

We are bringing people together to 
make a difference and help them 
to do more for themselves and 
others so that their communities 
can thrive, making sure that:

• Local councillors are at the 
forefront of our approach to 
community leadership, their 
community knowledge used 
effectively to plan local services

• Percentage of people with a 
concluded safeguarding enquiry 
for whom their desired outcomes 
were fully or partially met

• Self-reporting of domestic 
violence and abuse incidents 

• Number of people killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic collisions 

• Council tenant satisfaction with the 
neighbourhood as a place to live

• Percentage of Leeds residents 
who say they feel safe in their 
local area

• Number of reported anti-social 
behaviour / nuisance incidents

• Number of reported hate incidents

 
SAFE, STRONG 
COMMUNITIES 

• Safer Leeds Plan
• Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan
• Citizens@Leeds – Supporting communities and 

tackling poverty 
• Leeds City Council Equality Improvement Priorities
• Community Committees Annual Report

  
•  Keeping people safe from harm,  

protecting the most vulnerable
•  Helping people out of financial hardship
•  Tackling crime and anti-social behaviour
•  Being responsive to local needs,  

building thriving, resilient communities
•  Promoting community respect  

and resilience

26 27

KPIs 
How we will measure progress  
and achievements

 

• Residents, communities, 
businesses and organisations 
are equal partners

• Local people are engaged 
to achieve things we cannot 
achieve alone and we add 
value to their activities

• The city’s strategic priorities are 
aligned to local communities 
to deliver joint action

• Tools and support are provided 
so local people can take action  
and we share information, 
skills and resources

This approach expands on the 
work of Community Committees 
by outlining a more joined-up 
service offer in several inner 
area priority wards and outer 
area priority social housing 
estates, and importantly those 
neighbourhoods which fall into 
the 1% most deprived nationally. 
The work of Community 
Committees is promoted through 
@_YourCommunity.

Recognising our communities 
are more diverse than ever, 
our strategic approach to 
migration is based on engaging 
with established and new 
communities to improve the way 
we communicate how our city 
works. This is complex work, 
involving multiple partners, 
through which a wide range of 
support is provided to improve 
access to advice and services to 
those who are new to the 

city, including some of our most 
vulnerable residents. More 
information @_CohesionLeeds.

Our comprehensive approach 
to equality helps meet our local 
authority statutory obligations 
and wider city aspirations. This 
includes our work to engage 
with and support Leeds’ under-
represented groups, ensuring 
their voices are heard and they 
feel included in key decisions. 
More information about the city’s 
work to address equality can be 
found @_InclusiveLeeds.

105,508 CRIMES
 (Jan to Dec ’19),  

up 1% on the year before

Of incidents reported to police 
 (12 months to end Dec ’19):

2,202 
RACE HATE

 (76% of all hate incidents  
reported), down 4%  

on the year before 

15,715 

ANTI-SOCIAL  
BEHAVIOUR (ASB)

 down 14% on the year before 

21,889 

DOMESTIC
up by 9 incidents  

on the year before

We will continue to work to  
make all our communities  
safe for everyone,  
preventing risks,  
threats and harms,  
whether from  
anti-social   
behaviour, hate  
crime, domestic 
violence or theft  
and burglary.  

This includes a continued 
commitment to meeting 
the statutory Prevent Duty: 
ensuring the city’s safeguarding 
arrangements are fit for purpose 
in order to protect and support 
those most vulnerable from 
being drawn into extremism and 
terrorist-related activities. We 
will also take a wide approach 
to inclusive growth, working to 
make the connections between 
tackling low pay and promoting 
skills and career progression, 
with the challenges of welfare 
reform and financial hardship.   

23,215
people helped by the council’s 
Welfare Rights Unit  

More detail on the issues, planned 
activity and work in progress:

BENEFIT

£

gxu

             33 

  volunteer coordinator hubs 
across the city, supported by 5,200 
volunteers to respond to COVID-19

!@***!!

82% 
of people  
surveyed  
said they  

FELT SAFE
 in their local area,  
compared to 80%  

across West Yorkshire
(Source: Office of Police Commissioner  

‘Your Views’ survey, 12 months to end Dec ’19)

76 %
of people surveyed were 

SATISFIED 
with their local area as a place 

to live, above the West  
Yorkshire average of 73%

(Source: Office of Police &  
Crime Commissioner ‘Your Views’ survey,  

12 months to end Dec ‘19)

P
age 114



!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

#

!"

#"

$"

%"

&"

'"

("

)"

OUTCOMES

£9
1.
4m

£2
7.9

m

£23
.0m

£14.4m

£123.8m£1
26
.6m

£57.7m

£31.6m

You can stay up to date with all our news  
and services throughout the year.

www.leeds.gov.uk

LeedsCC_News

Leedscouncil

 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 
2021/22 BUDGET REPORT 

Directorate: Communities, Housing & Environment 
1. Introduction

1.1 This report has been produced in order to inform members of the main variations and
factors influencing the Directorate’s budget for the 2021/22 financial year.

1.2 The 2021/22 Revenue Budget provides £24,600k within the Council’s Strategic Budget for
the ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. As such no directorate Covid impacts are
detailed below.

2 Service Context

2.1 The Directorate delivers a diverse range of functions which combine to form some of the
key foundations of stronger and safer communities; well managed green spaces for
recreation; effective and sustainable waste management services; cleaner neighbourhoods;
quality customer contact; support for those most vulnerable; and efficient and effective
licensing, elections and regulatory services, all of which combine to help make the city a
desirable place to live, work and visit.  At a time when significant savings have had to be
identified, priority has been given to ensure that these services are maintained.

2.2 The Directorate serves some of the most vulnerable people in the city by providing a range
of front-line services for local people whilst taking the lead on actions to reduce poverty and
inequality across the city. Community Committees have improved the quality of the dialogue
with local communities by focusing on what is important to local people and the Council is
taking forward changes aimed at providing more integrated, responsive and accessible
services.

2.3 In addition, from 1st April the Directorate will have responsibility for Housing which will
enable better integration, engagement and collaboration across a range of complementary
services. As well as providing advice to the many thousands in housing need, the
Directorate will support many others to sustain their tenancies. It will intervene in the private
sector to tackle some of the worst housing conditions in the city and will be actively engaged
in leading on the delivery of projects to help tackle homelessness. The Directorate will also
be responsible for the provision of council housing across the city which is dealt with
separately within the HRA budget report.

2.4 The Directorate contributes to the delivery of the Best City Priorities as described in the Best
Council Plan 2020 – 2025 and the key priorities which this budget is designed to support are
as follows:

• Cleaner neighbourhoods
• Providing a reliable waste collection and disposal service
• Maximising the amount that can be re-used and recycled from the waste collected whilst

at the same time actively undertaking and promoting energy recovery
• Green spaces which people can enjoy
• Reducing crime and anti-social behaviour
• Tackling poverty and reducing inequalities
• Tackling homelessness

Appendix 2

Page 117



• Supporting communities and raising aspirations
• Helping people adjust to welfare changes
• Implementing innovative approaches to delivering services for end users

2.5 Against a background of savings that have been incorporated into budgets over a number of 
years as well as the requirement to identify a significant amount of further savings for 
2021/22, the Directorate’s 2021/22 budget submission will nevertheless seek to protect 
services which support these priorities as far as possible.  

3  Budget Proposals 

3.1 The 2021/22 net managed budget has been set at £75,425k representing a net decrease of 
£1,418k (1.84%) when compared to the adjusted budget for 2020/21. This net reduction 
comprises a net increase in grant funding totalling £680k, changes in the use of 
reserves/balances totalling £199k and pressures totalling £5,156k offset by savings of 
£6,093k which are explained below. 

3.2 Budget Adjustments and Transfers 

3.2.1 There have been a number of organisational changes which have impacted on the 2021/22 
budget. These include: 

• the transfer of statutory Housing functions and Housing related Supporting
People contracts from the former Resources & Housing directorate

• the transfer of the Contact Centre, Digital Access, Business Support (in part)
and Customer Relations Teams from Customer Access to the new Resources
directorate

• the transfer of the Council Tax administration function from the Welfare &
Benefits service to the new Resources directorate

3.2.2 The net effect of these organisational changes is to reduce the 2020/21 net managed 
budget by £1,913k to give a restated 2020/21 budget of £77,773k. 

3.2.3 In addition, there have been other budget transfers which reflect the movement of functions 
between directorates. The most significant of these (£809k) reflects the transfer of a number 
of posts and associated running cost budgets from Customer Access and Welfare & 
Benefits for assimilation to the DIS Hub. A number of other adjustments have also been 
made to negate the requirement for recharges to be made between directorates.  

3.2.4 The overall net impact of these adjustments is to reduce the Directorate’s restated 2020/21 
budget by £930k, giving an adjusted 2020/21 budget of £76,843k. 

3.3 Changes in Specific Grant Funding – net increase of £680k 

3.3.1 The Housing Benefit Administration Subsidy grant is expected to reduce by £149k based on 
the provisional funding allocation announced in December 2020. The Localised Council Tax 
Support Administration Subsidy grant allocation is still awaited but it has been assumed that 
there will be a reduction of £51k for 2021/22. 

3.3.2 The allocation in respect of Discretionary Housing Payments grant is still awaited but as 
expenditure incurred under the scheme is adjusted to match the grant, there will be no 
impact on the budget.  

Page 118



3.3.3 The Flexible Homelessness Support Grant (£1,130k) and the Homelessness Reduction Act 
(£526k) grants have been combined into a single grant called the Homelessness Prevention 
Grant with total funding increased by £688k to £2,346k. The increase in funding is being 
used to help fund the accommodation up to 40 people currently in hotel accommodation 
due to Covid-19 to remain off the streets and funding to assist homeless households with 
private rented tenancies has also been increased. 

3.3.4 The Council has been successful in its Next Steps Accommodation grant bid. In total 
£2,654k has been awarded, split £1,654k revenue and £1,000k capital. Most of this grant is 
to be utilised in 2020/21 with the capital being used to acquire up to 20 new 1 bedroom 
properties and the revenue funding the additional costs of accommodation during the 
pandemic and also to develop the Ladybeck site to provide safe accommodation for women 
who are homeless. £315k of the revenue was awarded for future years (2021/22 to 
2023/24) with £102k being used in 2021/22 specifically relating to the costs of Housing 
Navigators posts within partner organisations.  

3.3.5 The 2020/21 base budget for the Rough Sleeper’s Initiative grant is £732k. The MHCLG 
have confirmed this funding will be available in 2021/22 and the Council will apply for the 
continuation of this funding when it becomes available. 

3.3.6 During 2020/21, a bid of £200k from MHCLG’s Asylum Migration Integration Fund was 
successful. This is a 2 year programme and £90k of the grant will be used in 2021/22, with 
the balance being used in 2022/23.   

3.4 Changes in Use of Reserves and Balances – reduction of £199k 

3.4.1 The contribution of £209k from the Wellbeing and Youth Activity Fund Reserve and £440k 
from the Waste Management earmarked reserves, which were budgeted to support the 
Directorate’s revenue budget in 2020/21, will not re-occur in 2021/22 and this will create a 
budget pressure of £649k in 2021/22.  

3.4.2 It is proposed to utilise £330k of carried forward balances in respect of Individual Electoral 
Reform grant to support the Directorate’s revenue budget in 2021/22. In addition, it is also 
proposed to use £120k of the balance of the existing Homelessness Grant reserve to 
support expenditure on Homelessness activity. 

3.5 Changes in prices – pressure of £1,730k 

3.5.1 The budget reflects the announcement of a public sector pay freeze by Government in the 
Spending Review 2020. As such the budget provides £1,219k for two elements of pay: the 
0.75% in year pay increase in 2020/21 which had not been provided for in the 2020/21 base 
budget and a minimum pay increase of £250 in 2021/22 for all staff earning less than 
£24,000 as announced in the Spending Review 2020. The provision reflects the Council’s 
continuing commitment to be a Real Living Wage employer. Consequently, the minimum 
hourly rate paid to current Leeds City Council employees will rise to £9.56 per hour which is 
6p above the Real Living Wage rate.  Apprentices and new starters on the A1 spinal point 
will be paid £9.50 per hour for the first year only. 

3.5.2 No provision has been made for inflation on running cost budgets other than demand based 
budgets and where there are specific contractual commitments. No provision has been 
made for inflation on utilities budgets, reflecting the increased use of energy efficiency 
schemes, a reduction in the usage of many of the Council’s buildings and planned 
rationalisation of the Council’s estate. The overall provision for price inflation within the 

Page 119



Directorate is £641k which includes £153k in respect of waste disposal contracts, £84k for 
fleet transport costs including fuel, £52k for grounds maintenance and £88k for business 
rates.  

 
3.5.3 Inflationary increases in the level of fees and charges and income from other organisations 

are estimated to generate additional income of £130k. Of this, £71k relates to sales within 
Parks and Countryside including food/drink at cafes and retail sales, £16k for waste 
disposal charges, mainly at the Council’s weighbridges, and £40k in respect of grounds 
maintenance charges to Housing Leeds.  
 

3.6 Actuarial Review 
 

3.6.1 The 2021/22 budget does not provide for an increased contribution to the West Yorkshire 
Pension fund. Whilst this reflects the most recent Actuarial Review, which showed the West 
Yorkshire Pension Fund to be in a surplus position, the Council will continue to monitor this 
position. 
 

3.7 Capitalised Pension Costs – pressure of £983k 
 

3.7.1 The fall out of capitalised pension costs associated with staff who have left the Council 
under the Early Leaver’s Initiative (ELI) to date will save an estimated £40k. 
 

3.7.2 In 2020/21 the Council relaunched its ELI scheme and a range of other voluntary options to 
reduce the wage bill. Provision of £1,023k has been made to meet the capitalised pension 
costs associated with those staff leaving on an early retirement basis. The associated salary 
savings are captured in the savings proposals below. 

 
3.8 Demand and Demography – pressure of £196k 

 
3.8.1 Anticipated household growth in the city will impact on the volume of waste disposed of and 

provision of £196k has been made for the increased disposal costs of waste to the 
Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility.  

 
3.9 Other budget pressures – £2,246k 

 
3.9.1 The continuing migration to Universal Credit has meant that there has been an overall 

reduction in Housing Benefit (HB) expenditure and subsidy in recent years as well as a 
decline in the amount of HB overpayment income which the Council can recover. The net 
impact on the budget of these reductions is estimated to be £500k in 2021/22 

 
3.9.2 A number of planned major city centre developments are impacting on city centre car 

parking capacity and on bus lane enforcement. To reflect this, £930k was provided for the 
loss of income in the Directorate’s 2020/21 budget and a further £230k has been provided 
for the full year effect of this in 2021/22. 
 

3.9.3 The Council has responsibility to maintain horticultural features across the city including 
within the highway network and a number of transport infrastructure improvements, 
including road corridors and park and ride schemes, are anticipated to require horticultural 
maintenance revenue funding of £175k in 2021/22.    
 

3.9.4 The impact of holding local elections in 2021/22 is expected to require an increase in 
budget of £180k which is net of income from the West Yorkshire Combined Authority as a 
result of holding the mayoral election at the same time.  

Page 120



3.9.5 As referenced in paragraphs 3.3.3 and 3.3.4, there will be additional funded spend on 
Homelessness activity totalling £790k in 2021/22. 

3.9.6 The cost of insurance is estimated to increase by £372k in 2021/22 which reflects changes 
in the number and value of insurance claims.  

3.10 Savings 

3.11 Business as Usual – £4,515k 

3.11.1 Within Environmental Services, non-operational staffing savings of £683k have been 
identified by realigning different sections within the overall service and streamlining 
management and supervisory arrangements. In addition, an increase in the level of vacancy 
factor within the Cleaner Neighbourhoods Team reflecting turnover experienced in recent 
years, will save an additional £200k. 

3.11.2 Additional income of £100k is estimated to be generated from the disposal of trade waste 
over the Council’s weighbridges. It is anticipated that this will be from a combination of 
volume trends and of a review of pricing to ensure that costs incurred by the service for 
disposal of the waste are fully covered by the charges made. 

3.11.3 The charges made to residents for the replacement of black and brown bins will be 
increased by £4.60 for a standard bin to contribute to the cost of administering and delivery 
of the replacement bins. This revised charge represents around 57% of the actual cost to 
the Council. There will also be an increased charge to housing developers for new bins to 
cover the full cost of buying, administering and delivering the bins. Additional income of 
£110k is anticipated from these proposals. 

3.11.4 The charges made for bulky waste collections have not been increased since 2017/18 and 
they will be increased from £20 to £30 in 2021/22. This charge will contribute to the costs of 
administration, collection and disposal of up to five (an increase from the current four) 
unwanted bulky items and is estimated to generate an additional £70k of income.   

3.11.5 The household food waste collection pilot offered to 12,343 (3.5%) of homes in Leeds has 
been suspended since March 2020 due to the Covid-19 situation and it is planned that this 
suspension will continue until the end of 2021/22, with resulting savings of £150k.   

3.11.6 Within the Parks and Countryside service, bereavement fees will be increased by 5% which 
is estimated to increase income by £367k in 2021/22. 

3.11.7 A reduction of grass cutting frequencies is anticipated to deliver savings of £65k p.a. from 
expenditure currently incurred on the general fund streetscene grounds maintenance 
contract.  

3.11.8 In addition, a reduction in the financial support provided to Groundwork Leeds will save a 
further £8k p.a. 

3.11.9 Savings of £100k are estimated through increased income from developers for Public 
Rights of Way and integration of maintenance functions with parks operational teams. 

3.11.10 A proposal to redevelop the golf course at Temple Newsam, approved at Executive Board 
in September 2020, is expected to deliver a part year saving of £31k in 2021/22, increasing 
to £72k p.a. from 2022/23 onwards. The scheme will transform the existing golf course from 

Page 121



a 27 hole offer to an 18 hole offer incorporating a community cycling scheme and road 
safety park, together with developing commercial opportunities.  

3.11.11 Within Safer Leeds, efficiency savings of £171k are anticipated from reviewing activities 
across the service, with the majority of the savings expected to be made from a reduction in 
staffing levels. 

3.11.12 Further savings of £625k within Safer Leeds will be achieved from the removal of the 
subsidy the Council provides for an additional uplift in Police and Community Support 
Officers (PCSOs), in line with other West Yorkshire Local Authorities. 

3.11.13 A review of income achievable from Bus Lane Enforcement camera sites across the city is 
estimated to generate an additional £50k per annum. 

3.11.14 The Council has secured European Structural and Investment Fund (ESIF) income for a 
period of 3 years in respect of the Enhanced Local Flexibility for the Unemployed 
Programme. This initiative is aimed at helping those individuals who are at a disadvantage 
in the labour market to tackle the barriers to sustainable employment. The programme will 
utilise existing senior customer services officers to deliver the outcomes, thus achieving a 
saving of £429k p.a. for a three year period commencing in early 2021.  

3.11.15 The Council currently provides financial support to the Leeds City Credit Union and it is 
proposed to implement a 25% reduction to this annual payment, achieving a saving against 
budget of £63k. In addition, a targeted 10% reduction on the Third Sector Infrastructure 
Fund within the Communities budget is anticipated to save £36k.  

3.11.16 A review of the level of overhead expenditure incurred by the Council and appropriately 
charged to Migration Yorkshire is estimated to generate additional income of £40k in 
2021/22. 

3.11.17 In recognition that Community Committees will experience an overall increase in funds 
delegated to them over the next 3 years, the annual wellbeing budget of £1.3m will be 
reduced by £195k p.a. which represents a 15% reduction against this budget. 

3.11.18 Staffing efficiencies of £600k have been identified across the Directorate, primarily to be 
achieved through the Council’s Early Leaver scheme. In addition, a line by line review of 
budgeted operational expenditure across the Directorate has identified further savings of 
£419k. 

3.12 Service Review - £1,578k 

3.12.1 Within the Welfare and Benefits service, a saving of £520k reflects a review of staffing 
structures including a review of management arrangements to ensure that spans of control 
are appropriate, especially in light of falling Housing Benefit caseloads due to the continuing 
migration to Universal Credit. 

3.12.2 Following a review of the number of sites and usage of Household Waste and Recycling 
Centres (HWRCs) across the city and public consultation on the potential closure of Otley 
(Ellar Ghyll) HWRC, it is proposed that the opening times for this site will be reduced to 
weekends only; with a view to exploring opportunities for a potential new, modern facility, 
incorporating a re-use shop, to replace both the Otley and Yeadon sites. The partial closure 
is estimated to save £75k in 2021/22. 

Page 122



3.12.3 The West Leeds Country Park Visitor Centre has been closed to the public due to Covid-19 
restrictions and savings of £90k p.a. have been identified on the assumption that it will not 
re-open. There is a potential opportunity to repurpose or replace the existing buildings with 
a park cafe that could retain some of the educational elements of the visitor centre.  
Following consultation, the centre will remain closed and will not be converted into a café by 
the council; and engagement will take place with interested parties on potentially taking over 
the building.  

3.12.4 Originally a 50% reduction in the number of bowling greens provided by the Council was 
proposed with an estimated saving of £83k p.a. This was to be achieved through community 
asset transfers or through the direct removal of greens. Following consultation, the original 
proposal will be revised such that no bowling greens will close. Positive engagement will 
continue on possible asset transfers where this is preferred and additional income will be 
generated through increasing the annual price of a season ticket from £31 to £40 as 
recommended by some respondents to the consultation. This recognises that there hasn't 
been an increase since 2016 and is estimated to generate £12.5k p.a. 

3.12.5 The implementation of a new intruder monitoring system at four sites within the Parks & 
Countryside portfolio will deliver savings of £73k p.a. The system will be linked to the 
Leedswatch Alarm Receiving Centre and will enable a reduction in staffing costs at the 
sites. 

3.12.6 A proposal to reduce seasonal bedding displays in parks and other green spaces by 50% 
and to also reduce floral decorations such as hanging baskets, troughs and planters in the 
city centre by 50% is estimated to save £150k p.a. At the time of writing, public consultation 
is underway and due to close in early February. 

3.12.7 A review of opening hours and staffing rotas within Community Hubs is expected to achieve 
savings of £457k p.a. through streamlining provision across the city whilst providing an 
overall net increase in total hours open in community hubs and libraries. At the time of 
writing, public consultation is underway and due to close in early February. 

3.12.8 A reduction of £200k in the net cost of Community Centres is anticipated from a range of 
efficiency measures including the potential closure of 3 underutilised community centres 
where suitable alternatives can be provided and general running cost efficiencies across all 
community centres. At the time of writing, public consultation is underway and due to close 
in early February. 

4 Risk Assessment 

4.1 In determining the 2021/22 budget, consideration has been given to all the risks which are 
managed within the Directorate’s overall risk management framework. Within this 
framework, a register of those items considered to carry the highest risk and which therefore 
require careful and regular monitoring has been prepared.  

4.2 There are still significant uncertainties around the impact of the continuing Covid-19 
pandemic and the subsequent impact on the Directorate’s income and expenditure budgets. 
The Council’s Strategic Budget provides for £24,600k for the ongoing impact of the Covid-
19 pandemic in 2021/22. 

4.3 Other key risks in the 2021/22 budget for the Directorate include: 

Page 123



4.3.1 The level of budgeted car parking income receivable from on-street and off-street parking is 
not realised and the impact on income budgets from city centre developments is greater 
than anticipated.   
 

4.3.2 Assumptions in respect of income receivable from Bus Lane and Car Parking Enforcement 
are impacted upon by a reduction in the number of offences.  

 
4.3.3 Assumptions in respect of waste volumes and the level of recycling across the city are not 

realised, impacting on disposal costs and levels of income achieved.   
 

4.3.4 The level of demand is less than anticipated for income generating activities within Parks 
and Countryside.   

 
4.3.5 The level of assumed specific grant funding within the Welfare and Benefits service is still 

subject to confirmation of the final allocations by the Government. 
 

4.3.6 The budgeted level of income in respect of the recovery of Housing Benefit overpayments is 
not achieved and the continuing roll out of Universal Credit has a greater impact than 
anticipated.      
 

4.3.7 The levels of those seeking homelessness support are beyond the numbers assumed to be 
funded by the Homelessness Prevention grant. 
 

4.3.8 Staff turnover and the number of vacant posts across the Directorate are less than assumed 
in the budget, potentially impacting on the Directorate’s staffing savings assumptions. 
 
 

Briefing note prepared by: Michael Everitt (Head of Finance) 
Telephone: 87817  

 

Page 124



Communities, Housing & Environment

2021/22 FTEs
£m

Net managed budget 2020/21 77.77

Adjustments
Transfers of function (0.83)
Other adjustments (0.10)

Adjusted net managed budget 76.84

Grant Fallout
Reduction in Housing Benefits/Localised Council Tax Support Admin grants 0.20

Grant Increases
Homelessness Prevention Fund (0.69)
Next Steps Accommodation Programme (0.10)
Asylum, Migration Integration Fund (0.09)

Changes in the use of Reserves & Balances
Reversal of use of Wellbeing reserve in 20/21 0.21
Reversal of use of Waste Management reserve in 20/21 0.44
Use of carried forward IER grant balances (0.33)
Use of Homelessness Grant Reserve (0.12)

Total Funding Changes (0.48)

Budget Pressures:
Inflation

Pay 1.22
Price 0.64
Income (0.13)

Capitalised Pensions 0.98

Demographic and demand pressures
Additional black bin waste disposal volumes 0.20

Other
Housing Benefits Overpayment income 0.50
Impact of city centre developments on car parking  income 0.23
Impact of infrastructure improvements on Grounds Maintenance 0.18 5.0
Additional net cost of local elections 0.18
Homelessness Grant related costs - staffing and accommodation 0.79
Insurance 0.37

Total Pressures 5.16 5.0

Savings Proposals:
Business As Usual

Environmental service managerial and supervisory restructure and realignment of functions (0.68) (14.2)
Increase staffing vacancy factor within Cleaner Neighbourhoods Team (0.20)
Additional income from trade waste disposal (0.10)
Removal of subsidy to developers for new bins for new houses (0.07)
Contribution to admin/delivery costs for replacement black/brown bins (0.04)

Increased charge for bulky waste collections to contribute to the costs of administration, collection 
and disposal.  In making this change we will also increase the number of items collected from 4 to 5 (0.07)

Continued suspension of the household food waste collection pilot (0.15) (4.5)
Bereavement fee increase (0.37)
Review general fund grounds maintenance contract to deliver 10% saving (0.07)
Reduced annual support to Groundwork (0.01)
Increased income from developers for Public Rights of Way and integration of maintenance functions 
with parks operational teams (0.10) (2.0)

Temple Newsam Cycle Trails & Road Safety Park development (0.03) 2.0
Savings in Safer Leeds through restructuring and increasing grant income (0.17) (5.0)
Removal of subsidy for additional Police Community Support Officers (0.63)
Additional income from Bus Lane enforcement (0.05)
European Structural Investment Funding for the Enhanced Local Flexibilities for the Unemployed 
Programme (0.43)

Reduced contribution to Leeds City Credit Union (0.06)
Reduced contribution to Third Sector Infrastructure Fund (0.04)
Increase in income from Migration Yorkshire to cover support costs (0.04)
Reduction in annual wellbeing budget delegated to community committees (0.20)
Directorate wide staffing reductions facilitated by the council's Early Leavers Initiative and/or 
additional voluntary measures (0.60) (25.8)

Line by Line review of operational expenditure across the directorate (0.42)

Service Review
Welfare and Benefits - staff restructuring incorporating a review of management arrangements (0.52) (13.0)
Partial closure of Otley (Ellar Ghyll) Household Waste and Recycling Centre. (0.08) (2.0)
Closure/transfer of West Leeds Country Park visitor centre in Pudsey Park (0.09) (2.0)
Review of season ticket prices for bowling greens (0.01)
New intruder monitoring system at 4 sites across the Parks & Countryside portfolio (0.07) (3.0)
50% reduction in floral decorations in the city centre and seasonal bedding displays (0.15) (4.0)
Review of opening hours and staffing rotas within Community Hub/Libraries (0.46) (16.9)
Closure of 3 community centres with additional efficiencies across all community centres (0.20)

Total Savings (6.09) (90.4)

Net Managed Budget 2021/22 75.43 (85.4)

Page 125



LEEDS CITY COUNCIL  
2021/22 BUDGET REPORT 

Directorate: Communities, Housing and Environment 

Housing Revenue Account 

1. Introduction

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the main variations and
factors influencing the 2021/22 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget.

1.2 The 2021/22 budget has been prepared at outturn prices. This means that
allowances for inflation have been included in the budget submission.

1.3 The appendix below sets out a summary of the HRA budget for 2021/22

2. HRA Budget Strategy

2.1 An increase in accordance with the Government’s rent formula of CPI (0.5% as
at September 2020) +1% is proposed. This overall 1.5% rise equates to
approximately £1.09m in additional rental income, when taking into account
stock reductions for Right to Buy sales (RTB).

2.2  The Council remains committed to sustaining the amount provided to maintain
homes and to replacing homes lost through RTB by the planned investment in
new homes, buying of empty homes and exercising the Right of First Refusal
which the Council has to buy back former local authority homes sold under RtB
legislation.

2.3 Although income is forecast to increase with rent increases in line with the
formula, there are inflationary pressures and significant variations as outlined
in the key movement areas outlined below. Legislation requires that the HRA
balances. In order to do this all budget headings have been examined to
achieve efficiencies and improved targeting of resources together with the use
of reserves, RTB receipts and borrowing to fund the HRA capital programme.

2.4 The strategy also assumes a continued commitment to maintaining investment
in the housing stock through a capital programme primarily funded from tenants
rent.

3. Key Issues - 2021/22

3.1 Rent Policy

In October 2017 the government announced a return to allowing a rent rise of
up to the Consumer Price Index (CPI) plus 1% for five years from April 2020. It
is therefore proposed that rents are increased by 1.5% (CPI of 0.5% as of
September 2020 +1%) in 2021/22 for the majority of dwellings. Further details
are provided in Section 4.1

Page 126



3.2. Services Charges 

Tenants in multi storey flats (MSFs) and in low/medium rise flats receive 
additional services such as cleaning of communal areas, staircase lighting and 
lifts and pay part of the cost of these services meaning other tenants are 
subsidising the additional services received. It is proposed that an increase of 
RPI of 1.1% (September 2020 rate) on both MSF and Low/medium rise flats is 
implemented in 2021/22. Further details are set out in 4.3. 

3.3 Charges for Sheltered Support 

Currently tenants in sheltered accommodation receiving a support service are 
charged £14.71 per week for this service. This charge is eligible for Housing 
Benefit. In 2016/17 a nominal charge of £2 per week was introduced for those 
tenants who benefited from the service but did not pay. This was increased to 
£4 a week in 2017/18, £6 in 2018/19, £8 in 2019/20, £10 in 2020/21 and it is 
proposed to continue the increase this charge by a further £2 per week in 
2021/22 to £12 per week. A review of the Sheltered Charge has been 
undertaken for 2021/22 to take into account pay award and other cost changes. 
The sheltered charge full cost is £15.14 per week and is eligible for Housing 
Benefit. At £12/week, for self-payers, the service is subsidised by £3.14 per 
week 

See 4.3.3.for further details. 

3.4 Capital investment and Council House Growth Programme 

The Council remains committed to prioritising resources to meet the capital 
investment strategy and to replace homes lost through RTB by the planned 
investment in new homes. The Council aims to maintain a consistent level of 
capital expenditure with a view to improving the condition of the housing stock. 
The total draft capital programme for the HRA remains at around £80m in 
2021/22 and additionally, £8.6m has been provided for the Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme which provides grants for public sector bodies to fund 
energy efficiency and heat decarbonisation measures. In addition the Council 
House Growth Programme provides funding of over £240m to 2024/25. Further 
details are set out in 5.10. 

4. Key movements 2020/21 to 2021/22 - Income

4.1 Dwelling Rents

As detailed in 3.1, it is proposed to increase rents to all properties, in 
accordance with the government formula for rent increases, by 1.5% to 
generate around £1.09m in additional rental income.  

Increasing average rents by 1.5% equates to an increase of £1.12 per week 
/£58 per year as shown in the table below, however, the impact of this on 
individual tenants will vary. 

Page 127



Average rent 2020/21 2021/22 Increase 

£ per week 74.00 75.12 1.12 

£ per year 3,848 3,906 58 

The budget for 2021/22 assumes that 610 properties will be sold under RTB 
which is based upon the continuation of normal activity levels. The impact of 
this is a forecast reduction in rental income of around £2.4m in a full year. 

A void level of 0.8% has been assumed which is in line with the normal levels. 
The policy of re-letting properties at target rent (the rent which, under 
Government policy, should be charged for a property taking into account a 
number of factors such as the valuation of the property and the number of 
bedrooms) continues. 

The budget also factors in additional income from new homes built or acquired 
during the year. The budget assumes 84 new homes through the Housing 
Growth programme, 44 brought back into the HRA from the Right of First 
Refusal policy and the purchase of a 21 new ‘off the shelf’ homes 

The impact of the proposed rental increase, assumed stock reduction through 
RtB and the impact of new builds is a net increase in income from dwelling rents 
of £1.1m in 2021/22. 

4.2 Other rents 

It is proposed to apply a 1.1% rental income increase for garages in line with 
RPI. Any other increases will be in accordance with individual lease 
agreements.  

4.3 Service Charges 

Net income from service charges is budgeted to increase by £537k in 2021/22. 
The main movements are detailed below. 

4.3.1 Heat Lease 

Income from heat lease charges is budgeted to increase by RPI of 1.1% in 
2021/22 due to £263k.  

4.3.2 Service charges for MSFs, medium and low rise properties 

As stated in 3.2, tenants in multi storey flats (MSFs) and in low/medium rise 
flats receive additional services such as cleaning of communal areas, staircase 
lighting and lifts and pay part of the cost of these services meaning other 
tenants are subsidising the additional services received. It is proposed that an 
increase of RPI of 1.1% on both MSF and Low/medium rise flats is implemented 
in 2021/22. This will generate an additional £40k compared to 2020/21.  

Page 128



     

 

4.3.3 Charges for Sheltered Support 
 

Tenants living in sheltered housing schemes across Leeds are supported by 
Sheltered Support Officers who provide housing related support. This support 
includes; completing needs and risk assessments, developing and reviewing 
support plans, making referrals to other agencies and carrying out regular visits 
to enable tenants to live independently in a safe environment.  

 
The proposed charge for 2021/22 is £15.14 per week. This charge fully recovers 
the costs of the service and is eligible for Housing Benefit.  

 
The proposed increase in charge for those covered by Housing Benefit, along 
with the decrease in the subsidy for self-payers, will generate an additional 
£294k compared to 2020/21. 
 

4.3.4 Retirement Life 
 

It is proposed to introduce a charge for Retirement Life schemes for the 
provision of additional services linked to communal areas e.g. heating, laundry 
facilities, furniture and carpets and for communal facilities where they are within 
a standalone community centre. This will provide income of approximately 
£400k p.a. A consultation on the introduction of this charge is being undertaken. 
Whilst a full charge covering communal areas equates to £7.83 and for 
standalone Community Centres is £3.34, it is proposed that for self-payers this 
charge is initially subsidised and introduced over 3 years. 
  

4.3.5 District Heating charges 
   

Housing Leeds manages a number of district heating schemes, including the 
new Leeds PIPES (Providing Innovative Pro-Environmental Solutions) 
scheme which provides heating generated by the Recycling and Energy 
Recovery Facility (RERF) to the Saxton Gardens, Ebor Gardens and Lincoln 
Green areas.  A 30p/wk change in the standing charge is proposed for Leeds 
PIPES as a step towards full cost recovery. An RPI increase of 1.1% is 
proposed for all other District Heating Schemes.  
 
The total income expected from all district heating charges in 2021/22 is 
£775k of which £329k income is from the Leeds PIPES scheme.  
 

4.3.6 Contributions from leaseholders to capital works 
 

The 2021/22 budget reflects contributions from leaseholders where their 
properties have benefited from capital investment. The 2021/22 budget 
assumes a £99k increase to bring the income budget to £1,178k, although it will 
be dependent upon the works undertaken. 
 

 4.3.7 Extra Care 
 

The income from service charges for the authority’s Wharfedale View facility in 
2021/22 is budgeted at £127k to reflect RPI. 

 
 

Page 129



4.4 Impact on tenants of increased rents and charges 

An analysis of the impact on tenants of the above charging proposals together 
with the increase in rents (see 4.1) has been undertaken. With a rental increase 
of CPI+1%, all tenants will pay more in 2021/22 than in 2020/21 as outlined in 
the table below.  

% of Tenants Numbers of 
Tenants 

Average Increase 
£/per week 

89.27 48,667 1.01-1.20 

 7.33 3,997 1.21-1.99 

1.80 979 2.00-3.14 

0.43 237 3.15-3.25 

1.17 637 6.27-6.31 (Retirement 
Life on Housing Benefit 
only) 

To limit the impact of multiple increases, it is proposed to cap the increase any 
individual tenant will be charged at £3.25/week for those not in receipt of 
benefits. 

Where applicable these increases will be funded through Housing Benefit or 
Universal Credit for eligible tenants. These increases will be funded through 
Housing Benefit for eligible tenants or tenants eligible for Universal Credit (UC) 
will receive payments for this increase. Approximately 42% of tenants are in 
receipt of Housing Benefit with a further 21% in receipt of UC, a total of 63%. 
For those in Sheltered Accommodation, this figure rises to 70%. 

The proposals in relation to service charges and charges for sheltered support 
(4.3.2 & 4.3.3 above) have been shared with involved tenant groups.  

4.5 PFI Grant 

The 2021/22 budget assumes full year PFI grant of £6,097k for Swarcliffe PFI 
and £15,288k for Little London Beeston Hill & Holbeck (LLBH&H) PFI. This is 
the same as 2020/21 and will remain fixed for the life of the PFI scheme. 

4.6 Internal Income 

The 2021/22 budget for internal income is £764k lower than 2020/21. 
This is largely due to a review of staff related costs charged to various capital 
projects and the impact of staff leaving the organisation on ELI 

4.7 External Income 

The increase of £14k from 2020/21 to 2021/22 reflects inflationary increases, 
and income trends on items such as advertising and telecommunications masts 
located on HRA buildings. 

Page 130



5. Key movements 2020/21 to 2021/22 - Expenditure

5.1 Employees

The 2021/22 budget for employees has decreased by £1.22m when compared
to the base budget 2020/21, with the most significant elements shown below:

 In line with the announcement in the Chancellor’s Spending Review, the
proposed staffing budget assumes a ‘pay pause’ for 2021/22. However,
posts below a £24k salary are budgeted with a £250 increase.

 The impact of the additional 0.75% pay award for 2020-21 has been
budgeted for.

 It is proposed to reduce the staffing budget by 81 FTE through a
combination of staff reductions through the Council’s ELI scheme, a review
of long term budgeted vacant posts, and to review of staffing levels in light
of the anticipated benefit realisation of the Housing Management ICT
system and the continued stock reduction. It is proposed to transfer
approximately 15 FTE from Financial Services to Housing Leeds for the
Housing Operational Finance function (see below). The net movement in
FTE is therefore a reduction of 66.

 A number of posts have been deleted as a result of both the Council wide
Early Leavers Initiative and as a result of deleting vacant posts resulting in
a net saving of £2.17m in staff costs after taking account of the pension
strain associated with allowing employees to leave under ELI.

 £0.73m has been saved by absorbing the work protocols of the Enhanced
Income Team into the mainstream Housing Officer roles a year earlier than
planned.

 £0.477m increase to reflect the proposed transfer of the Housing
Operational Finance function from Financial Services to Housing Leeds,
with an equivalent saving on Internal Recharges.

 As a number of vacant posts have been deleted, the current vacancy factor
has been reduced from 6% to 5% at a cost of £0.3m.

5.2 Repairs to dwellings 

Repairs to dwelling remains a priority budget which has initially been increased 
in line with inflation, but adjusted to reflect an anticipated reduction of 1% in 
housing stock as a result of Right to Buy. The proposed budget for 21/22 is 
therefore a £228k reduction to £44.9m.  

5.3 Premises 

The premises budget reflects a net increase of £107k. Those costs relating to 
staff such as cleaning, reflect the approach to budgeting for the employee 
element of the HRA. 

5.4 Supplies & Services- Payments to PFI contractor 

The increase in payments to the PFI contractors of £32k between 2020/21 and 
2021/22 is consistent with the final model for the PFI programme that was 
agreed and received at Executive Board. 

Page 131



5.5 Supplies & Services - Other 

The budget reflects a net decrease of £138k. This includes inflationary uplifts 
and a £52k budgeted increase to reflect the Housing Ombudsman subscription. 
The net decrease is largely as a result of the removal of the £60k Mutual 
Exchange Incentive Fee budget and the £80k saving in relation to the contract 
for the Housing Management ICT system, 

5.6 Charges for internal services 

These charges, which are budgeted to decrease by £30k, after accounting for 
inflationary rises primarily cover the internal service provision charge to the 
HRA in the following areas; -  

Horticultural Maintenance, Environmental services, Community Safety, 
Housing Services, Customer Access and Support Services, Corporate 
Governance services.  

Additional resources of £269k are provided for the Digital Information Service 
ahead of the implementation of the new Housing Management ICT system. 

Those costs relating to staff such as cleaning, reflect the approach to 
budgeting for the employee element of the HRA. 

A £100k increase in the Local Welfare Support Charge has been included to 
reflect a more even split of use of the support between General Fund and the 
HRA. 

A £477k reduction reflects the proposed transfer of the Housing Operational 
Finance function from Financial Services to Housing Leeds, with an equivalent 
increase on Employee costs. 

The budget also provides for specific savings in the following areas as a result 
of the HRA sharing in the savings from General Fund targeted efficiencies:- 

 Intelligence and Policy.  £121k

 Strategic Housing Services £111K.

5.7 Payments to Belle Isle Tenant Management Organisation (BITMO), 
Housing Area Panels (HAPs) and other Organisations 

The proposed management fee payable to Belle Isle Tenant Management 
Organisation (BITMO) is a reduction of £95k to £3.148m to reflect the approach 
to changes within the staffing and repairs budgets within Housing Leeds as 
outlined above. The BITMO management fee is adjusted each year by an 
agreed formula. 

The budget continues to include £405k for Housing Advisory Panels (HAPs) to 
enable the continuation of funding of projects which benefit tenants and 
residents in the community they represent. This is a 10% reduction from the 
2020/21 budget. An earmarked reserve was first made available for HAPs 

Page 132



projects in 2017/18. Any uncommitted funds from this reserve at the end of the 
financial year will be available in 2021/22.  

Community Partnership funding has increased by inflation assumptions to 
£104k. 

Payments to Leeds Credit Union and the Leeds Tenants Federation have 
remained in line with 2020/21.  

5.8 Contribution to Provisions 

(a) Disrepair

Work has been on-going to rationalise the workflow processes and provide legal 
challenge to disrepair cases where appropriate. As this budget has continued 
to see considerable pressure it proposed to maintain the contribution to the 
disrepair provision at £1,400k.  

(b) Bad debts

The budgeted contribution to the bad debt provision increase by £207k to reflect 
the ongoing uncertainty in the economy which may impact on the level of tenant 
rent collected.  

5.9 Discretionary Housing Payments 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has 
issued a direction allowing the Council to fund payments to its own tenants 
under the Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) scheme. A DHP may be 
awarded when the authority considers that a claimant requires further financial 
assistance towards housing costs and is entitled to either Housing Benefit or 
Universal Credit (for the housing cost element towards a rental liability). The 
proposed HRA budget for this in 2021/22 is £500k and remains consistent with 
the amount provided in 2020/21. 

5.10 Capital (Financing) charges 

The Council remains committed to prioritising resources to meet the capital 
investment strategy and to replace homes lost through RTB by the planned 
investment in new homes. The costs associated with servicing the HRA’s 
borrowing include the planned increase in borrowing to support the Council’s 
Housing Growth programme which will see 84 new build, 21 off the shelf and 
44 homes through the Right of First refusal process delivered in 2021/22. The 
overall cost of borrowing is anticipated to increase marginally by £72k as a 
result of lower interest costs offsetting much of the servicing of the increased 
borrowing. 

Capital charges for PFI are expected to increase by 183k to £16,449k. 

5.11 Revenue Contribution to Capital  

The 2021/22 budget includes £60,971k to fund the housing capital 
programme/investment plan. This is £422k higher than the amount provided in 

Page 133



2020/21. The overall capital programme, excluding the Housing growth 
programme but including the decarbonisation programme, will be around 
£88.6m in 2021/22.  

5.12 Appropriation to / from Reserves 

The appropriation account reflects the budgeted contributions to/from the 
Swarcliffe & LLBH&H PFI sinking funds. 

The sinking fund smoothes out the effect of the incidence of the payments to 
the PFI contractor. As stated in previous budget reports, some of these 
reserves were used to prevent a retraction in front line services over the rent 
reduction period. They now require now to be replenished and therefore it is 
proposed to contribute to the Swarcliffe PFI reserve.  
In 2021/22 the change in the contribution to the Sinking Fund is £404k  

6. HRA Reserves

6.1 The HRA Reserves Statement reflects the anticipated movement in reserves
between April 2021 and March 2022. The Capital Reserve is used to resource
the HRA Capital programme which is subject to a separate report on this
agenda.

6.2 The HRA General Reserve current balance is £6.495m and represents 2.5% of
the annual budget. It is proposed, over the medium term, to raise this
percentage to 5% in order to increase financial stability. This is in line with the
intended strategy for General Fund reserves. It is proposed to contribute
approximately £150k to the HRA General reserve in 21-22.

6.3 Any balance at the end of 2020/21 on the Housing Advisory Panels earmarked
reserve will be carried forward to 2021/22 to be used for the funding of projects
which benefit tenants and residents in the community they represent.

6.4 The PFI reserves are used to smooth out the effects of the unitary charge
payments to the PFI contractor over the life of the contracts. In 2021/22 it is
budgeted to use £1,539k of reserves for the Little London scheme in line with
the approved PFI model.

6.5      It is also proposed that a contribution to the Swarcliffe PFI reserve of £1,727k
is made. This reflects the payback of the reserve which was partially used to
help fund pressures in the HRA during the period of the rent reduction policy.
The value of both reserves is expected to be £7.7m by March 2022.

6.6 A contribution to the Major Repairs Reserve is proposed at £60.971m.

Page 134



6.7 Forecast Level of HRA Reserves 

7. Risks

There are a number of risks which, should they materialise would have a
significant impact upon the 2021/22 HRA budget. These risks are reviewed
throughout the year and action taken to mitigate any impact wherever possible.
The HRA maintains a level of reserves in order to meet the impacts of such risks
should they occur. Key risks identified are as follows:

 Pay inflation may vary from the ‘Pay Pause’ assumed.

 The impact of the Covid pandemic in the 21/22 year may increase arrears
beyond levels anticipated.

 Property numbers may vary significantly from estimates due to
fluctuations in the number of RTB sales and the delivery of new homes
which could affect rent income levels.

 The number of disrepair claims against the Council may vary from current
assumptions thus requiring additional contribution to the provision.

Project 

Reserves b/f 

Apr 2021

Project Use of 

Reserves

Projected 

Contribution 

to Reserves

Closing 

reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000

HRA General Reserve (6,495) 0 (141) (6,636)

Earmarked Reserves

Welfare Change (121) 0 0 (121)

Housing Advisory Panels (507) 0 0 (507)

Sheltered Housing (2,777) 0 0 (2,777)

Wharefedale View (23) 0 0 (23)

Changing the Workplace (151) 0 0 (151)

ERDMS (257) 0 0 (257)

Proposed Disrepair Reserve (2,000) 2,000 0 0

(5,836) 2,000 0 (3,836)

PFI Reserves

Swarcliffe PFI Sinking Fund (2,794) 0 (1,727) (4,521)

LLBH&H PFI Sinking Fund (4,771) 1,539 0 (3,232)

(7,565) 1,539 (1,727) (7,753)

Capital Reserve

MRR (General) (9,600) 60,971 (60,971) (9,600)

MRR (New Build) (297) 0 0 (297)

(9,896) 60,971 (60,971) (9,896)

Total (29,792) 64,510 (62,839) (28,122)

Projected Financial Position on Reserves

Page 135



 The impact of the pandemic may affect the ability to deliver the annual
investment programme.

Should these risk arise, the service will respond flexibly by implementing cost 
control measures such as vacancy management. Use would be made of the 
reserves on the HRA balance sheet identified at 6.7, along with specific 
provisions for doubtful debt and disrepair. 

8. Medium Term – High Level Projections

Whilst the setting of the HRA budget for future years will be reviewed regularly,
based on current assumptions there is a cumulative £8.87m pressure to be
addressed over the next five years. This is summarised in the table below.

Briefing note prepared by:  Kevin Mulvaney (Head of Finance) 
Telephone:  378 9390 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£m £m £m £m

Income (261.50) (269.14) (274.98) (279.73)

Expenditure 262.37 267.88 275.60 283.42

Appropriations 1.62 0.59 1.45 1.31

In Year Pressure (Saving) 2.48 (0.68) 2.07 5.01

Cumulative Balance 2.48 1.80 3.86 8.87

Page 136



 

HRA 2021/22 Budget 

Budget Heads

Original 

Estimate 

2020/21

Original 

Estimate 

2021/22

Variance

£000s £000s £000s

Income

Dwelling Rents Income (208,808) (209,900) (1,092)

Other Rents (Shops & Garages) (3,330) (3,258) 72

Service Charges (8,484) (9,021) (537)

PFI grant (21,385) (21,385) 0

Internal Income (10,415) (9,651) 764

External Income (1,972) (2,033) (61)

Total Income (254,394) (255,248) (854)

Expenditure 

Employees 31,402 30,180 (1,222)

Repairs to dwellings 45,081 44,853 (228)

Premises 8,977 9,049 71

Supplies & Services - Payments to PFI contractor 10,416 10,449 33

Supplies & Services - Other 3,940 3,802 (138)

Transport 396 298 (98)

Horticultural Maintenance 4,481 4,545 63

Environmental Services 4,567 4,607 40

Community Safety 3,998 4,009 10

Supporting People in their own homes 3,600 3,663 63

Services to families with Council tenancies 1,261 1,283 22

Housing Services 4,986 4,934 (53)

Customer Access 6,435 6,435 0

Support Services 9,078 9,156 78

Welfare Advice & Support 400 500 100

Discretionary Housing Payments 500 500 0

Corporate Governance & Other Services 3,162 2,683 (479)

Leeds Pipes - Recharge 844 903 58

Legal Services 1,250 1,317 67

Payments to BITMO, Area Panels & Credit Union 3,797 3,658 (139)

Provisions 0

- Disrepair 1,400 1,400 0

- Bad debts 942 1,136 195

Capital charges 44,334 44,588 254

Revenue Contribution to Capital (Investment) 60,550 60,971 422

Total Expenditure 255,798 254,918 (880)

Appropriations

General Reserve 0 141 141

Sinking Funds 

LLBH&H PFI (1,030) (1,539) (509)

Swarcliffe PFI 814 1,727 913

Earmarked Reserves 

Welfare Change (780) 0 780

Early Leavers Initiative Reserve (408) 0 408

Net (surplus)/deficit 0 0 0

Page 137



Communities, Housing and Environment 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Environmental Services 
managerial and 
supervisory restructure 
and realignment of 
functions  

To review current 
management 
structure to 
deliver staffing 
efficiencies 

Final structure  
doesn’t deliver 
sufficient 
savings 

To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.68m reduced 
costs 

Chief Officer – 
Environmental 
Services 

Contribution to delivery 
costs and 
administration of 
replacement bins for 
residents and new bins 
for housing developers  

Currently no 
admin/delivery 
costs included in 
charges. 
Residents will still 
receive an 
element of 
subsidy.  

None identified To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.11m 
additional 
income 

Chief Officer – 
Environmental 
Services 

Increase in charges 
made for bulky 
collections from £20 to 
£30 to contribute to 
administration, 
collection and disposal 

To reduce amount 
of subsidy 
provided by the 
Council for this 
service  

None identified To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.07m 
additional 
income 

Chief Officer – 
Environmental 
Services 

Partial closure of Otley 
(Ellar Ghyll) Household 

Ellar Ghyll has the 
lowest tonnages 
of waste/recycled 
material p.a. of 

None identified A public 
consultation 
exercise began 
on 4th January 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 

March 2021 £0.075m 
reduced costs 

Chief Officer – 
Environmental 
Services 

P
age 138



Communities, Housing and Environment 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Waste and Recycling 
Centre 

the 8 Leeds sites 
and has the least 
use by Leeds 
residents 

and ended on 
25th January. 

decision 
process 

5% increase in 
bereavement charges 

Proposed price 
increase reflects 
savings 
requirement of the 
Council and will 
ensure there 
continues to be 
no subsidy for this 
service 

None identified To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process  

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.37m 
additional 
income 

Chief Officer – 
Parks and 
Countryside 

Reduced contribution to 
Groundwork by 10% 

Reduction reflects 
savings 
requirement of the 
Council 

Possible 
implications for 
service 
delivery for 
Groundwork 

To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process  

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.008m 
reduced costs 

Chief Officer – 
Parks and 
Countryside 

Closure of Leeds 
Country Park visitor 
centre  

Reflects savings 
requirement of the 
Council. There is 
a potential 
opportunity for 
interested parties 
to take over the 
building  

None identified A public 
consultation was 
undertaken 
between 16th 
November and 
14th December (4 
weeks) 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.09m reduced 
costs 

Chief Officer – 
Parks and 
Countryside 

P
age 139



Communities, Housing and Environment 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Additional income from 
Bowling Greens to be 
generated through 
increasing the annual 
price of a season ticket 
from £31 to £40  

Reflects savings 
requirement of the 
Council. 
Alternatives 
include closures 
and community 
asset transfers 

Possible 
impact on 
demand 

Consultation 
period 
commenced on 
16th November 
2020 and closed 
on Monday 14th 
December 2020. 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.012m 
additional 
income 

Chief Officer – 
Parks and 
Countryside 

50% reduction in floral 
decorations in the city 
centre and seasonal 
bedding displays  

Reflects savings 
requirement of the 
Council. There 
may be scope to 
convert some 
seasonal bedding 
areas to more 
sustainable 
planting to 
provide colour 
and landscape 
interest through 
the use of 
naturalistic 
‘wildflower’ type 
displays. 

Potential 
impact on the 
visual appeal 
of the city  

Consultation due 
to close 1st Feb 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.15m reduced 
costs 

Chief Officer – 
Parks and 
Countryside 

Reduced contribution 
(10%) to Third Sector 

Reduction reflects 
savings 

Infrastructure 
organisation’s 
capacity to 

Consultation with 
infrastructure 
organisation 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 

March 2021 £0.036m 
reduced costs 

Chief Officer – 
Communities 

P
age 140



Communities, Housing and Environment 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Infrastructure Fund 
budget 

requirement of the 
Council 

provide service 
support to the 
wider third 
sector 

complete and 
delivery plan for 
2021/22 agreed. 
Enhanced 
delivery 
objectives in 
respect of the 
third sector hub 
mutual support 
architecture 
agreed 

decision 
process 

Closure of 3 community 
centres: Lewisham 
Community Centre, 
Allerton Bywater Youth 
Centre and Windmill 
Youth Centre. To also 
deliver additional 
efficiencies across all 
community centres.  

Continuing review 
of arrangements 
to reduce the net 
cost of community 
centres 

None identified Consultation due 
to close 1st Feb. 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.2m reduced 
costs 

Chief Officer – 
Communities 

Savings in Safer Leeds 
through restructuring 
and increasing grant 
income 

It is anticipated 
the current 
service areas will 
be maintained but 
due to the 

None identified To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.171m 
reduced 

costs/additional 
income 

Chief Officer – 
Safer Leeds 

P
age 141



Communities, Housing and Environment 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

likelihood of 
staffing reduction 
measures will be 
introduced to 
mitigate any 
service delivery 
issues 

Reduced contribution 
(25%) to Leeds City 
Credit Union 

Reduction reflects 
savings 
requirement of the 
Council 

Possible 
impact on 
service 
delivery of 
Credit Union 

To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.063m 
reduced costs 

Chief Officer – 
Customer 
Access & 
Welfare 

Review of opening 
hours and staffing rotas 
within Community Hub / 
Library provision across 
the city 

The proposal will 
provide an overall 
net increase in 
total hours open 
in community 
hubs and libraries 
while achieving a 
significant budget 
saving 

None identified Consultation due 
to close 2nd 
February. 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.457m 
reduced costs 

Chief Officer – 
Customer 
Access & 
Welfare 

P
age 142



Communities, Housing and Environment 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Housing Services – it is 
proposed to introduce a 
charge for Retirement 
Life schemes for the 
provision of additional 
services linked to 
communal areas and 
for communal facilities 
where they are within a 
standalone community 
centre 

As the Housing 
Revenue Account 
is ring-fenced, this 
service is being 
subsidised by 
those tenants not 
in receipt of the 
service 

Consultation 
outcome may 
impact on 
income 
generated 

Currently being 
undertaken. 

Details are in 
the narrative of 
the HRA budget 
report along with 
the impact of all 
rental and 
service charge 
increases upon 
tenants. These 
will be eligible 
for Housing 
Benefit or 
Universal Credit 
where 
appropriate 

April 2021 £0.4m additional 
income 

Chief Officer –
Housing 
Services 

P
age 143



LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 
2021/22 BUDGET REPORT 

Directorate: City Development 

1. Introduction

1.1 This report has been produced in order to inform Members of the main variations and
factors influencing the Directorate’s budget for the 2021/22 financial year.

1.2 The 2021/22 Revenue Budget provides £24,600k within the Council’s Strategic Budget for
the ongoing impact of COVID-19 pandemic. As such no directorate COVID impacts are
detailed below.

2 Service Context

2.1 City Development is responsible for the Council’s physical, economic, and cultural and sport
services. The range of services and functions that the Directorate provides makes a significant
contribution to the life, growth and vitality of the city.

3  Budget Proposals

3.1 This 2021/22 budget has been set at £30,648k representing a net decrease of £7,552k
(19.77%) when compared to the adjusted budget for 2020/21. This net decrease comprises
a number of changes in grant funding totalling £1,700k and pressures totalling £3,638k
offset by savings of £9,990k which are explained below.

3.2 Budget Adjustments and Transfers

3.2.1 There have been a number of organisational changes, service transfers and other budget
adjustments which are reflected in the 2021/22 budget.

3.2.2 £59k has been transferred to Resources in respect of insourcing of the general waste
contract and the Corporate Taxis contract.

3.2.3 Other budget adjustments give a net budget reduction of £80k which comprises of minor
budget adjustments relating to items such as mail, print and IT, reducing the need for
recharges to be made in year.

3.3 Changes in Specific Grant Funding – increase of £1,7000k

3.3.1 The 2021/22 budget reflect receipt of £1,700k of Gain Share from WYCA in respect of the
West Yorkshire Devolution Deal.

3.4 Changes in Use of Reserves and Balances – reduction of £500k

3.4.1 In the 2020/21 the budget proposals included the one year only use of balances of £500k,
2021/22 budget proposals recognises that it was a one year only proposal and removes the
need for this £500k.

Page 144



3.5 Changes in prices – pressure of £1,445k 

3.5.1 The budget reflects the announcement of a public sector pay freeze by Government at 
Spending Review 2020. As such the budget provides £603k for two elements of pay: the 
0.75% in year pay increase in 2020/21 which had not been provided for in the 2020/21 base 
budget and a minimum pay increase of £250 in 2021/22 for all staff earning less than 
£24,000 as announced at the Spending Review 2020. The provision reflects the Council’s 
continuing commitment to be a Real Living Wage employer. Consequently, the minimum 
hourly rate paid to current Leeds City Council employees will rise to £9.56 per hour which is 
6p above the Real Living Wage rate.  Apprentices and new starters on the A1 spinal point 
will be paid £9.50 per hour for the first year only. 

3.5.2 No provision has been made for inflation on running cost budgets other than demand based 
budgets and where there are specific contractual commitments. No provision has been 
made for inflation on utilities budgets, reflecting the increased use of energy efficiency 
schemes, a reduction in the usage of many of the Council’s buildings and planned 
rationalisation of the Council’s estate. £842k has been provided for such contractual 
commitments including the PFI contracts for Street Lighting and three Leisure Centres. 

3.6 Actuarial Review 

3.6.1 The 2021/22 budget does not provide for an increased contribution to the West Yorkshire 
Pension fund. Whilst this reflects the most recent Actuarial Review, which showed the West 
Yorkshire Pension Fund to be in a surplus position, the Council will continue to monitor this 
position. 

3.7 Capitalised Pension Costs – pressure of £814k 

3.7.1 In 2020/21 the Council relaunched its ELI scheme and a range of other voluntary options to 
reduce the wage bill in July 2020. Provision of £814k has been made to meet the 
capitalised pension costs associated with those staff leaving on an early retirement basis. 
The associated salary savings are captured in the savings proposals below. 

3.8 Other budget pressures – £1,379k 

3.8.1 A number of pressures have been recognised in the 2021/22 budget, £555k which is the net 
loss of income (after prudential borrowing) from the anticipated sale of the Trilogy 
Warehouses and Building One at Logic Leeds, and £500k has been provided for the loss of 
income at the Town Hall when it closes for refurbishment in autumn 2021.   

3.8.2 £238k has been provided to ensure that the Flood Alleviation team in Highways is 
adequately resourced, and a further £200k is provided to increase the council’s contribution 
to the Leeds 2023 Trust, and £75k for increased cleaning and security costs at Kirkgate 
Market. 

3.8.3 These pressures include a resource allocation reduction of £195k for insurance costs which 
reflects changes in the number and value of insurance claims. 

Page 145



3.9 Savings - at total of £9,990k savings are proposed details of which are provided below. 

3.10 Business As Usual – £7,240k  

3.10.1 £520k of the savings relate to energy costs from the continuation of the Street Lighting LED 
conversion scheme, this is in addition to the £430k of LED conversion savings in the 
2020/21 budget  

3.10.2  £350k will be saved by mitigating pay inflation via charging the additional 0.75% cost of the 
2020/21 pay award in Highways and Asset Management mainly to capital schemes, and a 
further £175k of income will be achieved as part of the full year effect of the 2020/21 saving 
in Highways for site development. 

3.10.3 £700k of savings will be made in the Asset Management and Regeneration via staffing 
savings through voluntary means and expenditure savings from service revenue budgets 
and £480k of additional income is budgeted for which will come from the capital receipts fee 
income based on the 2021/22 Capital Receipts Programme.  An additional £236k saving 
from the ongoing asset rationalisation programme freeing up existing building capacity is 
included in the 2021/22 budget increasing the 2021/22 savings target from £450k to £686k. 

3.10.4 A further £350k of savings will be achieved via the increased capitalisation of staff costs and 
reductions in general expenditure budgets in Resources and Strategy.  £250k of savings will 
be achieved via a directorate wide review and cash limiting of appropriate other operating 
expenditure budgets. 

3.10.5 The Markets & City Centre Service will achieve £200k of savings via a reduction in staffing 
via voluntary means and expenditure reductions and increased income. 

3.10.6 Savings of £400k are planned through the reduction of the major events budget in the Arts 
and Heritage Service, and an additional £254k from across some of its venues.  £60k is to 
be saved on the Museum’s Collections insurance, and £227k from a 15% reduction in arts 
grants to certain organisations.  Cessation of annual Christmas Lights switch on and 
international football screenings in Millennium Square will achieve a further £88k saving. 

3.10.7 Within Active Leeds a £100k saving will be achieved by the cessation of funding 
contributions to several sporting partnerships 

3.10.8 £1,500k of savings will be achieved across the directorate from voluntary staffing reductions 
facilitated by the council's Early Leavers Initiative 

3.11 Service Reviews £2,750k 

3.11.1 Highways & Transportation have undertaken a service review of staffing operations across 
the service to deliver £1,620k of savings and/or additional income. 

3.11.2 The Arts and Heritage have undertaken a number of reviews to deliver further savings. 
These were to consult on the introduction of an annual charge for Breeze card saving 
£150k, a reduced programme and new delivery model for Leeds Lights to save £208k, and 
reviews of Lotherton Hall and Thwaite Mills Museums to deliver £67k and £70k of savings 
respectively. At the time of writing this report evaluation of consultation responses for these 
proposals were being considered. With the exception of the Breezecard proposal, early 

Page 146



indication is that alternative means of delivering these savings will be found without the 
recourse to service closures and/or reduced opening arrangements.  

3.11.3 The Planning and Sustainable Development Service is undertaking service reviews in both 
Strategic Planning and Development Management to deliver savings of £100k each. 

3.11.4 Active Leeds is reviewing proposals to cease the service level agreement for Chippendale 
Pool to save £37k, close the Leeds Sailing and Activity Centre to save £88k, and a review 
of operational efficiencies at John Charles Centre for Sport (JCSC) to deliver a further 
£200k including potential changes in the operation of the Tennis Centre. At the time of 
writing this report evaluation of consultation responses for these proposals was being 
undertaken. The savings proposals at Chippendale Pool, Leeds Sailing Centre and the 
Tennis Centre at JCSC are all subject to potential third party interest which would result in 
alternative delivery models that means there would be no service closures and/or 
withdrawal of services. The intention is that a process of due diligence is undertaken on the 
viability of the third sector interest. In the interim period alternative savings would be 
provided by the Active Leeds Service to allow that assessment work to continue prior to 
formally reaching a decision on the way forward. 

3.11.5 The Economic Development service review seeks to deliver £110k of savings via a staffing 
reduction from and reductions in memberships and events attendance. 

4 Risk Assessment 

4.1 In determining the 2021/22 budget, consideration has been given to all the risks which are 
managed within the directorate’s overall risk management framework. Within this 
framework, a register of those items considered carrying the highest risk and therefore 
requiring careful and regular monitoring has been prepared.  The key risks in the 2021/22 
budget for the City Development Directorate are: 

4.2 As the majority of their income streams are predicated on a buoyant and active economy, 
major Capital Programmes, Strategic Investments, Planning and Building Control fees, 
Advertising, Markets, Active Leeds, and Arts and Heritage income are all affected by local, 
regional, and national economic conditions and developments and therefore any downturn 
would be noted sharply in these service areas.  This is particularly relevant to the Covid 
Pandemic and delivery of the 2021/22 budget will need a good recovery in the economy. 

Briefing note prepared by:  Jill Stuart (Principal Finance Manager) 
Telephone:  3788043 

Page 147



City Development Directorate 

2021/22 FTEs

£m

Net managed budget 2020/21 38.34

Adjustments

Transfers of function (0.06)

Other adjustments (0.08)
Adjusted net managed budget 38.20

Grant Fallout 0.00

Grant Increases
Gain Share from Devolution (1.70)

Changes in the use of Reserves & Balances

Use of Balances 0.50

Total Funding Changes (1.20) 0.0

Budget Pressures:

Inflation

Pay 0.60

Price 0.84

Income 0.00

Employers Pension 0.00

Capitalised Pensions 0.81

National Living Wage - commissioned services

National Living Wage/Ethical Care Charter 0.00

Demographic and demand pressures 0.00

Other

Apprenticeship Levy 0.01

Strategic Investment Income 0.56

Town Hall Refurbishment Loss of Income 0.50

Flood Alleviation Team 0.24

Leeds 2023 0.20

Cleaning & Security 0.08

Insurance (0.20)

Total Pressures 3.64 0.0

Savings Proposals:

Business As Usual
Street Lighting LED Conversion (0.52)
Capital Receipts Fee Income (0.48)
Income - mitigation of pay inflation via charging (0.35)
Highways - Site Development external chargeable works (0.18)
Asset Rationalisation (0.24)
Staffing savings through voluntary means and expenditure savings from service revenue budgets (0.70) (7.7)
Increased capitalisation of staff costs and reductions in general expenditure budgets (0.35)

Markets & City Centre Service - staffing and expenditure reductions and increased income (0.20) (1.5)
Employment and Skills - deletion of vacant post and reduction in expenditure budgets (0.10) (1.0)
Planning & Sustainable Development - voluntary staffing reductions and expenditure savings (0.35) (6.0)
Highways & Transportation - use of balances and review of charging (0.90)
Reduction in Budgets for major events (0.40)
Efficiencies across venues (0.25)
Museums & Galleries collection insurance (0.06)
15% reduction in grants to selected organisations (0.23)
Cessation of annual Christmas Lights switch on and international football screenings in Millennium Square (0.09)
Cessation funding contributions to several sporting partnerships (0.10)
Savings across the directorate from voluntary staffing reductions facilitated by the council's Early Leavers (1.50) (97.9)
Reductions in miscellaneous spend budgets across the directorate (0.25)

Service Review
Economic Development - Staffing reduction and reduction in memberships and events attendance (0.11) (1.0)

Strategic Planning - develop further options following completion of service review (0.10) (2.0)

Highways & Transportation - review staffing operations across the service for savings and/or additional income (1.62) (26.0)

Planning Applications - savings through voluntary staffing reductions and procedural efficiencies (0.10) (2.0)

Proposal to reduce opening hours at Lotherton Hall (0.07) (5.2)

Proposal to reduce opening Hours at Thwaite Mills Museums (0.07) (5.1)

Proposal to consult on introduction of £3 annual charge for Breeze card (0.15)

Proposed reduced programme and new delivery model for Leeds Lights (0.21) (9.0)

Proposal to end SLA with Chippendale Pool (0.04) (5.6)

Proposal to close Yeadon Tarn Sailing Centre (0.09) (4.8)

Proposal for operational efficiencies within John Charles Centre for Sport (0.20) (1.5)

Total Savings (9.99) (176.3)

Net Managed Budget 2021/22 30.65 (176.3)

Page 148



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Economic Development 
- Staffing reduction and
reduction in
memberships and
events attendance

Budget review of 
activities 
undertaken 

Reduced 
economic 
outcomes for 
Leeds – 
mitigated by 
overall 
economic 
position  

Non – considered 
as a BAU 
proposal with no 
staffing 
implications not 
delivered through 
voluntary means 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£110k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Strategic Planning - 
develop further options 
following completion of 
service review 

Options for 
efficiencies were 
supported by 
independent 
review 

Some 
technologic 
risks 
associated 
with 
deliverables 

Yes, as part of 
the service review 
and through 
further internal 
staff consultation 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£100k Chief Planning 
Officer 

Highways & 
Transportation - review 
staffing operations 
across the service for 
savings and/or 
additional income 

Budget review of 
activities 
undertaken 

Reduced 
capacity to 
deliver – 
mitigated by 
effective 
deployment of 
resources 

Internal Staff 
Consultation 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£1,620k Director of City 
Development 

Planning Applications - 
savings through 
voluntary staffing 
reductions and 
procedural efficiencies 

Options for 
efficiencies were 
supported by 
independent 
review 

Some 
technologic 
risks 
associated 

Internal Staff 
Consultation  

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£100k Chief Planning 
Officer 

P
age 149



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

with 
deliverables 

Proposal to reduce 
opening hours at 
Lotherton Hall 

Operating costs of 
facility and 
collection make-
up alongside 
visitor attendance 

N/A Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£67k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Proposal to reduce 
opening Hours at 
Thwaite Mills Museums 

Operating costs of 
facility and 
collection make- 
up alongside 
visitor attendance 

N/A Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£70k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Proposal to consult on 
introduction of an 
annual charge for 
Breeze card 

Area of 
discretionary 
Spend.  

Differential 
impact on 
most 
vulnerable – 
mitigated by 
use of 
concessions 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users  

There are 
equality 
implications as 
the card is used 
by younger 
people. Some 
safeguarding of 
detrimental 
impact could be 
provided by the 
use of 
concessionary 
pricing 

February 
2021 

£150k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

P
age 150



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Proposed reduced 
programme and new 
delivery model for 
Leeds Lights 

Area of 
discretionary 
spend  

N/A Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users and local 
organisations/co
mmissioners of 
lighting displays 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£208k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Proposal to end SLA 
with Chippendale Pool 

Operating costs of 
facility and usage 
and attendance 

Reduced 
community 
and primary 
school usage 
of facility 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and school 
and local 
Members 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£37k Chief Officer 
Operations 

Proposal to close 
Leeds Sailing and 
Activity Centre 

Operating costs of 
facility and usage 
and attendance. 
Discrete activity. 

Loss of 
discrete 
functionality 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and 
‘Friends of’ Group 

As a single 
source of 
activity within 
Leeds, removal 
of the facility 
would impact 
upon certain 
groups. 
Mitigation could 

February 
2021 

£88k Chief Officer 
Operations 

P
age 151



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

identification of 
alternative 
provision 
outside the city. 

Proposal for operational 
efficiencies within John 
Charles Centre for 
Sport 

Operating costs of 
facility and usage 
and attendance. 
Discrete activity in 
relation to Tennis 
Centre  

Loss of 
discrete 
functionality 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and LTA 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£200k Chief Officer 
Operations 

Cessation of annual 
Christmas Lights switch 
on and international 
football screenings in 
Millennium Square 

Area of 
discretionary 
spend 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£88k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Cessation funding 
contributions to several 
sporting partnerships 

Area of 
discretionary 
spend 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and 
individual sporting 
associations 
impacted   

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£100k Chief Officer 
Operations 

P
age 152



LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 
2021/22 BUDGET REPORT 

Directorate: Resources 

1. Introduction

1.1 This report has been produced in order to inform Members of the main variations and
factors influencing the Directorate’s budget for the 2021/22 financial year.

1.2 The 2021/22 Revenue Budget provides £24,600k within the Council’s Strategic Budget for
the ongoing impact of COVID-19 pandemic. As such no directorate COVID impacts are
detailed below.

2 Service Context

2.1 The Directorate provides the lead in the delivery of a range of projects to help tackle the
Climate Emergency in Leeds. The Sustainable Energy and Air Quality team are working
with colleagues and partners to deliver major projects requiring significant levels of
investment from both the Council and Government. These projects include the District
Heating scheme, the Woodland strategy, improving insulation in social housing, vehicle
replacement programmes and many energy saving initiatives including the replacement of
LED street lighting.

2.2 The Directorate contains the Council’s key professional support services; Finance,
Procurement, HR, Digital Information Services, Legal Services, Shared Services,
Democratic Services and Strategy and Improvement and Intelligence. These services
support the strategic direction of the Council and provide essential support to Members and
managers to improve outcomes and deliver change.

2.3 The Directorate is also responsible for delivering Catering and Cleaning, Corporate Property
Management and Leeds Building Services, Fleet Services, Facilities Management and
Passenger Transport. Some of these services are provided on a trading basis to Council
Directorates and schools as well as external customers and suppliers.

2.4 In addition, the Directorate now has responsibility for the Contact Centre, Digital Access and
Customer Relations Teams which have transferred from the former Communities and
Environment Directorate.

3  Budget Proposals

3.1 This 2021/22 budget has been set at £77,873k representing a net decrease of £8,414k
(9.75%) when compared to the adjusted budget for 2020/21. This net decrease comprises
changes in the use of reserves and balances totalling £13k, pressures totalling £5,235k
offset by savings of £13,645k which are explained below.

3.2 Budget Adjustments and Transfers

3.2.1 There have been a number of organisational changes which have impacted on the 2021/22
budget. These include:

Page 153



 the transfer of statutory Housing functions to the Communities, Housing and
Environment directorate

 the transfer of the Contact Centre, Digital Access, Business Support (in part)
and Customer Relations Teams from the new Communities, Housing and
Environment directorate

 the transfer of the Council Tax administration function into financial services

3.2.2 The net effect of these organisational changes is to increase the 2020/21 net managed 
budget by £9,400k to give a restated opening 2020/21 budget of £86,782k. 

3.2.3 In addition, there have been other budget transfers which reflect the movement of functions 
and posts between directorates which are reflected in the 2021/22 budget. The net impact 
of these adjustments is to reduce the directorate’s budget by £495k, giving an adjusted 
2020/21 budget of £86,287k. 

3.2.4 The items included as a transfer of functions total (£1,060k) and the most significant of 
these are explained below 

 Transfer of the Housing financial administration team from finance to the HRA (£477k).

 £1,195k for the costs of the staff and associated running cost budgets moving from
Communities and Environment to the DIS Hub.

 A reduction of (£1,168k) to  reflect the transfer of Intelligence and Policy staff  to Adults
and Health and Children and Families,

 £224k for the transfer of the HCAIT team from Shared Services to Adults and Health

3.2.5 Other budget adjustments total +£565k which mainly reflect the centralisation of DIS related 
budgets, £530k for full fibre, IDOX charges and mobile phone charges. 

3.3 Changes in Use of Reserves and Balances – increase of £13k 

3.3.1 Clean Air Zone (CAZ) Grant Reserve – as reported to Executive Board in October 2020, the 
Clean Air Zone will no longer be required. However, the Council will still incur some costs, 
which will continue to be fully funded by the revenue grant reserve as agreed with 
Government. These costs include a free taxi licensing scheme for 3 years, funding the 
borrowing costs associated with the taxi loan scheme and an ongoing contribution to 
staffing costs. The 2021/22 revenue budget assumes that £827k will be transferred from the 
grant reserve to fund the costs described above, a reduction of £37k from 2020/21. 

3.3.2 It is proposed to increase the utilisation of invest to save funding by £50k to £200k in 
2021/22 to support further investment in the Contact Centre channel shift programme. The 
funding will be repaid in future years as further efficiencies are implemented. 

3.4 Changes in prices – pressure of £1,755k 

3.4.1 The budget reflects the announcement of a public sector pay freeze by Government at the 
Spending Review 2020. As such the budget provides £1,657k for two elements of pay: the 

Page 154



0.75% in year pay increase in 2020/21 which had not been provided for in the 2020/21 base 
budget and a minimum pay increase of £250 in 2021/22 for all staff earning less than 
£24,000 as announced at the Spending Review 2020. The provision reflects the Council’s 
continuing commitment to be a Real Living Wage employer. Consequently, the minimum 
hourly rate paid to current Leeds City Council employees will rise to £9.56 per hour which is 
6p above the Real Living Wage rate.  Apprentices and new starters on the A1 spinal point 
will be paid £9.50 per hour for the first year only. 

3.4.2 No provision has been made for inflation on running cost budgets other than demand based 
budgets and where there are identified specific contractual commitments. In total, £213k of 
cost inflation has been added mainly to DIS contracts (£34k), Catering meals (£88k) and 
postage budgets (£46k). 

3.4.3 There is no budgeted increase for inflation on utilities budgets, reflecting the increased use 
of energy efficiency schemes, a reduction in the usage of many of the Council’s buildings 
and planned rationalisation of the Council’s estate. 

3.4.4 It is assumed that £120k of additional income will be generated mainly by inflationary 
increases to the HRA from Property Cleaning charges. Charges to schools for cleaning are 
budgeted to increase by 1.5%. 

3.5 Actuarial Review 

3.5.1 The 2021/22 budget does not provide for an increased contribution to the West Yorkshire 
Pension fund. Whilst this reflects the most recent Actuarial Review, which showed the West 
Yorkshire Pension Fund to be in a surplus position, the Council will continue to monitor this 
position. 

3.6 Capitalised Pension Costs – cost of £1,666k 

3.6.1 The fall out of capitalised pension costs associated with staff who have left the Council 
under the Early Leaver’s Initiative (ELI) prior to 2020/21 will save an estimated £677k. 

3.6.2 In 2020/21 the Council relaunched its ELI scheme and a range of other voluntary options to 
reduce the wage bill in July 2020. Provision of £2,339k has been made to meet the 
capitalised pension costs associated with those staff leaving on an early retirement basis. 
The associated salary savings are captured in the savings proposals below and total in 
excess of £10m. 

3.7 Other budget pressures – £1,814k 

3.7.1 Over the past few years, the CPM maintenance budget has overspent significantly and 
there has been a reliance on additional capitalisation to balance the budget. The proposal is 
to add £0.6m to the revenue budget to bring some stability to the revenue budget and to 
more accurately reflect the costs required to maintain the Council’s assets. The revised 
maintenance budget will be in the region of £5.8m. This will be kept under review as part of 
the Estate Rationalisation programme. The Council has over 700 operational assets 
requiring maintenance, this portfolio is being reviewed as part of the Estate Rationalisation 
programme. 

3.7.2 A sum of £300k is required for the additional costs of the Microsoft Enterprise agreement, 
however it should be noted that this is significantly lower than the initial pressure identified 

Page 155



in the Council’s Medium Term Financial plan which was in excess of £1m. 

3.7.3 £100k is provided for the borrowing costs relating to the Council’s mobile phone refresh 
programme. This is Year 3 of a 4 year refresh programme and whilst the Council 
endeavours to reuse DIS equipment, some older phones are no longer supported and need 
to be replaced. 

3.7.4 Charges for business rates have reduced by £109k within CEL. 

3.7.5 Income pressures of £875k accounted primarily by reductions in staff charges to capital in 
DIS of £546k partly offsetting the staff savings of £2.84m identified in 3.11.2 below. Other 
income pressures are a reduction in income within HR of £200k mainly correcting the 
assumption that staff within HR could be charged to the Apprentice levy and a £124k 
reduction in charges to the HRA following the service review of the Intelligence & Policy 
function. All other income variations collectively total £10k. 

3.7.6 Other minor spend pressures across the Directorate total £52k. 

3.8 Savings 

3.9 Business As Usual – £6,454k 

3.9.1 It is proposed to save £3,636k within the Resources group of services, of which £2,806k 
relates to staffing and £830k of running costs. These are identified below by service and are 
in the main to be delivered via the Council’s ELI scheme, deletion of budgeted vacant posts 
and restructures of services :-  

 Human Resources - £1.05m, of which £0.79m is from staffing reductions. This includes
a pause of the 2021/22 corporate graduate programme, planned to restart in 2022/23
with 15 graduates.

 Financial Services - £863k of savings, mainly staffing from the Revenues, Procurement
and Internal Audit divisions.

 Legal Services - £333k, of which £323k relates to staff reductions.

 Democratic Services - £189k, of which £98k is staffing savings.

 Business Support Centre - £450k, of which £310k relate to staff costs and £140k of
running costs including reductions in paper and print.

 Business Administration - £250k savings from servicing and the minuting of meetings.
Where meetings are legally required to be recorded, this will still be done and the
meeting subsequently transcribed.

 Strategy and Improvement – A net staffing saving of £170k from the Communications
and Risk section and savings of £125k from the Chief Executives Unit.

3.9.2 Savings of £420k have been identified in the Contact Centre budget in respect of further 
channel shift savings which will be achieved through service redesign, closing down non-
priority phone lines where digital channels exist and increasing productivity through a new 
coaching and performance model.  

Page 156



3.9.3 It is further anticipated that a review of the Customer Complaints staffing budgets will deliver 
savings of £35k from ELI savings. 

3.9.4 In addition to the £830k of line by line savings in 3.9.1, a saving of £116k is targeted on staff 
travel allowances to reflect changes in ways of working since the pandemic. This is 50% of 
the current travel allowance budget within the Directorate. 

3.9.5 Within CEL, there are planned savings of £2.24m to help deliver this Directorate’s budget; in 
addition Passengers services are supporting Children and Families in delivering total 
budgeted savings in 2021/22 of £1.17m for the cost of home to school transport. 

 Staffing savings - £652k across Cleaning, Catering and CPM through improved
productivity, use of technology to work smarter to do more with less. Some front line
staff will be offered the opportunity to leave the organisation via the ELI scheme.

 Estate Rationalisation and accommodation costs - £754k of savings to be delivered as
part of the Council’s estate rationalisation programme. £500k of staff savings can be
made from office accommodation closures and there will be a redesigned Facilities
Management service in the city centre buildings, including a reduced refreshments offer
and restricted opening of the Civic Hall ante-chamber entrance.

Around £200k of the savings relate to staff savings, mainly cleaning related in non-city
centre properties which have been identified for closure.

The final £60k relates to a target to reduce the costs of void properties by reducing the
times properties in void prior to disposal.

 Income generation - A sum of £489k is assumed with most of the increase in Catering.

It is proposed to increase the budget by 4p to reflect the current charge to schools for
Universal Free School meals. The Universal Free School Meals grant payable to
schools increased in 2020/21 to £2.34p from £2.30p and the 2021/22 budget needs to
be updated to reflect this existing charge to schools.

It is proposed to increase KS2 meals from £2.40p to £2.44p. Collectively an extra £300k
can be generated.

There is one extra feeding day in 2021/22 expected to generate a net £52k and the
service are budgeting to generate new income around £114k, partly from the approved
business case for the development of the Live Kitchen IT solution.

An extra £60k of income is assumed from Presto.

 Procurement, insourcing and line by line savings in CEL total £343k and will be removed
divisional budgets, particularly supplies and services budgets where Cleaning and
Catering particular are working with suppliers on a range of alternative products that
provide a similar quality to branded goods but at reduced prices.

3.9.6 Leeds Building Services (LBS) will continue to budget for a surplus of around £10m, based 
on a forecast turnover of £70m. As agreed by Executive Board, in summer 2021/22 staff 
from Mears will TUPE to the Council to bring the delivering of Responsive Repairs and 
Voids services in the South of the city in house.  

Page 157



3.10 Service Review £7,191k 

3.10.1 Business Administration Service: - Staff cost savings of £2,000k through a proposal to 
create a fully integrated and centralised administration model with efficiencies through 
modernisation.  

3.10.2 DIS: - The service are seeking to save £2,843k in staff costs from a combination of ELIs 
and a whole service restructure. There will be a reduction in the number of projects to 
ensure that there is a greater focus on key priority projects across the Council which will 
enable other services to become digital by default and deliver savings in the future.  

3.10.3 Financial Management Service: - To deliver £840k of staff savings from a review of the 
service delivery model to shift the focus away from routine budget monitoring to a more 
value added, risk based approach. Financial information will be simplified and standardised 
and a directorate finance business partner model developed, whilst at the same time 
strengthening the corporate finance teams. It is expected that staff ELIs through 
restructuring will deliver the desired savings.  

3.10.4 Intelligence and Policy: - A review of the function will seek to deliver £213k of staff savings 
through a combination of a restructure and ELIs. 

3.10.5 Sustainable Energy and Air Quality: - Savings of £250k to be delivered from deleting 
budgeted vacant posts, ELIs and sourcing additional grant income. 

3.10.6 CEL: - Adults and Health is consulting upon the closure of two sites. The CEL budget 
reflects an assumption that savings of £200k in the costs of cleaning and catering at these 
sites can be made. As this is part year, a further full year effect of £190k would be achieved 
in 2022/23. 

3.10.7 CEL Fleet: - Savings of £480k is targeted from reducing the costs of external hire of 
vehicles, use of subcontractors and parts costs. The service is seeking to expand its MOT 
offer to generate £80k of new income.  

3.10.8 Savings identified as part of last years’ service reviews but relating to delivery in 21/22 of 
£365k are assumed, mainly in Fleet Services. 

4 Risk Assessment 

4.1 In determining the 2021/22 budget, consideration has been given to all the risks which are 
managed within the directorate’s overall risk management framework. Within this 
framework, a register of those items considered carrying the highest risk and therefore 
requiring careful and regular monitoring has been prepared. 

4.2 The key risks in the 2021/22 budget for the Directorate are: 

 A pay award is agreed beyond the budgeted level

 There is a reduction in the turnover of posts resulting in lower service vacancy factors
than budgeted resulting in pressures on pay budgets.

 Savings assumed from staffing from process changes, channel shift and automation,
particularly in the back office, are not delivered.

Page 158



 Higher prices, particularly for food costs in the Catering service, results in an
increased spend per meal.

There are still significant uncertainties around the impact of the continuing Covid-19 
pandemic and the subsequent impact on the Directorate’s income and expenditure budgets. 

Whilst an initial assessment has been made of these pressures and some are included in 
the Council’s strategic budget and the Government has announced funding for at least part 
of 2021/22, there could still be a significant impact on the Directorate’s budget in 2021/22 in 
the following areas. 

 School meal numbers are lower than the level budgeted

 Commercial catering outlets are unable to open as planned

 Turnover within LBS is reduced as the service are unable to access properties to
effect repairs or major programmes of activity.

 The demand and costs of personal protective equipment (PPE) is in excess of
budgeted levels

 Connections to the District Heating Pipe Network are delayed resulting in lower levels
of income from heat sales

 Income from court fees is lower than budgeted levels

Briefing note prepared by:  Kevin Mulvaney (Head of Finance) 
Telephone:  0113 378 9390 

Page 159



Directorate - Resources 

2021/22 FTEs

£m

Net managed budget 2020/21 86.78

Adjustments

Transfers of function (1.06)

Other adjustments 0.57
Adjusted net managed budget 86.29

Changes in the use of Reserves & Balances

Clean Air Zone 0.04

Further use of invest to save funding - Contact Centre (0.05)

Total Funding Changes (0.01) 0.0

Budget Pressures:

Inflation

Pay 1.66

Price 0.22

Income (0.12)

Capitalised Pensions 1.67

Other

DIS - Microsoft Licences 0.30

DIS - Financing of Mobile Phone Refresh Programme 0.10

Corporate Property Management - additional maintenance costs 0.60

Income reductions (DIS, Finance, Strategy & Improvement and HR) 0.88

Business Rates charges (0.11)

Other minor variations 0.05

Total Pressures 5.24 0.0

Savings Proposals:

Business As Usual 

Human Resources including Graduate Programme pause (1.05) (33.0)

Financial Services - Revenues (0.43) (14.5)

Financial Services - Procurement (0.39) (5.1)

Financial Services - Audit and Insurance (0.04) (2.7)
Business Support Centre (0.45) (22.4)

Business Administration Service - Meetings (0.25) (11.0)

Democratic Services (0.19) (3.2)
Legal Services (0.33) (7.7)
Strategy & Improvement - Communications, Risk and Chief Exec's Unit (0.30) (2.8)
Directorate Wide - Line by Line Expenditure savings (0.21)
CEL - Staffing Reductions / Productivity (0.65) (41.5)
CEL - Additional Income - mainly school meals & Presto (0.49)
CEL - Procurement & Line by Line reductions (0.34)
CEL - Accommodation (0.32) (6.9)
CEL - Estate Rationalisation (0.43) (5.1)
Directorate Wide - Review of Car Allowances and Travel costs (0.12)
Contact Centre  - further channel shift savings and increased productivity (0.42) (18.9)
Customer complaints team (0.04) (1.0)

Service Review
Business Administration Service (2.00) (90.0)

DIS (2.84) (68.6)

Financial Services  -Financial Management (0.84) (22.3)

Sustainable Energy & Air Quality (0.25) (9.0)

Intelligence and Policy (0.21) (7.1)

Fleet Services (0.48)

Adult Social Closure proposals - effects upon CEL (0.20) (20.8)

Leeds Building Services (net after insourcing) 39.0

CEL - FYE & Y2 of Reviews identified in 2020/21 budget (0.37)

Total Savings (13.65) (354.6)

Net Managed Budget 2021/22 77.87 (354.6)

Page 160



Resources 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification 
for proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Shared Services – 
Business 
Administration Service. 
Proposal for restructure 

To improve the 
efficiency of 
back office 
processes to 
prioritise funding 
for front line 
services  

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed. 

To be undertaken 
prior to the 
decision report. 

To be undertaken 
prior to the decision 
report. 

April 21 £2,250k (incl 
ELI leavers) 

Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

Strategy and 
Improvement – 
Communications & Risk 
Business.  
Proposal for temporary 
changes to the 
structure 

To improve the 
efficiency of 
back office 
processes to 
prioritise funding 
for front line 
services  

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed. 

Being undertaken 
with Staff and 
TU’s  

To be undertaken 
prior to the decision 
report. 

Feb/Mar 21 £170k (incl 
ELI leavers) 

Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

Strategy and 
Improvement – 
Intelligence and Policy. 
Restructure proposals 

To improve the 
efficiency of 
back office 
processes to 
prioritise funding 
for front line 
services  

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed. 

Being undertaken 
with Staff and 
TU’s  

To be undertaken 
prior to the decision 
report. 

Feb/Mar 21 £173k (incl 
ELI leavers) 

Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

DIS – Proposals for 
restructure 

Different options 
considered but 
includes a 
realignment of 
the staffing 
resources within 
the service to 

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed and 
the reductions 
impact upon the 

To be undertaken 
prior to the 
decision report. 

To be undertaken 
prior to the decision 
report. 

April 21 £2,843k (inc 
ELI leavers) 

Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

P
age 161



Resources 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification 
for proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

provide a 
greater focus 
upon the 
Council’s 
priorities. 

ability of DIS to 
support Council 
wide savings 
proposals 

LBS – Back office 
restructure proposals 

To improve the 
efficiency of 
back office 
processes to 
prioritise funding 
for front line 
services  

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed. 

To be undertaken 
prior to the 
decision report. 

To be undertaken 
prior to the decision 
report. 

April 21 Circa 
£1,000k (incl 
ELI leavers) 

Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

Catering – 
Implementation of an 
ICT System 

Business case 
completed for 
proposal seeks 
to modernise 
the service and 
help mitigate 
some service 
risks in service 
delivery. 

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed. 

Some 
consultation 
undertaken with 
schools and any 
further 
consultation 
required will be 
undertaken prior 
to the decision 
report. 

To be undertaken 
prior to any 
decision report. 

April 21 £64k (net 
revenue 
effect) 

Chief Financial 
Officer & 
Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

Adults and Health 
Decision – Impacting 
upon CEL front line 
services 

Decommission two 

Decommission 
the service due 
to the need for 
residential 
homes 
decreasing 

There is a risk 
whenever a 
home is closed 
to a client’s 
immediate well-
being 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be undertaken 
at the same time as 
the decision 

June 2021 £200k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

P
age 162



Resources 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification 
for proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Care Homes – 
Richmond House and 
Homelea 

within Leeds and 
where this 
resource is 
required to meet 
people’s needs, 
there is a well-
developed 
independent 
sector market 

P
age 163



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year.  In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid 
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to 
reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also reflect any timetable 
issues that might occur from time to time. 
 

 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of 
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to what 
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas, 
as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’. 
 

 Reflecting on the information in this report and also information presented as part of other 
agenda items at today’s meeting, Members are requested to consider and discuss the 
Board’s work schedule for this municipal year.   
 

 Members are further asked to consider the draft inquiry report regarding the Anti-Social Use 
of Fireworks (Appendix 3). Formal agreement of the report must take place at a meeting of 
the Scrutiny Board that is held in accordance with the 1972 Local Government Act – remote 
‘consultative’ meetings do not meet this requirement after 7 May 2021. However, members 
are asked to agree any amendments and recommend publication of a final version once 
formal approval is provided at the next suitable meeting.  

 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the 

2021/22 municipal year. 

Members are asked to consider the draft inquiry report relating to the Anti-Social Use of Fireworks 

(Appendix 3) with a view to a final version being formally approved at the next Scrutiny meeting 

held in accordance with the 1972 Local Government Act.  

Work Schedule 

Date: 17 June 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing & Communities) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Angela Brogden / Rebecca Atherton 

Tel: 0113 3788661 

Page 165

Agenda Item 8



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
 

1. A draft work schedule for the Environment, Housing & Communities Scrutiny Board is 
presented at Appendix 1 for consideration and discussion.  Reflected in the work schedule 
are known items of scrutiny activity, such as performance and budget monitoring, identified 
Budget and Policy Framework items and recommendation tracking. 
 

2. The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 21st April 2021 are also 
attached as Appendix 2.  The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive 
Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any 
matter where specific scrutiny activity may also be warranted. 
 
Areas of work carried forward from the former Environment, Housing & Communities 
Scrutiny Board 

 
3. At its final meeting of 2020/21 the former Environment, Housing & Communities Scrutiny 

Board consider a number of ongoing priorities that members recommended the successor 
board continue to scrutinise.  These are reflected in the work programme at Appendix 1. 
 

4. A draft inquiry report relating to the Anti-Social Use of Fireworks is attached at Appendix 3 
for member consideration. A draft report was circulated by correspondence to both 
members and the Chief Officer for Safer Leeds for initial comment in March 2021. A 
number of amendments were requested which are reflected in the attached document.  

 

5. The report requires formal approval for publication which cannot be provided at a remote 
consultative meeting as this is not being held in accordance with the 1972 Local 
Government Act. Members are therefore asked to consider a recommendation that a final 
version of the inquiry report – subject to any agreed amendments – receives approval at 
the next meeting of the Board which is held in accordance with the 1972 Act.  

 
 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

6. All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year. 
 

7. The draft work schedule is reflective of the views of the former Environment, Housing and 
Communities Scrutiny Board.  
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  
 

8. In order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each 
Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with the Directors and Executive 
Board Members holding the relevant portfolios. The Vision for Scrutiny also states that 
Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and 
Executive Member about available resources prior to agreeing items of work. 
 

9. The Director of Environment, Housing & Communities and relevant Executive Board 
Members have therefore been invited to today’s meeting to share their views and 
contribute to the Board’s discussion. 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 166



 
What are the resource implications? 
 

10. Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if 

the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and 

focus its resources on one key issue at a time.    

 

11. The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council 

functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and 

that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.   

 

12. Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should: 

 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member 
about available resources; 
 

 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having 
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue; 
 

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and 
can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 
What are the legal implications?  
 

13. This report has no specific legal implications. 
 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 
 

14. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report. 
  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 
 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 
15. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking 

Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives. 
  

Appendices 
 

16. Appendix 1 – Draft work schedule of the Environment, Housing & Communities Scrutiny 
Board for the 2021/22 municipal year. 
 

17. Appendix 2 – Draft minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 21st April 2021. 
 

18. Appendix 3 – Draft inquiry Report: Tackling the Anti-Social Use of Fireworks 
 

 

Background papers 
 

19. None. 

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) Work Schedule for 2021/22 Municipal Year 
 
**Where multiple meetings are taking place in rooms 6&7 of the Civic Hall on a given date the start times for public scrutiny 
meetings have been moved back to 10:00am. This is to allow additional time for deep cleaning between meetings.  As Covid-
19 health and safety guidance continues to be updated it is hoped these meetings can return to 10.30am** 

 
 

June July August 

Agenda for Thursday 17 June 10.30am Agenda for Thursday 15 July  10.30am No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled. 

 
*CONSULTATIVE MEETING*  
 
Performance Update 
 

Parking Strategy and Management update 
[PM] 
 

LASBT Review: update following the 
introduction of changes to the service in 
early 2020. [PSR] 
 
Terms of Reference 
Sources of Work Report 
 

 
Safer Leeds: including Community Safety & 
Antisocial Behaviour Strategy Updates 

 
Domestic Violence – update including impact of 
CV19 and Domestic Abuse Bill.  
 
Formal ratification of final inquiry report 
(Fireworks) 
 
Co-optees report  

 
 

Working Group Meetings 

    
 
 

Additional Notes 

  
 

 
 

 
Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

P
age 169



 
 

 

Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) Work Schedule for 2021/22 Municipal Year 
 
**Where multiple meetings are taking place in rooms 6&7 of the Civic Hall on a given date the start times for public scrutiny 
meetings have been moved back to 10:00am. This is to allow additional time for deep cleaning between meetings.  As Covid-
19 health and safety guidance continues to be updated it is hoped these meetings can return to 10.30am** 

 
 

 
 

September October November 

Agenda for Thursday 23 September 10.00am Agenda for Thursday 21 October 10.00am Agenda for Thursday 25 November 10.00am 

Waste Management Services: update on the 
recommendations of the 2018 scrutiny 
inquiry [PM] 
 
Recycling: local approach to promoting 
recycling, wider service development. 
 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing 
Policy 
 
Strategic Housing Board Update 

6 monthly climate change update: Reducing 
carbon emissions across the Council’s estate 
including an update on Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme funded projects (due 
for completion Sep 2021) & retrofitting of council 
housing 
 
 
Housing Activity Update [PM] 
 

Locality Working  
Priority Neighbourhoods [PM] 
 
Ensuring the future resilience of the 3rd sector 
Update (following 2020/1 volunteer hub) 
 
Wholesale review of welfare support 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

Additional Notes 

   

 
PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

P
age 170



 
 

 

Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) Work Schedule for 2021/22 Municipal Year 
 
**Where multiple meetings are taking place in rooms 6&7 of the Civic Hall on a given date the start times for public scrutiny 
meetings have been moved back to 10:00am. This is to allow additional time for deep cleaning between meetings.  As Covid-
19 health and safety guidance continues to be updated it is hoped these meetings can return to 10.30am** 

 
 

January February March 

Agenda for Thursday 20 January 10.30am Agenda for Thursday 24 February 10.00am Agenda Thursday 31 March 10.30am 

 
Reducing Poverty and improving Financial 
Inclusion – update report, including impact 
of Universal Credit. (PSR) 
 
Universal Credit Update: Service user 
experience as per discussions in January 
2020 [deferred due to CV19] 
 
Financial Health Monitoring and Initial 
Budget Proposals [PDS] 
 
Performance monitoring 

 
Standards in the Private Rented Sector – update 
report [PSR] 
 
Climate emergency: 

 CEAC update on progress and activity  
 Annual Climate Emergency EB report  

 
 

 
Fuel Poverty Update   
 
Energy Efficiency in Council Housing Stock   
 
Carbon reduction in the Private Rented Sector 
[PM] 
 

Working Group Meetings 

 
 
 

  

Site Visits 

   

 
PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 
 
 

P
age 171



 
 

 

Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) Work Schedule for 2021/22 Municipal Year 
 
**Where multiple meetings are taking place in rooms 6&7 of the Civic Hall on a given date the start times for public scrutiny 
meetings have been moved back to 10:00am. This is to allow additional time for deep cleaning between meetings.  As Covid-
19 health and safety guidance continues to be updated it is hoped these meetings can return to 10.30am** 

 
 

 
 
 

 
For follow up: 
 
Draft Parks and Green Space Strategy: consultation via a working group 
Selective Licensing 
Police: PCSO resources 
Early Budget Consultation 
Decarbonisation of owner-occupied housing 
Best Council Plan (approach to be determined – Autumn 2021) 
 
 
 

 

P
age 172



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 21ST APRIL, 2021 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair 

 Councillors S Arif, A Carter, D Coupar, 
S Golton, M Harland, H Hayden, J Pryor, 
M Rafique and F Venner  

 
 

149 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
There was no information contained within the agenda which was designated 
as being exempt from publication and which required exclusion of the press 
and public. 
 

150 Late Items  
Agenda Item 12 - Update on Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic – Response 
and Recovery Plan 
 
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the 
agenda entitled, ‘Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response 
and Recovery Plan’. 
 
Given the scale and significance of this issue, it was deemed appropriate that 
a further update report be submitted to this remote meeting of the Board. 
However, due to the fast paced nature of developments on this issue, and in 
order to ensure that Board Members received the most up to date information 
as possible, the report was not included within the agenda as originally 
published on 13th April 2021. (Minute No. 157 refers). 
 
Agenda Item 6 – Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan 
 
With the agreement of the Chair, supplementary information in the form of 
Appendix 4 to the report had been circulated to Board Members following the 
despatch of the agenda, in order to provide Members with the latest 
information possible ahead of the meeting in respect of the work being 
undertaken with the aim of increasing the uptake of the Covid-19 vaccine 
across all communities in Leeds.  (Minute No. 153 refers).  
 

151 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting. 
 

152 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 17th March 
2021 be approved as a correct record. 
 
 
 
 

Page 173



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
 

153 Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan  
The Director of Public Health submitted a report providing an update on the 
Leeds Covid-19 Vaccination Programme’s approach towards mitigating 
inequalities and ensuring that all communities have access to the Covid-19 
vaccine through the ‘Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan’. 
 
With the agreement of the Chair, supplementary information in the form of 
Appendix 4 to the report had been circulated to Board Members following the 
despatch of the agenda, in order to provide Members with an update on the 
main work streams of the Health Inequalities Vaccination Programme, 
including headline Covid-19 vaccination uptake data for the city. 
 
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted the range of 
actions being taken with partners and established community networks to 
increase the vaccination uptake across all communities in Leeds, in order to 
maximise the benefit of the current vaccination programme with the overriding 
principle that no one is left behind. As part of the introduction it was noted that 
50% of Leeds’ adult population had now received a first Covid vaccination. 
 
Responding to a Member’s specific enquiry, the Board received further detail 
regarding the progress which had been made to date, and the range of work 
which continued in encouraging vaccination uptake in BAME communities, 
with specific reference being made to the older generation. It was noted as 
part of the discussion that this was an issue affecting other vaccinations and 
was not unique to the Covid programme. As such, it was highlighted that in 
addition to the approach being taken to address inequalities in the current 
Covid vaccination round, the programme of work moving forward would reflect 
the longer term nature of this issue.      
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the contents of the submitted report and appendices, together 

with the related ambitions, as set out within the report, be noted, 
together with Members’ comments on such matters; 
 

(b) That it be noted that the Director of Public Health is the senior 
responsible officer for the Leeds Covid-19 Vaccine Health Inequalities 
Plan; 

 
(c) That the Board’s continued support be provided in relation to the 

commitment of all directorates in delivering the Leeds Covid-19 
Vaccine Health Inequalities Plan. 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE, TRANSPORT AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
 

154 Responding to the Levelling Up Fund  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which set out proposals 
for how the Council intended to respond to the Government’s ‘Levelling Up’ 
Fund, which was released as part of the March 2021 Budget, with it being 

Page 174



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

noted that the related prospectus presented an opportunity to bid for 
significant capital investment for the delivery of projects from the 2021/22 
financial year. 
 
As part of the introduction to the report, the Board noted the intention for an 
additional meeting of the Board to be held prior to the submission of any 
bid(s) and before the 18th June 2021 Round 1 Levelling Up Fund submission 
deadline, to consider the proposals. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, in acknowledging the tight timeframe 
involved, the Board received further detail and assurance that consultation 
would take place with local MPs in line with the Fund’s requirements. In 
addition, it was noted that consultation would also take place with local Ward 
Councillors, initially with those Members affected by the proposals being 
considered for Round 1 submission, with the same principle for Ward 
Councillor engagement being used for future rounds when those details were 
known. 
 
In considering the report a Member commented upon the need for all 
communities in Leeds to have equal opportunity to access this and other 
funding streams; highlighted the longer term and collaborative approach 
required to enable districts and communities to maximise the benefit from 
such funding, and enquired whether this could potentially be an area for future 
consideration by the Board.  
 
In response, Members were provided with further detail regarding average 
levels of potential funding available per constituency and per Priority 1 Local 
Authority area, with any funding secured being subject to Leeds’ success in 
the bidding process. Also, emphasis was placed upon the importance of 
Leeds, and all communities within it, maximising the benefit from all external 
funding streams which were being made available, with the potential benefits 
from a longer term approach towards such matters being acknowledged.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the approach, as detailed within the submitted report, to bringing 

forward bids to the Levelling Up Fund, be noted and supported, with it 
being agreed that constituency MP’s within the Leeds Metropolitan 
District boundary are asked to indicate their priorities for investment, so 
that these can be taken into consideration by the Council; 
 

(b) That agreement be given for the Director of City Development to 
undertake an assessment and a prioritisation of projects for the 
Levelling Up Fund in consultation with relevant Executive Members, as 
set out in paragraphs 3.4 – 3.11 of the submitted report; 
 

(c) That agreement be given for proposals for Round 1 bids to be 
considered at an additional meeting of Executive Board to take place 
prior to the submission of any bid(s) and before the 18th June 2021 
Levelling Up Fund submission deadline; 
 

Page 175



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

(d) That the intention to bring a further report to Executive Board be noted, 
which will relate to the submission of bids for future rounds of the 
Levelling Up Fund and in relation to any changes to the Government 
prospectus and guidance. 

 
155 Proposed Grey to Green Projects - Progress Update  

Further to Minute No. 125, 10th February 2021, the Director of City 
Development submitted a report providing an update on the progress of the 
‘Grey to Green’ infrastructure projects following the successful ‘Getting 
Building Fund’ submission in September 2020 and the subsequent Full 
Business Case approval at the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Investment Committee in February 2021. The report also sought approval of 
the designs developed to date for each scheme and their progression into the 
detailed design and planning submission phase, together with the necessary 
‘Authority to Spend’ of the allocated funding identified for each scheme. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with information 
on how the principles of the proposed schemes remained appropriate when 
taking account of the current economic position and the evolving ways of 
working and living as a result of the pandemic.  
 
Members also discussed the decision making processes by which the final 
business case for the projects had been approved by the Combined Authority 
and given the advanced stage at which these projects were at, it was felt that 
any risk of further intervention by the Combined Authority or Mayoral Authority 
was minimal.      
 
The Board discussed the associated timeframes for this funding process, 
whilst a Member reiterated his earlier comment about the need for 
communities outside of the city centre to have an opportunity to access 
appropriate funding streams moving forward. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the progress which has been made to date regarding the 

development of the ‘Grey to Green’ programme following the 
successful bid to the ‘Getting Building Fund’, be noted, with the 
development of the three projects, namely: Meadow Lane Greenspace; 
Sovereign Street Bridge and Crown Point Road calming and greening, 
also being noted; 
 

(b) That the design proposals developed for the creation of Meadow Lane 
Green Space as part of the Council’s ongoing commitment to the 
development of green infrastructure in the city centre to support the 
implementation of the ‘Our Spaces’ Strategy and the South Bank 
Regeneration Framework Supplementary Planning Document, be 
approved, and that approval also be given to the progression of the 
scheme, as presented, into the next phase of detailed and technical 
design; 
 

Page 176



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

(c) That the design proposals developed to date for Sovereign Street 
Bridge, be approved, and that approval also be given for the 
submission of a planning application for the bridge, in order to enable 
the continued progression of the scheme; 
 

(d) That the indicative layout proposals developed to date for the Crown 
Point Road calming and greening scheme, be approved, and that 
approval also be given for the progression of the scheme into the next 
phase of design; 
 

(e) That it be noted that the Director of City Development will be 
responsible for the implementation of such matters, as detailed within 
the submitted report, and the resolutions, as above.  

 
156 City Centre Transformation - Enabling Schemes (Highways)  

Further to Minute No. 79, 18th November 2020, the Director of City 
Development submitted a report which sought approval of the outline highway 
design concept for the closure of City Square and its subsequent 
implementation in readiness for the Year of Culture. The report also sought 
approval of the preliminary design and implementation of Armley Gyratory, 
subject to any Planning conditions and detailed design changes. 
 
Regarding the potential inclusion of water features within the design for the 
City Square proposals, Members were assured that the images within the 
submitted report were indicative only and that the related design competition 
continued. However, should water features be included in the final design it 
was acknowledged that appropriate due diligence would need to be 
undertaken and resource allocated to ensure the long term maintenance of 
them. On this point, the Director of City Development offered to provide 
relevant Executive Members with further information regarding the specific 
challenges of maintaining public water features, if required. 
 
In relation to the proposals, a Member highlighted the importance of ensuring 
that they did not deter visitors to the city centre via car or any other means of 
transport. Also, an enquiry was raised regarding how the proposals would 
impact upon the flow of traffic in the city centre and how they would affect air 
quality. In response, it was noted that detailed transport modelling work on 
issues such as air quality would continue as part of the respective Combined 
Authority and planning processes. Also, it was highlighted that the proposals 
would aim to maximise ‘movement capacity’ for all forms of transport, with it 
being emphasised that the proposals did not aim to stop cars from accessing 
the city centre. 
 
Specifically regarding the proposals for Armley Gyratory, a Member 
highlighted the issue of users’ safety, with reference being made to those 
accessing the Gyratory via active travel and also when considering female 
users’ safety. In response, it was confirmed that such matters were being 
taken into consideration as part of the design work, with reference being 
made to landscaping, lighting, connectivity and users’ general visibility when 

Page 177



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

travelling through the Gyratory. In conclusion, it was noted that Executive 
Members’ suggestions regarding the design proposals would be welcomed.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That in the context of previous decisions taken by Executive Board, 

and as outlined within the submitted report, the outline design for the 
closure of City Square to through traffic, as per the plan in Appendix 1, 
including the indicated bus and taxi only restrictions, be approved, with 
it being noted that at the discretion of the Chief Officer (Highways and 
Transportation), there may be further adjustments to the design in 
order to respond to stakeholders’ needs and the proposed public 
consultation; 
 

(b) That the preliminary design of Armley Gyratory, as shown in Appendix 
1 to the submitted report and as presented in the recent engagement, 
be approved, subject to any changes arising from Planning conditions 
or the detailed design process; 
 

(c) That it be noted that the City Square closure (highway works) and 
Armley Gyratory are to be fully funded from the West Yorkshire Plus 
Transport Fund; 
 

(d) That the importance of the delivery of the Highways England M621 
Road Investment Strategy (RIS) scheme (Junctions 1 to 7) for the 
realisation of the city centre vision, be noted;  
 

(e) That it be noted that the Chief Officer (Highways and Transportation) is 
responsible for the associated programme delivery, with a target 
completion date of December 2022. 

 
RESOURCES 
 

157 Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – Response and Recovery 
Plan  
Further to Minute No. 144, 17th March 2021, the Chief Executive submitted a 
report which provided an update on the Covid-19 Response and Recovery 
Plan, as well as the Local Outbreak Management Plan, which in the last 
month had included: the safe reopening of businesses; continued work and 
proactive communications with communities and services in line with the 
national recovery roadmap; the vaccination rollout and the tackling of health  
inequalities in this area; outbreak management work, including testing, tracing 
and support to self-isolate; and further action in the areas of compliance and 
enforcement. 
 
With the agreement of the Chair, the submitted report had been circulated to 
Board Members as a late item of business prior to the meeting for the reasons 
as set out in section 11.12 of the submitted report, and as detailed in Minute 
No. 150. 
 

Page 178



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

By way of introduction to the report, it was highlighted that 1,608 people had 
died in the city as a result of Coronavirus to date. On behalf of the Council, 
the Leader extended his sympathies to the families and loved ones of all 
those who had lost their lives.   
 
The Leader also noted that over the past week, the infection rate in Leeds had 
reduced by 32%, which was below the Yorkshire and Humber average. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Director of City Development 
undertook to provide further detail to relevant Executive Members regarding 
the grant which had been received from Arts Council England’s Cultural 
Recovery Fund, in terms of what the funding was intended to be used for and 
on which sites.  
 
Also, further detail was provided regarding the ongoing citywide ‘conversation’ 
on the future use of city and local centres and how they will be used in the 
longer term as we continue to move through the pandemic, with the Director 
offering to provide the Member in question with a briefing on this matter, if 
required.  
 
Regarding a Member’s enquiry on the current position relating to the backlogs 
for treatment in hospital settings, the Director of Public Health undertook to 
make enquiries on such matters and provide further detail to the Member in 
question. 
 
Also, regarding the provision of grants for businesses which were 
administered by the Council, responding to an enquiry, the Board received an 
update on the current position regarding the allocation and distribution of 
grants, together with details on the actions being taken to deliver such funding 
as efficiently as possible, and working to the Government’s deadline of end of 
June 2021, with the Member in question being offered a separate briefing on 
such matters.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the Response and Recovery Plan, as appended at Annex A to 

the submitted report, together with the full range of activity taking place 
to prepare for the safe reopening of services and the economy in the 
coming months, be noted, with the focus on planning for the year 
ahead also being noted; 
 

(b) That the current position with regard to the four measures in the 
Roadmap, be noted, and that the continued need for everyone to play 
their part while restrictions remain in place, be recognised and 
emphasised; 
 

(c) That the refreshed Local Outbreak Management Plan, as detailed at 
Annex C to the submitted report, be agreed, and that the continued 
proactive approach being taken towards all aspects of the plan, 
including vaccinations, testing, tracing, support to self-isolate, support 

Page 179



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

to businesses, communications, compliance and enforcement, be 
noted; 
 

(d) That in respect of the financial implications for the Council arising from 
the Coronavirus pandemic, the content of the submitted report be used 
as context when the Board considers the more detailed finance based 
report as referenced at Minute No. 158;  
 

(e) That in respect of the issue of addressing health inequalities in relation 
to the uptake of the Covid-19 vaccination across all communities in 
Leeds, the content of the submitted report be used as context when the 
Board considers the more detailed report on such matters as 
referenced at Minute No. 153. 

 
158 Financial Health Monitoring 2020/21 – Provisional Outturn  

The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which set out the 
Council’s projected provisional financial outturn position for 2020/21 in respect 
of both the General Fund revenue budget and also the Housing Revenue 
Account. 
 
In considering the submitted report, Members welcomed the provisional 
balanced budget position for 2020/21 which was presented, and extended 
their thanks to all those who had helped achieve this position, given the 
significant challenges which had been faced throughout the year. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the projected provisional financial outturn for the Authority, as 

detailed within the submitted report, be noted, with the projected impact 
of COVID-19 on that position also being noted; 
 

(b) That with regard to the 2020/21 financial year, it be noted that the 
Authority is forecasting a balanced budget position. 

 
LEARNING, SKILLS AND EMPLOYMENT 
 

159 Outcome of statutory notice on a proposal to establish Resource 
Provision at St Margaret's Church of England Primary School from 
September 2021  
Further to Minute No. 127, 10th February 2021, the Director of Children and 
Families submitted a report presenting the outcomes from the statutory notice 
published under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and in accordance 
with the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013 regarding a proposal to establish a 12 place 
Resource Provision for pupils with complex communication difficulties 
including Autistic Spectrum Condition at St. Margaret’s Church of England 
Primary School, and which sought a final decision in respect of that proposal. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the proposal to establish a 12 place Resource Provision for pupils 

with complex communication difficulties including Autistic Spectrum 

Page 180



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

Condition (ASC) at St. Margaret’s Church of England Primary School in 
Horsforth with effect from September 2021, be approved; 
 

(b) That approval be given to exempt the resolutions arising from the 
submitted report, as detailed within this minute from the Call In process 
for the reasons as set out in paragraph 4.5.2 of that report;  
 

(c) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems. 

 
(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a 
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the 
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would 
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the 
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In 
process, as per resolution (b) above, and for the reasons as detailed within 
section 4.5.2 of the submitted report) 
 
CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
 

160 Youth Work Review and Future Vision  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report that presented the 
findings from the review which had been undertaken into Youth Work in 
Leeds, and which outlined the vision for youth work together with the 
proposals for future delivery. 
 
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted the extensive 
consultation which had been undertaken to inform the proposed model, and it 
was highlighted that no single Ward would receive any less Council delivered 
youth work provision than what was currently being received, but that moving 
forward a greater focus would be placed upon the city’s more deprived 
communities and neighbourhoods with the greatest need.  
 
Members welcomed proposals to establish a more collaborative approach 
between communities and youth work provision, and in response to a 
Member’s enquiry, the Board received further detail on the provision that was 
currently in place and what was proposed as part of the new model to support 
those pockets of deprivation located in more affluent areas.  
  
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the comprehensive consultation and assessment work which has 

been undertaken to develop the vision for youth work in Leeds, be 
noted, and that the continuing commitment to youth services as a key 
strand of work to enable the most vulnerable young people in the city 
achieve their aspirations and ambitions, be endorsed; 
 

(b) That the proposed new model of youth work delivery, as detailed within 
the submitted report, be approved, and that support be given to further 
work being undertaken which will be led by the Youth Offer Lead in 
order to co-produce the enhanced youth work specification; 

Page 181



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 

 
(c) That it be noted that the new model of youth work delivery will be fully 

implemented by April 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:  FRIDAY, 23RD APRIL 2021 
 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN 
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: 5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 30TH APRIL 2021 
 

Page 182



 

 

Environment, Housing and Communities 

Scrutiny Board 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Tackling the Anti-Social Use of Fireworks 
 

March 2021 
 

 

Page 183



 

 

Environment, Housing and Communities 

Scrutiny Board 
 

 

Scrutiny Board Membership (2020/21): 

 

Councillor B Anderson (Adel and Wharfedale Ward) 

Councillor J Akhtar   (Little London and Woodhouse Ward) 

Councillor J Bentley  (Weetwood Ward) 

Councillor A Blackburn  (Farnley and Wortley Ward) 

Councillor K Brooks   (Little London and Woodhouse Ward) 

Councillor D Collins   (Horsforth Ward) 

Councillor M Dobson  (Garforth and Swillington Ward) 

Councillor A Gabriel   (Beeston and Holbeck Ward) 

Councillor P Grahame  (Cross Gates and Whinmoor Ward) 

Councillor P Gruen   (Cross Gates and Whinmoor Ward) 

Councillor A Khan   (Burmantofts and Richmond Hill Ward) 

Councillor M Harland (Kippax and Methley Ward)* 

Councillor L Mulherin  (Ardsley and Robin Hood Ward)** 

Councillor N Sharpe   (Temple Newsam Ward) 

Councillor T Smith   (Pudsey Ward) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Board member until February 2021 

** Board member from February 2021 

 

 

 

Environment, 
Housing & 
Communities 
Scrutiny Board 

 

Focusing on 
services affecting 
the lives of citizens 
living and working 
in the council’s 
neighbourhoods to 
monitor progress as 
a citizen focused 
city and prioritising 
environmental 
sustainability. 

 

Queries in relation to this 
report can be directed to the 
Principal Scrutiny Officer 
supporting the inquiry: 

Rebecca Atherton  

Becky.atherton@leeds.gov.uk 

  0113 37 88642 

Further information about the 
work of the committee can 
be found here: 
 
Environment, Housing and 
Communities Scrutiny Board 
 
For regular updates about 
Leeds City Council’s 
Scrutiny Service follow us on 
Twitter: 
 

@ScrutinyLeeds 

 

 

Page 184

mailto:Becky.atherton@leeds.gov.uk
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1091
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1091


 

 

 

 

 Contents 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Foreword Page 1 

  

Summary  

 Aims of the Inquiry Page 2 

 Key findings Page 2 

 Recommendations Page 4  

   

Part One  

 Inquiry Approach Page 6  

   

Part Two  

 Examining the Evidence Page 8  

 

Appendix 1: Key Legislation 

Appendix 2: Contributors 

Page 17  

Page 20  

 

Page 185



 

 

1 

 

 

 Foreword 

Foreword from the Chair 
 

Our most recent inquiry left members of the Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny 
Board in no doubt that the anti-social use of fireworks causes distress and concern for some of 
our most vulnerable citizens.  

While some instances of this behaviour are clear cases of disorder, we also considered the 
impact of the increasingly frequent use of private fireworks for events and celebrations.   

We heard about noise pollution affecting people with whose health conditions include sensory 
sensitivities, sheltered communities and veterans with PTSD. We also discussed the concerns 
of pet owners, those with livestock and the impact on wildlife.  

The Board listened to evidence from frontline workers who had come under attack from 
fireworks used as missiles and we explored the increasing pressure on public sector 
organisations to respond to predictable peaks of firework related anti-social behaviour.  

It should be said that throughout this inquiry Board members have been mindful of the fact that 
the majority of people in Leeds enjoy the safe, responsible use of fireworks, often as part of 
public – though not necessarily professional - displays. These displays have not fallen within 
the remit of this inquiry.  

Many of the solutions to the challenges we have identified require national legislative change. 
This is already a highly regulated area. However, we are recommending that Government 
explores a series of changes to existing legislation to strengthen the suite of options available 
to those trying to prevent and respond to firework-related anti-social behaviour.  

As a city we should be proud of all those involved in tackling dangerous and disorderly 
behaviour in our communities. The inquiry process highlighted many examples of good 
operational practice locally and we must ensure partners can easily share and learn from their 
experiences.  

As the Chair of the Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board I want to thank all 
those elected members, council officers and partners who took part in our inquiry. Your time, 
expertise and insight was invaluable in informing the recommendations set out in this report.  

 

 

Cllr Barry Anderson  

Chair, Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board  

Page 186



 

 

2 

 

 

 Summary 

1. Aims of the Inquiry 
 

Best Council Priority: Supporting Safe, Strong Communities  
 

 
 Examine the impact of the anti-social use of fireworks on local communities and public 

services, with particular reference to vulnerable citizens, emergency workers and animal 
welfare. 

 
 Explore examples of good practice across local partnerships, which can inform the 

future planning of the city and the region’s response to the anti-social use of fireworks.  
 

 Develop recommendations for national legislators which could secure the changes 
necessary to reduce the harmful consequences of the anti-social use of fireworks. 

 
 

2. Key Findings 
 

2.1 During 2020/21 the Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board explored the 
impact of an increase in the anti-social use of fireworks on Leeds’ communities and local 
public services.  
 

2.2 The conclusions of the Board are based upon evidence from a wide range of sources and 
emerged through a process of collaborative discussion with partners.  
 

2.3 From the outset Scrutiny Board members 
acknowledged the considerable number of people in 
the city that enjoy safe, scheduled public firework 
displays that take place at key points of the year. 
There was recognition that these events bring real 
benefits in terms of community cohesion and often 
provide fundraising opportunities for local charities.  

 
2.4 Members did, however, determine that it would be 

valuable to consider the concerns raised by Leeds 
residents about anti-social behaviour linked to 
predictable peaks in the use of fireworks and also a 
perceived increase in the frequency with which 
fireworks are used on private land throughout the 
year.  

 “Leeds has a strong and 
effective community safety 
partnership. A multi-agency 
approach ensures all 
available tools and powers 

are fully utilised to tackle 
environmental issues, anti-
social behaviour and criminal 
activity.” 

Paul Money, Chief Officer Safer Leeds  

 

Page 187



 

 

3 

 

 

 Summary 

 

 
2.5 The Board welcomed the robust local approach to the planning and implementation of 

prevention and response strategies for predictable peak periods of anti-social behaviour 
such as Bonfire Night, Halloween and Mischief Night. The evidence suggests that these 
local partnership arrangements are delivering improved outcomes for communities often 
through effective engagement with known individuals, young people and community 
leaders.  

 
2.6 However, the level of resource required to deliver these results - particularly in terms of 

frontline responders providing an on-street presence over the Bonfire Night period - is 
significant. Board members were concerned about the risks posed to those officers. They 
also remain concerned about the consequences for other activities of having to meet the 
service and budget demands created through annual occurrences of serious anti-social 
behaviour.  

 
2.7 Local partners described going “above and beyond” to prevent anti-social behaviour 

linked to fireworks but agreed that legislative changes would provide them with additional 
tools to prevent and respond to anti-social behaviour more effectively.  

 
2.8 Similarly the Board concluded that solutions to the harmful consequences of unrestricted 

frequent private firework use require changes in national legislation. 
 
2.9 As well as making recommendations to national legislators, the Board has identified a 

number of recommendations relating to the local operational approach to disorderly 
behaviour linked to fireworks.   

 
2.10 The recommendations of the Board are set out in full on pages 4 and 5.  

 
 
 
 

 
 

Purpose of the Board’s Recommendations 
 
Influence National Legislative Change 
 

 Influence change in relation to the way in which fireworks can be purchased and used 
by private citizens. 
  

 Empower partners to respond as effectively as possible to the challenge of fireworks -
related anti-social behaviour.  

 

Strengthen Local Operational Practice 
 
 Identify opportunities to strengthen and develop the local response to predictable 

peaks in the anti-social use of fireworks. 

Page 188



 

 

4 

 

 

 Summary 

3. Recommendations 
 

Recommendations to National Legislators  
 

 Recommendations to National Legislators  

Licensing of sales Strengthen national restrictions governing how, when and where 
fireworks can be purchased, and in what volume per transaction. 

Short term licences Restrict firework sales to ‘all year round’ retailers to reduce risks 
associated with ‘pop up’ sellers who appear for short periods. 

Targeting ‘proxy purchasing’ Introduce stronger legislation to specifically target the ‘proxy purchase’ 
of fireworks by adults on behalf of children.  

Predictability of Use Enable the implementation of restrictions on how frequently fireworks 
can be used on private property where concerns are identified. 

Exclusion Zones Introduce a mechanism through which local authorities can more readily 
work with communities to identify areas of particular sensitivity with a 
view to prohibiting all firework use in those zones.   

Notification Introduce a requirement for community notification of firework use by 
venues hosting private events.   

Decibel Levels Consider, in partnership with industry and animal welfare 
representatives, reducing the decibel level for consumer fireworks.  

Investment in awareness 
campaigns 

Invest in a national campaign to raise awareness of safe firework 
behaviours and to advocate greater consideration of people and 
animals in close proximity to firework use. 

Illegal fireworks Further work should be carried out to consider how illegal sales of 
fireworks can be more effectively monitored to better understand 
behaviours and to increase opportunities for preventative interventions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 189



 

 

5 

 

 

 Summary 

Strengthening Local Operational Practice  

 

 Recommendations Regarding Local Practice 

ASB Injunction  Pursue a variation to the current injunction to secure power of arrest.  

Sharing of good practice Establish a mechanism to regularly share and learn lessons from 
localised case studies. 

Social Media Platforms Explore options to target messaging about the consequences of anti-
social firework use at a young audience through the use of a wider 
range of social media platforms 

Communication Partners Consider whether the existing network of partners can be expanded to 
reach a wider audience with messages about firework related 
behaviours.  

Diversionary Activities Identify the resources required to safeguard and expand the localised 
provision of diversionary activities for young people.  

Early engagement  Encourage early engagement with young people ahead of peak periods 
of firework related activity, ideally using trusted contacts who already 
have an established relationship with local young people.   

Targeted Interventions Support local partners to continue to deliver improved outcomes 
through the early identification of - and targeted engagement with - 
individuals for whom intelligence suggests there is a risk of becoming 
involved in disorder.  

Accurate reporting  Explore ways in which to encourage the improved reporting of anti-
social incidents linked to fireworks so as to ensure partners have more 
accurate information about the prevalence of such behaviour.  

Licensing Explore opportunities to include additional conditions on licences 
granted to venues where fireworks are regularly used in a manner that 
adversely impacts upon the local community.  

 

Stakeholder Engagement 
 

Stakeholder Engagement It was agreed that the Scrutiny Board would share this report and its 
recommendations with Leeds MPs and the West Yorkshire Mayor. 

Page 190



 

 

6 

 

 

 Part One 

4. Inquiry Approach 
 

4.1 In response to the concerns of local residents, the Environment, Housing and 
Communities Scrutiny Board agreed to give detailed consideration to the consequences 
of an increase in private firework use throughout the year, as well as the deliberate anti-
social use of fireworks during predictable peak periods of activity such as Bonfire Night. 

     
4.2 From the outset Scrutiny Board members acknowledged the considerable number of 

people in the city that enjoy safe, scheduled public firework displays that take place at 
key points of the year. Displays such as these did not fall within the remit of this inquiry.  

 

Inquiry Structure 

 

Stage One 

 Examine the impact of the anti-social use of fireworks on local communities and public 
services, with particular reference to vulnerable citizens, emergency workers and animal 
welfare. 

 
 
  

Stage Two 
 

 Explore examples of good practice across local partnerships, which can inform the future 
planning of the city and the region’s response to the anti-social use of fireworks.  

 
 Develop recommendations for national legislators which could secure the changes 

necessary to reduce the harmful consequences of the anti-social use of fireworks. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 191



 

 

7 

 

 

 Part One 

Partners 

West Yorkshire Police 

West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

West Yorkshire Joint Services (Trading Standards) 

The Dog’s Trust 

Leeds Street Team 

Calderdale Council 

 

Leeds City Council 

Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Team 

Youth Services 

Communities 

 

Councillors (Non-Board Members) 

Cllr Amanda Carter 

Cllr Matthew Robinson 

 

Written Submissions 

Dynamic Fireworks 

RSPCA 

 

Contributors to the Inquiry 
 

4.3 The Board brought together a range of partners with an interest in preventing, monitoring 
and responding to the anti-social use of fireworks. Those that were represented are listed 
below. A full list of individual contributors can be found at Appendix 2.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 192



 

 

8 

 

 

 Part Two 

5. Examining The Evidence 
 

Consequences for Communities and Public Services 
 

5.1 The Board considered a number of specific issues of concern that had been brought to 

the attention of elected members by constituents, partner organisations and animal 

welfare organisations. Issues of disorderly behaviour, noise pollution, environmental 

concerns and unrestricted private firework use are considered below.  

 

5.2 The Board recognised that the need to tackle the consequences of firework-related anti-

social behaviour is not a challenge unique to Leeds. At a national level fireworks have 

been the subject of several e-petitions to Government in recent years, which were 

reviewed by the House of Commons Petitions Committee in 2019. Discussions are 

ongoing with other core cities to learn lessons about the different ways in which firework-

related anti-social behaviour is addressed in other areas of the country.  

 
5.3 Regionally, colleagues from Calderdale Council reflected on the “community tension” 

created by the increasingly frequent firework use at private venues that regularly host 

events. A Board member also attended a meeting about similar issues with Bradford City 

Council.   

 

Recording incidents of Anti-Social Disorder 

 
5.4 The Board examined data detailing the number of incidents involving fireworks that were 

reported to West Yorkshire Police citywide. That data showed a 37% increase on the 

previous year and identified localities which have experienced an upward trend in calls for 

service in peak periods. 

 

5.5 There is, however, difficulty in establishing precise data about the inconsiderate or anti-

social use of fireworks. This has led to some disagreement about the extent of the 

concerns under discussion.  

 
5.6 Industry representatives have challenged the assertion that there is general increase in 

the use of private fireworks given that imports had remained static for around 4 years. In 

contrast, community safety partners suggested the number of reported incidents 

underestimates the scale of the problem in Leeds and a social media campaign 

encouraging the reporting of incidents now forms part of the partnership’s approach to 

planning for Bonfire Night.  

 

Page 193



 

 

9 

 

 

 Part Two 

5.7 The legislative context for firework sale and use is discussed later in this report. However, 

with regards to the enforcement of legislation, where regulations are breached, there is 

often also inherent difficulty in identifying exactly when and where fireworks have been 

set off, and by whom. It was suggested by partners that a recognition of this challenge by 

the public further fuels an underreporting of incidents.  

 

Responding to Predictable Anti-Social Behaviour: Pressures for Local 
Partners 

 
5.8 It was clear to the Board that there is a strong multi-agency approach to this aspect of 

community safety in Leeds with partners working closely and collaboratively together.  

 

5.9 Considerable time was spent understanding local partnership arrangements designed to 

prevent and respond to firework-related anti-social behaviour in the period leading up to 

Bonfire Night, Halloween and Mischief Night. 

 
5.10 The situation for emergency workers was discussed in detail with partners sharing their 

experiences of the “fear and hostility” experienced in some areas of the city after nightfall 

in peak periods of activity. As well as risks to the officers themselves, police vehicles and 

fire engines have become targets when responding to incidents of disorder, and a tactic 

of burning barricades has been adopted by perpetrators in previous years.  

 
5.11 A number of contributors shared their experience of the significant disorder that took 

place in Harehills over Bonfire Night in 2019. The Board heard powerful descriptions of 

attacks on emergency workers, reports of 

the “fear and distress” of people living 

locally and the considerable cost and 

damage to property that resulted from the 

violence. The Board also reflected on the 

damage to the wider reputation of the city 

caused by the national media attention 

this generated.  

 
5.12 In discussing the resource implications of the partnership response to anticipated annual 

disorder over this period it was noted that planning begins at least six months ahead of 

Bonfire Night and involves a wide range of stakeholders. Key preventative and 

enforcement initiatives are co-ordinated and delivered through the Neighbourhood 

Policing Teams’ Halloween and Bonfire Night Plans. A Silver Group led by a Police 

Superintendent then reviews all the planned activity across the Leeds district to ensure 

resources can be deployed to meet service demand.  

“Emergency workers came 
under attack from a barrage of 
missiles.”  
West Yorkshire Police Officer 

 

Page 194



 

 

10 

 

 

 Part Two 

5.13 As part of the multi-agency approach an officer from West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 

Service, which is a statutory partner linked to the Safer Leeds Executive, has also been 

seconded to Safer Leeds and is a key partner in bonfire night planning. 

 
5.14 The Board welcomed the close partnership working in evidence. However, members 

expressed concern about the large numbers of police and outreach workers required to 

provide an on street presence in localities where intelligence suggests there is likely to 

be heightened potential for disorder over Bonfire Night. The risks posed to those 

individuals were judged to be considerable.  

 

5.15 An intelligence-led approach is integral to the planning and response of partners in 

Leeds during these peak periods of activity. One of the ways this assists in prevention of 

anti-social behaviour is through the identification of individuals where there has been 

previous involvement in disorder or there is deemed to be a heightened risk of 

involvement in anti-social behaviour. This enables early engagement to deter such 

behaviour.  

 
5.16 Additional Leeds Watch cameras and body cameras have assisted the police in being 

able to identify previous perpetrators of anti-social behaviour more easily, and a further 

bolstering of this approach through ward based funding was welcomed. Members also 

supported joint exercises with the police to review the footage recorded via these 

cameras in order to identify perpetrators and pursue individuals through the justice 

system.  

 
5.17 In the years since the appalling disorder of 2019, the Leeds partnership has 

strengthened the range of tools at its disposal through the successful application for an 

Anti-Social Behaviour Injunction (ASBI). Recognising the important role of enforcement, 

the Board recommends pursuing a variation of the injunction to include the power of 

arrest. 

 
5.18 Having explored evidence of successful locality working a persistent recommendation 

from the Board has been that mechanisms must be put in place to easily and regularly 

share good practice from all areas of the city, so that the partnership can continue to 

evolve and to be agile in its response to anti-social behaviour that emerges in peak 

periods. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 195



 

 

11 

 

 

 Part Two 

 

Diversionary Activities for Young People 

 
5.19 Diversionary activities for young people have proved to be a particularly effective way of 

reducing anti-social behaviour linked to peak periods of firework related disorder. In the 

last year this included the provision of safe spaces for young people in an evening, 

boxing sessions and activities run in coordination with local sports teams.  

 

5.20 Officers and partners highlighted the importance of engaging with young people well in 

advance of predicted peaks in firework related disorder and doing so, where possible, 

through trusted contacts who already have established relationships with young people.  

 
5.21 Partners outlined the proactive approach that is taken to identifying young people at risk 

of becoming engaged in disorder and visiting them and their families ahead of Bonfire 

Night. This approach has helped improve outcomes over the 2020 bonfire period with 

teachers, local pastors and community leaders involved in outreach work. 

 

Key Aspects of Bonfire Night Planning 

 Home visits to individuals involved in anti-social behaviour the previous year.  

 Multi-agency community hub created at Elland Road control room 

 Anti-Social Behaviour Injunction application obtained to prohibit firework use in an 
area with historic disorder issues 

 Targeted communication in areas of concern 

 Firework test purchase operation 

 To reduce risk to fire crews and vehicles, joint fire/police service visits in unmarked 
vehicles to assess areas where fires are reported. 

 Communication strategy to raise awareness around bonfire night and the 
consequences of anti-social behaviour. 

 Social media campaign to encourage appropriate reporting of incidents 

 High visibility police patrols (NPT / NRT) 

 Use of LCC CCTV Van for public reassurance 

 Funding for youth provision in area 

 Fire prevention through clearing of rubbish and furniture in areas deemed to be at risk 
of disorder. 

Page 196



 

 

12 

 

 

 Part Two 

5.22 More broadly, it was agreed that co-ordination between officers from communities and 

youth services, and partner organisations contributed valuable intelligence which could 

be used to target interventions more successfully.   

Communication Strategies 
 
5.23 A number of different communication strategies are used to raise awareness of the 

consequences and frequency of firework related anti-social behaviour ahead of peak 
periods.  

 
5.24 As mentioned earlier in this report, one aspect of communication around this period 

seeks to encourage reporting of firework related incidents.  
 
5.25 In addition, all partners seek to engage with young audiences to raise awareness of the 

consequences of anti-social behaviour and the dangers of unsafe firework use.  
 
5.26 The Board acknowledged the work that is already taking place to deliver targeted 

messages across traditional and social media, and via an established network of 
partners including schools. Members also recognised the resource constraints that 
hamper levels of physical engagement with more organisations.  

 
5.27 However, the Board felt that communication was a key element of successful 

preventative strategies. They recommended further work be carried out in this area to 
increase the numbers of people receiving those messages.  

 
5.28 The Board recommended utilising a wider range of social media platforms to 

disseminate key messages and supported proposals to work with young people to 
design literature that could be sent out in future years. 

 
5.29 More broadly the Board recommended more national investment is required in 

campaigns to raise awareness about both the considerate and safe use of fireworks.    
 

Noise Pollution 
 
5.30 Noise pollution was considered a particular concern for vulnerable citizens, including 

veterans and those living in sheltered accommodation or with health conditions involving 

heightened sensory sensitivity such as autism or hyperacusis. While noise pollution was 

certainly a consideration during periods of peak anti-social activity it was also a 

recurring feature of those concerned by the increased use of private fireworks 

throughout the year.  

 

Page 197



 

 

13 

 

 

 Part Two 

5.31 A local authority cannot currently limit 

the frequency of firework use on 

private land and therefore has limited 

control over this type of behaviour.  

Members therefore recommended 

introducing a mechanism through 

which local authorities could limit the 

frequency of firework use in localities 

where substantive concerns have 

been identified.  

 

5.32 Throughout the Board’s deliberations it became apparent that predictability was a key 

issue for many people concerned about private firework use. This was reinforced by 

evidence of the impact of noise on livestock, pets and wildlife and the difficulty of 

planning for such occurrences without adequate notice of upcoming private displays.  

 
5.33 In order to better prepare and protect people or animals sensitive to loud noises, it was 

recommended that government requires the introduction of a community notification 

mechanism to raise awareness of when private venues in particular will be using 

fireworks.  

 
5.34 On the basis of the evidence examined through the inquiry the Board also concluded 

that within communities there may be some highly sensitive areas where firework used 

is deemed by residents to be wholly unacceptable.  In those 

circumstances the Board recommended that there should be 

a streamlined mechanism through which local authorities 

could work with those communities to create ‘exclusion 

zones’ to entirely prohibit firework use even on private 

property.  

 
5.35 It was agreed there would be value in national 

legislators exploring options to reduce the decibel level of 

fireworks – currently limited to 120 decibels for consumer 

fireworks - to reduce the distress caused by the noise of 

traditional fireworks.  

  

“Some of our most vulnerable 
residents find noisy fireworks very 
distressing, especially when they are 
going off regularly over several hours.”  

Cllr Amanda Carter  

“We have seen 
instances of dogs 
being seriously 
injured after bolting 
when a firework has 
exploded nearby.”  

Dog’s Trust representative 

 

 

Page 198



 

 

14 

 

 

 Part Two 

 
5.36 The industry response to previous proposals of this nature has been cautious with a 

suggestion that any substantial reduction in decibel limits could have an adverse 

impact on the marketplace, potentially leading to the illegal importation of more noisy 

and dangerous fireworks. 

 
5.37 It is recommended that national legislators work with both industry representatives and 

animal welfare charities to consider what might constitute an acceptable compromise 

in this area.  

 
 

Environmental Concerns 
 

5.38 In the context of the Council’s declared Climate Emergency, the Board noted a number 
environmental impacts associated with firework use. The Board acknowledged, for 
example, that fireworks can lead to elevated levels of dust particles, which are rich in 
toxic metals. The board also noted that the plastic waste from discarded fireworks, can 
pose a danger to wildlife. 
 

5.39 Government has previously worked with the industry to reduce noisy and nuisance 
fireworks, with the eventual banning of bangers, crackerjacks, air-bombs and mini 
rockets for sale to the public. The Board considered a similar partnership could bring 
about improvements to make fireworks more environmentally friendly.  
 

 

Legislative Context 
 
5.40 The Scrutiny Board members were provided with an overview of the regulatory and 

legislative framework governing the current sale, standards and permitted private use of 

fireworks and the responsibility of different bodies within that framework, including with 

regards to enforcement.  

 

5.41 This is already a highly regulated sector with robust standards governing product 

quality, use and sales. A number of different agencies are involved in the regulation of 

different elements of the sector. Locally those include: 

 
 West Yorkshire Joint Services (Trading Standards) 

 West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 West Yorkshire Police  

 Local Authority 

 

Page 199



 

 

15 

 

 

 Part Two 

5.42 In addition the British Fireworks Association is the UK's Association for professional 
firework display companies. It is committed to upholding high standards amongst its 
members, whose activities include the manufacture, importation, sale, transportation, 
training and use of display fireworks both by members of the public and professionals. 

 
5.43 Scrutiny Board members explored the ways in which current regulations and legislation 

are enforced, and highlighted concerns about the ongoing ability of organisations to 

carry out proactive preventative and monitoring activity in the context of reduced public 

sector resources.  

 
5.44 In a written submission to the Board an industry representative suggested that the 

legislation associated with fireworks is adequate but enforcement and the punishments 

for improper use could be strengthened – particularly with regard to the illegal use of 

fireworks in public places and the use of fireworks after 11pm. 

 
 

Sale and Purchase of Fireworks 
 

5.45 Since January 2005 the sale of fireworks to the public has been restricted to licensed 

traders. However, fireworks can be sold by unlicensed traders for:  

 
 Chinese New Year and the preceding three days  

 Diwali and the proceeding three days 

 Bonfire Night celebrations (15 October to 10 November) 

 New Year celebrations (26 to 31 December) 

 

5.46 The Board recommended restricting sales to ‘all year round’ retailers to reduce risks 

associated with ‘pop up shops’ in the periods above.  It was suggested that there was 

increased potential for ‘pop up’ shops to be unable to provide customers with adequate 

safety advice.  

 

5.47 Board members also felt ‘pop up shops’ increased the opportunity for adults to buy 

fireworks on behalf of young people. Given that a disproportionate number of reported 

firework injuries affect young people this was a significant concern for the Board. In 

addition, the Board heard evidence from partners that they have experienced 

challenges around the practice of adults buying fireworks on behalf of young people 

who were then identified as having been involved in disorder. The Board concluded that 

national legislation should specifically target such ‘proxy purchasing’.  

 

Page 200



 

 

16 

 

 

 Part Two 

5.48 Board members further proposed that there would be value in tightening restrictions 

around when, where and how many fireworks could be purchased in a single 

transaction to reduce general ease of access to fireworks.  

 

Illegal Fireworks 
 

5.49 The Board recognised the highly regulated environment in which fireworks sale, 

storage and use is governed in the UK. However, the view of members was that the 

holistic approach to managing the potentially harmful consequences of fireworks was 

to some degree undermined by the lack of up-to-date information about illegal 

fireworks entering communities. The Board recommends greater monitoring of such 

activity at a national level.   

 

Opposing an Outright Ban on Fireworks 
 

5.50 In 2019 the House of Commons Petitions Committee concluded that any 
recommendation that there should be an outright ban on firework sales to the public was 
unnecessarily “drastic” and would risk unintended economic consequences for those 
working in the fireworks industry.  

 
5.51 Similarly, there was no suggestion from the Environment, Housing and Communities 

Scrutiny Board that an outright ban should be endorsed. Indeed, it was noted that such 
a change could reduce the ability of local communities to organise public displays that 
deliver local benefits and result in more dangerous products entering the country 
illegally, thereby creating a more challenging environment for enforcement and 
regulatory agencies.  

 
5.52 However, like the Petitions Committee, the Board concluded that there were justifiable 

concerns informing calls for a tightening of restrictions and an increase in enforcement 
of some aspects of existing legislation.  

 

5.53 Should national legislators introduce additional regulation the Board was clear that any 

associated activity, including heightened enforcement activity in the early stages of 

implementation, would have to be accompanied by sufficient resources to enable any 

such activity to be conducted effectively and without detriment to other services.  

 
 
 

 

Page 201



 

 

17 

 

 

 Appendix 1 

Appendix 1: Legislative Framework for the 

Storage, Supply and Use of Fireworks 
Consumer 
Protection Act 
1987  

Under the Consumer Protection Act 1987 suppliers of all consumer 
goods (including fireworks) are required to supply goods that meet an 
acceptable standard of safety. Under section 11 of the Act it is an 
offence to supply goods which fail to comply with general safety 
requirements. 

Fireworks Act 
2003  
 

The Fireworks Act 2003 makes provision for the control of fireworks 
and explosives by regulation in order to secure that there is either no 
risk, or a minimal risk compatible with use, that fireworks will cause 
death, injury or distress to persons or animals, or damage to property.  
 
The aim of this Act is to reduce the noise, nuisance and injuries 
caused by the misuse of fireworks – which forms part of the broader 
public concern with the problem of anti-social behaviour. 

Fireworks 
Regulations 2004, 
as amended by 
the Fireworks 
(Amendment) 
Regulations 2004)  

The current Fireworks Regulations 2004 came into force on the 7 
August 2004. The Regulations introduced a package of measures to 
regulate the sale, possession and use of fireworks.  

 
Those intending to supply fireworks to the public outside the 
traditional selling periods (i.e. all year round) are required to hold a 
licence to supply fireworks, either from the Local Authority, Fire 
Service or HSE.  
 

Regulation 7 of the Fireworks Regulations 2004 imposes a curfew on 
when fireworks can be let off in England and Wales. 
  
Specifically, regulation 7 sets an 11 pm curfew on the use of 
fireworks, with later exceptions for seasonal celebrations. 
 
The curfew is enforced by the police, with any breach subject to an 
unlimited fine and/or six months in prison. The police can also issue 
on the-spot fines of £90 to persons aged 18 or over committing that 
offence.  

Pyrotechnic 
Articles (Safety) 
Regulations 2015  

The Pyrotechnic Articles (Safety) Regulations 2015, an economic 
operator (i.e. retailer) must not sell:  

• a Christmas cracker to anyone under the age of 12 years;  
• F1 category fireworks to anyone under the age of 16;  
• F2 and F3 category fireworks to anyone under the age of 18;  
• F4 category fireworks to members of the public (supplied only to 
a person with specialist knowledge).  

Page 202



 

 

18 

 

 

 Appendix 1 

It is not a legal requirement to have any kind of licence or training to 
buy “consumer fireworks” (category F1, F2 and F3 fireworks).  
There is no such thing as either a licence or training that entitles a 
member of the public to buy category 4 (professional display) 
fireworks. These are only available to professional fireworks 
companies with all year insurance and licenced storage.  
Under the 2015 Regulations, retailers are also required to display a 
notice at the point of sale stating:  
“It is illegal to sell category F2 fireworks or category F3 fireworks to 
anyone under the age of eighteen” and  
“It is illegal for anyone under the age of eighteen to possess any 
category F2 fireworks or category F3 fireworks in a public place.”  

Explosives Act 
1875 
 

Under section 80 of the Explosives Act 1875 (as amended) it is an 
offence to throw or discharge a firework in a street or public place. 
This is enforced by the police, and a fixed penalty applies.  
 
Fireworks should only be let off on private land (such as a garden) or 
on land where the landowner has given permission. 

Explosives 
Regulations 2014  
 

The Explosives Regulations 2014 provide for the regulation of the 
manufacture, storage and acquisition of explosives by means of a 
series of defined duties, the granting of approvals and a system of 
licensing.  
For example, the Regulations require a licence to store fireworks 
except where the quantity is less than 5 kg. It is a breach of the 
Regulations to store more than that quantity of fireworks without a 
licence.  
In all areas, local authority Trading Standards officers are responsible 
for enforcing regulations on consumer safety and age of purchase. 
Enforcement of the Regulations in respect of other pyrotechnics will 
fall primarily to the Health & Safety Executive.    

Health and Safety 
at Work etc. Act 
1974  
 

The Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 provides for the making 
of health and safety regulations for the general purposes of securing 
the safety of persons at work. 
 
In the context of fireworks, this would generally apply to firework 
display operators and those events where pyrotechnic or firework 
displays take place in the course of a business. 

Animal Welfare 
Act 2006 
 

Under the Act, powers exist for secondary legislation and codes of 
practice to be made to promote the welfare of animals.  
 
Under section 4 of the Act, it is an offence to cause any unnecessary 
suffering to any captive or domestic animal. The offence carries a fine 
of up to £20,000 and/or a prison term of up to six months. 

Page 203



 

 

19 

 

 

 Appendix 1 

 
The Act is enforced by local councils, animal health officers and the 
police. 

Excessive noise - 
statutory 
nuisance 
 

There is a noise limit of 120db on all consumer fireworks. In addition 
to the Fireworks Regulations 2004 (as amended), there is other 
legislation that may also be used in certain circumstances to tackle 
excessive noise from fireworks.  
Under section 80 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA 
1990), a local authority’s Environmental Health officer must take “all 
reasonable steps” to investigate a complaint about excessive noise. If 
they believe a statutory nuisance is occurring or is likely to occur or 
recur they must act. 

 

 
 

Page 204



 

 

20 

 

 

 Appendix 2 

Appendix 2: Contributors 
The following individuals have contributed to the various stages of this inquiry. 

Attendee Organisation 

Cllr Barry Anderson Scrutiny Board (Chair) 

Cllr Javaid Akhtar Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Jonathan Bentley Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Ann Blackburn Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Kayleigh Brooks Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Dawn Collins Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Angela Gabriel Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Pauleen Grahame Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Mary Harland Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Asghar Khan Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Nicole Sharpe Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Trish Smith  Scrutiny Board 

Cllr Amanda Carter  Referrer 

Cllr Matthew Robinson Referrer 

Paul Money LCC, Chief Officer Safer Leeds 

Claire Smith LCC, ASB Delivery Manager 

Lisa Ramsden LCC, ASB Delivery Manager 

Adrian Tonge LCC, Principal Legal Officer Resources and Housing 

Margaret McKean LCC, Advanced Youth Work Practitioner  

James McCarthy LCC, ENE Team Leader, Youth Services 

Allison Dixon LCC,  Advanced Youth Work Practitioner 

Page 205



 

 

21 

 

 

 Appendix 2 

 

Written Submissions were received from: 

Nigel Claydon  Dynamic Fireworks 

RSPCA  
  

Grace Lawrenson  LCC, Senior Localities Officer 

Stephen Harper LCC, WNW Team Leader, Youth Services  

Leah Dyer LCC,  Advanced Youth Work Practitioner 

Inspector Jonathan McNiff West Yorkshire Police 

Inspector Jodie Scatchard West Yorkshire Police  

Inspector Richard Horn West Yorkshire Police  

Inspector Mick Preston West Yorkshire Police  

Sergeant David Walker West Yorkshire Police 

PC Edel Fox West Yorkshire Police  

David Strover  West Yorkshire Joint Services (Trading Standards) 

Billijo Jones West Yorkshire Joint Services (Trading Standards) 

Matthew Goodall West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 

James Craven West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 

Cllr Ashley Evans (Calderdale) Calderdale Council 

Cllr George Robinson  Calderdale Council 

Alex Hunter  Calderdale Council 

Mike Lodge  Calderdale Council 

Adam Aslam Leeds Street Team Coordinator 

Emma Wakefield Dogs Trust  

Matthew Howden Dogs Trust  

Page 206



 

  

Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) 

Tackling the Anti-Social Use of Fireworks 

March 2021 

Report author: Rebecca Atherton 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes - 25 March 2021
	3 Scrutiny Boards Terms of Reference
	Appendix 1 - General Scrutiny Board TOR
	Appendix 2 - Article 6 Scrutiny Boards
	Appendix 3 - Scrutiny Board Remits

	4 Performance Update
	FINAL Appendix 1 - EHC Scrutiny Performance Summary June 2021 v5
	FINAL Appendix 2 - EHC Scrutiny Housing Dashboard March v2
	FINAL Appendix 3 - EHC Scrutiny Community Safety Dashboard v1
	FINAL Appendix 4 -  EHC Scrutiny Waste Dashboard v1

	5 Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Team Review: Implementation Update
	1a. LASBT Triage Review
	2a. ASB Strategy

	6 Parking Strategy and Management Update
	7 Sources of Work
	Appendix 1 - BCP 2020-25
	Appendix 2 - 2021-22 Budget Council Report relating to EHC remit
	ALL Appendicies to accompany Revenue Budget 2021-22 report.pdf
	Annex 1. 2020.21 to 2021.22
	App 01 2021_22 Budget Consultation Report FINAL v1.0.pdf
	Proposed Budget 2021/22 - Consultation Report Consultation held December 2020 - January 2021
	1. Introduction and approach
	2. Analysis of respondents
	3. Executive summary
	3.1 Summary of analysis of demographic groups

	4. Attitudes around how to deal with the challenges of reduced funding
	5. Council Tax
	5.1 Comments from those that disagree with the council tax increase

	6. How we propose to spend the money we receive
	6.1 Comments around our approach to how we spend our revenue budget

	7. Service priorities
	8. Perceptions of Leeds City Council
	9.  Feelings about the local area and the residents that live there
	9.1 Comments around encouraging residents to take responsibility

	10. Coping with the Covid-19 pandemic
	10.1 Personal impact of Covid-19
	10.2 Worries and concerns about the Covid-19 pandemic
	10.3 Getting information about Covid-19



	Appendix 04 - Parish and town council LCTS.pdf
	Budget Table

	Appendix 7a(ii) - A&H 2021-22.pdf
	Appendix 7  tracker  live

	Appendix 7b(ii)- C&F 2021-22.pdf
	Directorate Appendix 7

	Appendix 7d (ii) - C&E -  FINAL.pdf
	Directorate Appendix 7

	Appendix 7f(ii) - Strategic Budget Summary table 2021-22.pdf
	Directorate Appendix 7




	8 Work Programme
	Appendix 1 Draft 2021 2022 EHC work schedule
	Appendix 2 Draft minutes of Executive Board - 21st April 2021
	App 3 DRAFT Inquiry Report Anti-Social Use of Fireworks




